City Council Workshop & Meeting
Agenda
August 15, 2022
Auburn Hall, Council Chambers

5:30 P.M. City Council Workshop

A. Assessing and Tax Relief Presentation — Karen Scammon and Joe St. Peter

B. 180 Station Road Grant Application — Eric Cousens
C. Transportation Safety Initiatives — Jonathan LaBonté

7:00 P.M. City Council Meeting - Roll call votes will begin with Councilor Milks

Pledge of Allegiance

Consent Items - None

Minutes
e August 1, 2022, Regular Council Meeting

Communications, Presentations and Recognitions

e Washington Street Demonstration Safety Project — East Hardscrabble and Beech Hill/Danville Corner
o lLake Auburn Watershed Report Sub Surface Wastewater — Eric Cousens

e  Public Safety Building — Brian Wood

e Council Communications (about and to the community)

Open Session — Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to
City business or any item that does not appear on the agenda.

Unfinished Business

Order 115-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 115 Newbury Street. Parcel ID 221-055.

Order 116-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 103 Newbury Street. Parcel ID 221-058.

Order 49-04042022

Authorizing the proposed Charter amendments be placed on a referendum ballot and submitted to the
voters of Auburn at the November 8, 2022, Election. Public hearing and vote.

Page 1 of 2



VI.

VIiL.

VIII.

New Business

Order 122-08152022

Approving the Incorporated Civic Organization Liquor License application for the City of Auburn, for the
Riverwalk Blues & Brews Festival scheduled for September 10, 2022 in the Festival Plaza/Main Street area.

Order 123-08152022

Authorizing the City Clerk to waive the $75 business licensing fee (Peddler License) as requested by the
Maine Blues Society, for the Riverwalk Blues and Brews Festival scheduled for September 10, 2022.

Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to

City business or any item that does not appear on the agenda
Reports (from sub-committees to Council)

a. Mayor’s Report

b. City Councilors’ Reports

c. City Manager Report

Executive Sessions - None

Adjournment

Page 2 of 2



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022
Author: Karen Scammon

Subject: Tax Relief Programs

Information: Tax Deferral Program for Seniors, Senior Tax Stabilization Program

City Budgetary Impacts: TBD

Staff Recommended Action: Presentation and discussion

Previous Meetings and History: A portion of the Council presentation July 18, 2022, virtual town hall 8-8-2022
and upcoming in person presentation 9-7-2022.

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments: None

Page 1 of 1



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Public Hearing or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022
Author: Eric Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting

Subject: 180 Station Road Junkyard Cleanup and MINRCP Grant Application

Information

The City tax acquired the illegal junkyard property at 180 Station Road. The tax acquisition took
place after enforcement actions that lead to cleanup and then the property owner recreating a
junkyard at the site. The City acquired two other sites from the same property owner and we have
been funding one cleanup at a time. This property is next for a cleanup RFP and contract later this
year. The site has a small useable area along the road and is very limited for reuse potential. The
property is 1.7 acres in area with about 7,000 square feet of upland useable area. The City will
remove all surface debris from the site but does not have any plans for redevelopment. The site is
likely to continue to be problematic for illegal dumping because it is secluded on a dead-end
industrial road.

In 2022, staff learned of available funding and were contacted by the Royal River Conservation Trust
to see if the City would consider restoring the site floodplain and stream banks on the property.
This may be a way to restore the stream and avoid future costs of maintaining the property as an
attractive nuisance for easily dumping debris on the current filled area. Given limited reuse
potential and the low value of the site staff recommends that we do this.

Staff Recommended Action: Consider allowing staff to apply for the grant and provide feedback or
any objections.

Previous Meetings and History: None

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments: Memo dated August 2, 2022 and tax maps.



A
-

F}_ catcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Date: August 2, 2022
To: Eric Cousens (Auburn)
From: Rodney Kelshaw (Flycatcher LLC)
CC: Katelin Nickerson (Flycatcher) Evan Ma, and Katherine Cook (Auburn)

Subject: Station Road Restoration Project and Maine Natural resources Conservation Program Overview

Hello Eric,

This memo was developed to provide an overview of the Station Road restoration project (Project) and
the status of potential funding from the Maine Natural Resources Conservation Program (MNRCP).
Flycatcher LLC is a local land use consulting firm and we have the skills and experience to help this Project
achieve success. We are pursuing this Project because we believe it is an important site to clean up and
restore due to its proximity to the stream, it aligns with the goals of the MNRCP, and because we believe
we have something to offer in terms of our technical capabilities and experience with a wide variety of
development and restoration projects. Lastly, it is important as part of the values of our company to do
work that contributes to the betterment of our local environment and communities.

Project Description: The proposed Project is the removal of wetland fill removal and restoration of a
historic floodplain of an unnamed tributary to Moose Brook on a tax-acquired parcel along Station Road
in Auburn. Based on review of historic maps and aerial photos it appears the stream floodplain was filled
to allow for construction of buildings and for associated storage. The buildings were removed, however
the land is still occupied with old vehicles, machinery, invasive plant species and other surface debris that
accumulated overtime during a previous residency. Wetland fill extends from the Station Road right-of-
way directly to the banks of the Moose Brook tributary. To restore this wetland and streambank after
refuse removal, fill will be removed down to the original floodplain elevation and regraded and
revegetated to re-create a healthy stream floodplain. Some fill will remain along the right-of-way to allow
for parking and the space between the wetland and parking will be graded to around a 3 to 1 slope.
Currently, we are assuming there is no contamination beyond surficial oil staining. Sediment and erosion
control best management practices (BMP's) will be maintained throughout construction. If selected this
project will develop a comprehensive seeding and planting plan as well as an invasive management plan
for the site. The small parking area along the Station Road right-of-way will be maintained with potential
for a future trail along the railroad bed. Post-construction, the City of Auburn will assume long-term
management of the property or will work with a local land trust to take over this aspect of the project.

Conservation values: The Project is located along a tributary of Moose Brook, which is a tributary of the
Royal River. The Royal River is mapped as a wild brook trout priority habitat as well as habitat for a state
listed species according to the Beginning with Habitat Map Viewer. As a headwater of the Royal River, the
Royal River Conservation Trust has voiced support for this project as it aligns with Imperative #5 of their
2022 Conservation Plan: to restore and project the water, headwaters, and stream-side habitats of the
Royal River. This project will restore a wetland that has been buried for a prolonged period of time,
providing vital floodplain habitat within the watershed of the Royal River.



FlyCatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Maine’s In Lieu Fee Compensation Program: A voluntary program that allows entities seeking permits for
impacts to natural resources, primarily wetlands, from the Maine Department of Environmental
Protection (MDEP) and/or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) to make a payment directly to the
MDEP as an alternative to the traditional mitigation process. Fees are assessed based on the amount and
type of resource impacted, the type of impact, and the location in the state. Fees collected by MDEP are
deposited into funds based on the biophysical regions in which the impacts occurred. These funds are
administered by The Nature Conservancy in Maine (TNC) through the MNRCP process.

MNRCP: MNRCP is funded through Maine’s In Lieu Fee Compensation Program. It’s used for projects that
will help restore and protect high priority aquatic resources. These projects are presented by conservation
groups, environmental consultants, municipalities and public agencies. The application process is
administered by the MDEP and Corps. The funds are awarded every year through a grant process reviewed
by a committee from the MDEP with representatives from the Corps, Maine Department of Inland
Fisheries and Wildlife, Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry, Maine Natural Areas
Program, Maine Department of Transportation, Maine Department of Marine Resources, Maine
Audubon, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. For restoration
and enhancement projects, funds are usually disbursed in multiple increments based on project
milestones, typically after the project work plan has been approved and after the restoration work has
been completed. The details of the award disbursements can be adjusted to meet specific project needs.
The final decisions on the winning proposals are made in November or December of each year.

MNRCP gives preference to projects that restore, enhance, preserve, or create resources that best match
the natural resources and wetland functions and values that were impacted in that region.

Special Considerations: While MNRCP is designed to review and approve prospective projects through a
process similar to other state and federal grant programs, it remains a compensatory mitigation program
that must comply with relevant state and federal regulations. As such, there are several aspects of this
program that should be considered fully before a potential applicant submits a full proposal:

e Restoration and enhancement projects are strongly encouraged and will likely score and rank
higher than preservation projects.

e For restoration and enhancement projects, consultation with qualified professionals is
recommended. To appropriately scope the feasibility of a project, to accurately estimate projects
costs, and to design a successful restoration project, MNRCP recommends consultation with
wetland consultants, engineers, or other qualified restoration practitioners. Note that the costs
for professionals to assist with the project can be included in the MNRCP budget.

e Invasive species management to protect aquatic resources is eligible for MNRCP funding as part
of a project’s long-term management and stewardship costs.

e MNRCP-funded projects must be conserved in perpetuity. Conservation easements can be funded
by MNRCP but must prohibit any activities that would adversely affect the protected natural
resources, and must provide third party enforcement rights for MDEP and the right of entry for
MDEP and the Corps.

e MNRCP funds may not be eligible to match some federal funding sources.

*Flycatcher is currently working towards finding a partner to oversee the long-term management of the
project.

Criteria for proposed projects:



FlyCatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

1. Potential to meet MNRCP Goals - Sustainably restores, enhances, preserves, or creates wetlands
or other resources determined by the MNRCP to be Priority Resource Types.

2. Landscape context - Consider the location of a potential project relative to statewide focus areas
for land conservation or habitat preservation identified by a state or federal agency, or other
regional or municipal plans.

3. Project Readiness/ Feasibility - Ability of the project to meet MNRCP goals as stated in the
proposal. Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the core program requirement to
provide for long-term management and/or stewardship by a responsible state or federal resource
agency, or conservation organization

4. Cost effectiveness - Project represents an efficient use of funds expended given the condition,
location, and relative appraised values of the property

5. Other Benefits - Support economic activity, job creation, recreational access, scenic
enhancements, climate change resiliency, environmental justice or equity considerations,
educational opportunities, or other contributions to “Quality of Place” in the town or region
where the project is located. For projects involving acquisition of land, documented support from
the municipality in which the project is proposed is encouraged.

Flycatcher: Flycatcher’s staff is composed of soil scientists, wildlife biologists, wetland scientists, and
environmental planning and permitting specialists. We are pursuing this work to support restoration
efforts in our local communities, to provide meaningful projects for our staff, and provide technical
support for projects we believe in. With our office located on the Royal River in Yarmouth, this project will
directly impact the watershed where we spend much of our time. Flycatcher is excited to help the city of
Auburn with the development of a full proposal for this Project. We are grateful to have the resources to
provide upfront support for the proposal at no cost to the City, because we are confident this Project will
be selected by MNRCP. If the full proposal is successful, we plan to utilize funding from the MNRCP grant
to compensate our current and future efforts of supporting this Project.

Based on these considerations and feedback from representatives of the MNRCP, we believe this Project
is a strong candidate to be selected for funding. With permission from the city of Auburn, Flycatcher
submitted a Letter of Intent to MNRCP in early July, 2022. Based on their review MNRCP has invited us to
submit a full proposal for the project for consideration for funding by the program. This full proposal is
due on September 8, 2022. With the support of the City of Auburn, we propose to prepare a full proposal
for submittal to MNRCP. Funding decisions will be made by the end of the year, and, if selected, the Project
will be required to provide a restoration work plan to be submitted to MNRCP for approval prior to
commencing the work. The project will be for restoring the site, and the City can proceed with site clean
up without waiting for approval of the rest of the project. The enclosed acceptance letter from MNRCP
outlines this process, we have also attached a Project location map as well as images of the site. Please
contact me with questions and thanks again for allowing us to work with you on this project.

[ L

Rodney Kelshaw (CPSS, LSS, CPESC, LSE, PWS, CWB)
Managing Partner/Senior Scientist
C: (207) 944-6776



Flycatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Attachment 1 — MINRCP Acceptance of Letter of Intent



From: Bryan Emerson

To: Katelin Nickerson

Cc: Susan Caldwell; Nancy Olmstead; Jeffrey Tash
Subject: MNRCP LOI: Station Road Wetland Restoration
Date: Friday, July 15, 2022 12:22:20 PM
Attachments: image001.png

MNRCP 2022 RFP_final.pdf

MNRCP 2022 Proposal Outline.docx

MNRCP 2022 Budget template.xlsx
MNRCP_RestorationPlanGuidance April2022.docx

Katelin,

Thank you again for your interest in the Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP).
We reviewed your Letter of Intent for the Station Road Wetland Restoration Project and would like
to invite you to submit a Full Proposal for this project. | have attached the Request for Proposal
document which provides details on the Full Proposal process. | have also attached a Full Proposal
Outline in MS Word format, the Project Budget template in MS Excel format, and the MNRCP
guidelines for Restoration Work Plans. The Restoration Work Plan does not need to be submitted
with the proposal and is provided for reference only at this time.

Kristen Puryear at the Maine Natural Areas Program has time available this summer to visit MNRCP
proposal sites to perform a natural resources inventory and to assist applicants in evaluating aquatic
resource restoration or enhancement opportunities. We encourage you to contact Kristen soon to
discuss a potential site visit (Kristen.Puryear@maine.gov or 287-8043) and if possible, include the
results of the natural resources inventory with the Full Proposal.

We also want to highlight some areas that would benefit from more detail in your Full Proposal:

1. Please confirm that the City of Auburn would be willing to record a Notice of Project
Agreement (example included in the RFP) with the deed for this property to ensure long-term
compliance with the MNRCP Project Agreement.

2. Note that a long-term management plan will be required for the site as well. Costs for
development of this plan can be included in the project budget.

3. Is an Environmental Site Assessment complete or planned for this property, prior to the
restoration work occurring? We note the contamination risk at the site and will require more
information on the scope of contamination in the proposal, if possible.

4. Note that the full proposal will require a conceptual design or sketch of the proposed
restoration work. The conceptual design should also include a reference site, if possible. This
reference site should have vegetation and hydrology conditions similar to what is proposed
for the restoration area and can serve as a target for defining performance standards for the
project. A complete design plan, including any required engineering plans, is not required at
the time of proposal.

5. Reviewers questioned whether enough budget was included in the Letter of Intent. Please
confirm that enough budget has been allocated for development of the work plan,
implementation of the project, and long-term monitoring and management.

6. Related to budget, MNRCP allows for contingency funds to be included in the budget. These
funds can be included in the project award, but the Project Agreement will be drafted so that


mailto:bryan.emerson@TNC.ORG
mailto:katelin@flycatcherllc.com
mailto:scaldwell@TNC.ORG
mailto:nancy.olmstead@TNC.ORG
mailto:jeffrey.tash@TNC.ORG
mailto:Kristen.Puryear@maine.gov

TheNature @
Conservancy




REQUEST FOR FULL PROPOSAL

Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program

Full Proposal Package

July 2022

Maine Department of Environmental Protection

WIRON

b

A

EPARTHg,,
0y 52108

arg op wN©

The Nature Conservancy in Maine

TheNature ("
Conservancy N,

Protecting nature. Preserving life.

US Army Corps of Engineers
New England District

US Army Corps
of Engineers o

Contact:

Bryan Emerson
Mitigation Program Manager
The Nature Conservancy
bryan.emerson@tnc.org

http://mnrcp.org/




mailto:bryan.emerson@tnc.org

http://mnrcp.org/



Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program

Background

The Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP) was created to help compensate for
unavoidable impacts to protected aquatic resources in the State of Maine by funding the restoration,
enhancement, preservation, and creation of similar resources to maintain ecological benefits. The
program manages the allocation of funds collected through the State’s In-Lieu Fee Compensation
Program, a voluntary program that allows entities seeking permits for impacts to natural resources,
primarily wetlands, from the Maine Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) and/or the U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) to make a payment directly to the DEP as an alternative to the
traditional mitigation process. Fees are assessed based on the amount and type of resource impacted,
the type of impact, and the location in the state. Fees collected by DEP are deposited into funds
based on the biophysical regions in which the impacts occurred. These funds are administered by
The Nature Conservancy in Maine (TNC). Public agencies, tribes, non-profit conservation
organizations, and municipalities can then apply, through a competitive process, for funding to
complete appropriate projects in these biophysical regions. Preference is given to projects that
restore, enhance, preserve, or create resources that best match the natural resources and wetland
functions and values that were impacted in that region. The focus of the program is to maximize the
ecological benefits of compensatory mitigation. Projects benefiting habitat areas of statewide
conservation significance, or other natural resource priority areas, are preferred.

Full Proposal Submissions

To be considered, full proposals must be received by 5:00PM on September 8. 2022. Full proposals
may be submitted via email to maineresources@tnc.org. Note that proposals are not submitted via
the MNRCP website. Proposals must be submitted as one combined PDF file; MNRCP will not
accept multiple files. If the combined proposal file exceeds normal email attachment size limits,
contact maineresources@tnc.org for other submission options.

All completed full proposals must include:

1) A Project Description (details provided in Appendix A). The total length of the Project
Description should not exceed seven pages (not including budget, maps, photos, plans,
etc.);

2) A Project Budget (using format provided in Appendix B); and

3) All maps, photos, and conceptual designs needed to communicate the project’s objectives.

For the complete timeline for the upcoming grant cycle, see Appendix C. For a listing of the current
funds available for award in each biophysical region, see Appendix D. Note that additional funds
may be added prior to the proposal submission deadline. A list of Frequently Asked Questions is
provided in Appendix E. All information submitted with project proposals will be considered public
information. Do not submit any information that is considered privileged or confidential.

Proposal Review
Full proposals are evaluated by a multi-agency Review Committee, chaired by DEP, that includes

representatives from the Corps, Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, Maine
Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry, Maine Natural Areas Program, Maine



http://www.maine.gov/dep/blwq/docstand/nrpa/ILF_and_NRCP/ILF/index.htm

http://www.maine.gov/dep/blwq/docstand/nrpa/ILF_and_NRCP/ILF/index.htm

http://www.maine.gov/dep/blwq/docstand/nrpa/ILF_and_NRCP/ILF/index.htm

mailto:maineresources@tnc.org

mailto:maineresources@tnc.org



Department of Transportation, Maine Department of Marine Resources, Maine Audubon, U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. The Review Committee will
hold two meetings, one internal and one public, to review proposals. If questions about the projects
arise during the review, TNC will reach out to applicants to seek specific answers. Applicants are
encouraged to attend the second, public Review Committee meeting, although attendance is not
required.

Award Process

Full proposals that are determined to meet or exceed the MNRCP Review Criteria may be
recommended for funding by the Review Committee to the Interagency Review Team (IRT, or
Approval Committee), which makes final allocation decisions. The IRT, co-chaired by DEP and the
Corps, includes representatives from the Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and
Forestry, Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, Maine Department of Marine
Resources, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and the
National Marine Fisheries Service . Applicants will be notified of allocation decisions by the end of
November or early December 2021 (see Appendix C for full timeline). Successful applicants will
be required to enter into a Project Agreement with DEP and TNC, and to record a Notice of that
agreement to the title of the property where the funded project takes place (if applicable). For a
sample of these documents, see Appendix F.

Award Disbursements

If a project is awarded funds, funds will be disbursed according to a payment schedule developed for
each project. In general, for preservation projects, the bulk of the funds are disbursed at the time of
closing and after the applicant has submitted all required due diligence documents (appraisal,
purchase and sale agreement, survey, environmental hazard assessment, title commitment, etc.).
MNRCEP requires that some funds (typically 5-10% of the total project budget) be withheld until
after the long-term management plan for the property has been submitted and approved by MNRCP
reviewers. For restoration and enhancement projects, funds are usually disbursed in multiple
increments based on project milestones, typically after the project work plan has been approved and
after the restoration work has been completed. The details of the award disbursements can be
adjusted to meet specific project needs.

Special Considerations

While MNRCP is designed to review and approve prospective projects through a process similar to
other state and federal grant programs, it remains a compensatory mitigation program that must
comply with relevant state and federal regulations. As such, there are several aspects of this program
that should be considered fully before a potential applicant submits a full proposal:

= Restoration and enhancement projects are strongly encouraged and will likely score and
rank higher than preservation projects. MNRCP adheres to the mitigation hierarchy utilized
by DEP and the Corps under their regulatory programs, in which mitigation projects are
prioritized in the following order: restoration, enhancement, preservation, and creation.
Preservation-only projects are eligible for MNRCP funding but must preserve aquatic
resources that contribute significantly to the ecological sustainability of the watershed and
must clearly show the potential threat of degradation to these resources without conservation.
Sites that are mostly or all wetland need to pay especially close attention to these





requirements as those sites are usually protected by current laws, and not considered under
threat.

For restoration and enhancement projects, consultation with qualified professionals is
recommended. In order to appropriately scope the feasibility of a project, to accurately
estimate projects costs, and to design a successful restoration project, MNRCP recommends
consultation with wetland consultants, engineers, or other qualified restoration practitioners.
Note that the costs for professionals to assist with the project can be included in the MNRCP
budget.

Timber harvesting is not prohibited on parcels funded by MNRCP; however, the
inclusion of timber harvesting in a project proposal may affect the scoring and ranking
of the proposal. Federal mitigation policy prohibits MNRCP from generating mitigation
credit for areas that may be subject to timber harvest. Therefore, the inclusion of timber
harvesting in a proposal will reduce the potential credits that a proposed project may generate.
For a project to be approved and funded by MNRCP with portions of the property available
for timber harvest, several conditions must be met to provide protection of aquatic resources
and their buffers. Refer to the MNRCP Property Use Guidelines document available at
http://mnrcp.org/about.

Active property uses, including habitat management or recreational activities, must not
compromise the health or function of the natural resources that MNRCP is charged to protect.
Projects that contemplate active habitat management, recreational activities, or other active
property uses must comply with MNRCP requirements for protecting aquatic resources and
riparian buffers. Applicants will be asked to describe any proposed activities as part of a full
proposal, and indicate where they will occur on a map, so their compatibility can be evaluated
as part of the review process. Active management generally is not allowed in aquatic resource
areas and associated riparian buffers. Projects proposing less active management, or no active
management, will generally be more competitive. Refer to the MNRCP Property Use
Guidelines document available at http://mnrcp.org/about.

Invasive species management to protect aquatic resources is eligible for MNRCP funding as
part of a project’s long-term management and stewardship costs. Projects requesting MNRCP
funds for invasive species management as part of long-term management will be required to
complete an invasive species control plan as part of their long-term management plan.
However, please note that invasive species management is not considered as restoration or
enhancement for MNRCP, and projects proposing no conservation activities other than
invasive species management are not likely to receive funding.

MNRCP-funded projects must be conserved in perpetuity. Applicants awarded funds
from MNRCP are required to sign a Project Agreement and to record a Notice of that
agreement with the land records office for the property where the funded project takes place.
For samples of these documents, see Appendix F. Note, for projects in marine or subtidal
environments, long-term legal protection may not be possible. These projects are still
encouraged to apply, but applicants are encouraged to contact MNRCP prior to submitting a
full proposal.

Conservation easements can be funded by MNRCP but must prohibit any activities that
would adversely affect the protected natural resources, and must provide third party
enforcement rights for DEP and the right of entry for DEP and the Corps. The specific
provisions required for inclusion in conservation easements are described in Appendix F.
MNRCEP is in the process of drafting a conservation easement template that is specifically
designed for MNRCP-funded projects. A draft of this template is available upon request.



http://mnrcp.org/about

http://mnrcp.org/about



=  MNRCP funds may not be eligible to match some federal funding sources. According to
the federal Mitigation Rule, federally-funded aquatic resource restoration or conservation
projects undertaken for purposes other than compensatory mitigation cannot be used for the
purpose of generating compensatory mitigation credits. Additionally, some federal funding
programs do not allow the use of mitigation funds as match (MNRCP funds are considered
mitigation funds). Please consult with MNRCP and/or the other funding sources if you are
uncertain about the matching requirements for a particular grant program.

* Projects involving multiple parcels must submit multiple proposals. MNRCP does not
accept single proposals for multiple parcels under different ownership unless a clear and
convincing case can be made for why the different transactions are linked (e.g., one
landowner formally negotiating on behalf of two separate owners).

Please review the Frequently Asked Questions provided in Appendix E for additional guidelines and
considerations for MNRCP projects.

Review Criteria

The Review Committee and the IRT evaluate Full Proposals using the criteria described below.

1.

Potential to Meet MNRCP Goals (35%)

Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the core program requirement that a project
sustainably restores, enhances, preserves, or creates wetlands or other resources determined by the
Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program to be Priority Resource Types. Considerations
include:

2.

The sustainability of the proposed conservation action (restoration, enhancement, preservation,
creation) and the acreage affected. Projects focused on restoration or enhancement in priority
resource areas will be strongly preferred, assuming they have adequate funds in their budget to
ensure successful attainment of project goals. Project budgets may include fees for restoration
design by qualified professionals (i.e., consultant fees), provided the application includes funding
for both project design and implementation.

The resource types restored, enhanced, preserved or created and the degree to which the proposed
project replaces the functional benefits of impacted resources in the Biophysical Region based on
a functional assessment of the project.

The proximity of the proposed project to impacted resources in the Biophysical Region. To fully
meet this criterion, projects must occur within the same ecoregional sub-section as a permitted
impact. Please contact us for maps to help assess proximity to permitted impacts.

For preservation projects, the threat of destruction or adverse modification to the aquatic
resources and their associated buffers on the site over the next 20 years, if the property is not
protected.

The inclusion of upland areas sufficient to protect, buffer, or support identified resource functions
on the property as well as on adjacent conservation areas or undeveloped large blocks of habitat.
The current and proposed condition of the property, and the “functional lift” provided by the
project (e.g., the proposed change in habitat quality, the contribution to functioning biological
systems, water quality and the level of degradation).

Landscape Context (20%)

Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the core program requirement to consider the
location of a potential project relative to statewide focus areas for land conservation or habitat





preservation identified by a state or federal agency, or other regional or municipal plans.
Considerations include:

3.

Presence within or adjacent to habitat areas of statewide conservation significance or other
natural resource priority areas.

Presence within or adjacent to public or private conservation lands to preserve habitat
connectivity, and/or presence within a watershed-based conservation plan.

Presence of natural resources of significant value and/or rarity within the project site.

Project Readiness/Feasibility (30%)

Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the core program requirement to demonstrate project
readiness and likelihood of success, where success is defined by the ability of the project to meet
MNRCP goals as stated in the proposal. Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the core
program requirement to provide for long-term management and/or stewardship by a responsible state
or federal resource agency, or conservation organization. Considerations include:

Documentation of the willingness of the landowner and a qualified, long-term management entity
to participate in proposed project, including conveying the property or a conservation easement
with respect to the property (for projects not on public/private conservation lands).

Level of project urgency (e.g., area of rapid development or on-going site degradation, other
available funding with limited timing, option to purchase set to expire, etc.)

Degree to which the proposal demonstrates an understanding of resource conservation issues and
needs.

Soundness of the technical approach of the conceptual plan presented in the application.

Initial progress (e.g., planning, fundraising, contracting, site design, etc.).

Likelihood that the project will meet proposed schedule and/or required deadlines.

Likelihood that the proposed actions will achieve the anticipated ecological benefits and results.
Completeness and feasibility of the plan for long-term stewardship and monitoring, including
endowment funding. Please refer to the Long-term Management Plan template available at
http://mnrcp.org/about to accurately estimate the level of effort to complete this task.

Potential for adverse impacts (such as flooding or habitat loss) associated with the project.
Conformance with any applicable Army Corps of Engineers and state mitigation policy, guidance
and permitting requirements, including appropriate financial assurances for any construction
activity.

Presence of a qualified, capable conservation entity willing to sponsor and/or maintain the
project.

For restoration projects, inclusion of a qualified professional capable of completing the technical
aspects of the project. Please refer to the MNRCP Restoration Work Plan Guidance document
available at http://mnrcp.org/about to accurately estimate the level of effort to complete the
required restoration work plan.

Level of support and involvement of other relevant agencies, organizations, and local community.
Degree to which the project sponsor, and any associated partners, demonstrate the financial,
administrative, and technical capacity to undertake and successfully complete the project.
Adequacy of long-term stewardship to ensure that the project is sustainable over time and
presence of a funding mechanism for the associated costs (e.g., endowment or trust).

Legal and financial standing of the project sponsor.

Quality and completeness of proposal materials.




http://mnrcp.org/about

http://mnrcp.org/about



4. Cost Effectiveness (10%)

Assesses the extent to which the proposal meets the program requirement that a project represent an
efficient use of funds expended given the condition, location and relative appraised values of the
property. Considerations include:

» (Clarity and detail of the budget submitted, and estimated costs deemed to be reasonable.

= Sufficiency of funds available in the applicable biophysical region.

» Availability and source of matching funds necessary to complete the project. (Note that while
matching funds are not required, they generally increase the competitiveness of a proposal.)

* Land acquisition or conservation easement costs must be based on an appraisal completed within
one year of the date of closing in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional
Appraisal Practice (USPAP) and meeting the requirements of the Uniform Relocation and Real
Property Acquisition Policy Act (Public Law 91-646). A copy of the final appraisal must be
provided prior to closing. MNRCP cannot pay more than fair market value for a property. Note
that an appraisal is not required prior to the submission of a full proposal, but it may be helpful
for the Review Committee to assess Cost Effectiveness and Project Readiness.

5. Other Benefits (5%)

Assesses the potential for this project to support economic activity, job creation, recreational access,
scenic enhancements, climate change resiliency, environmental justice or equity considerations,
educational opportunities, or other contributions to “Quality of Place” in the town or region where
the project is located. For projects involving acquisition of land, documented support from the
municipality in which the project is proposed is encouraged.





Appendix A
Outline for MNRCP Full Proposal

Completely describe the proposed project. Make sure to clearly cover each section below, as
appropriate, depending on whether the project includes restoration, enhancement, preservation, or

creation. Use headings as outlined below. Text describing each application section should be
deleted.

Executive Summary:

Project Title:
Project Sponsor: (organization, contact name, address, phone, email)
Project Location: (town, county, physical address)
Project Summary: (brief summary of project context, goals, type of conservation, method)
Estimated Project Cost:
o Total Project Cost:
o MNRCP Fund Request:
e Type of Conservation (complete the following table):

Significant

Restored | Enhanced | Preserved Created Total wildlife
acres® acres® acres acres® acres habitat

acrest

Natural Resource Type

Freshwater wetland, emergent (PEM)

Freshwater wetland, forested (PFO)

Freshwater wetland, shrub-scrub (PSS)

River, stream or brook (/inear feet)

Lake or pond (L1, L2, PUB, PUS,
POW)

Vernal pools
(indicate # of pools if acres not known)

Freshwater Resources

Vernal pool critical terrestrial habitat

Coastal wetland, Marine subtidal (M1)

Coastal wetland, Marine intertidal (M2)

Coastal wetland, Estuarine subtidal (E1)

Coastal Resources

Coastal wetland, Estuarine intertidal (E2)

Upland buffer (non-wetland or non
significant wildlife habitat acres)

Project Total

* Note that the restoration, enhancement, or creation of upland habitats for deer wintering areas, New England
Cottontail, woodcock, or other upland species are not eligible as compensation under MNRCP and may have the
potential to adversely impact MNRCP resource priorities.

t Please indicate the acres of significant wildlife habitat (Inland Waterfowl and Wading Bird Habitat, Tidal
Waterfowl and Wading Bird Habitat, and/or Shorebird Feeding & Staging Areas), if any, that occur in the
freshwater or coastal wetlands or uplands on the property. Note that these areas may overlap with other natural
resource types.






1. Potential to Meet MNRCP Goals:

Current Conditions. Describe the current habitat types and conditions on the property.

Include a determination of protected natural resources found on the site based on either
aerial photo interpretation, site visits, or, if available and applicable, a wetland
delineation. Describe the current use of the property (e.g., any structures,
improvements, trails) and the land use activities in the area surrounding the property
(e.g., residential, forest management, commercial, agriculture, recreation, etc.).
Describe existing buffers on protected resources on the project site, and the degree to
which they protect or support identified resource functions and ecological connectivity
to other conservation areas or undeveloped large blocks of habitat. Describe the extent
of invasive species, if known, and the degree to which they threaten aquatic resources
on the project site. Include a map that shows all resources and any existing structures or
improvements on the property. Include photographs as appropriate, especially for
restoration/enhancement projects.

Level of Threat. Describe the level and type of threats of destruction or adverse
modification to the aquatic resources that the site may have experienced and/or could
experience if the property is not protected.

Proposed Future Conditions. Describe the proposed future condition of the property,
the functional benefits and “functional lift” the project proposes to provide (use the
following list as a guide), and any additional buffers on protected natural resources that
will result beyond existing conditions described above.

Freshwater & Coastal Wetland Functions and Values

Education/scientific value Groundwater recharge/discharge
Floodflow alterations Shoreline/sediment stabilization
Fish & shellfish habitat Retention of sediment/toxicants
Nutrient removal/transformation Uniqueness/Heritage

Production export Visual quality/aesthetics
Recreation Wildlife habitat

Proposed Compatible Uses. Describe any proposed active uses of the property,
including timber harvesting, habitat management, or recreational activities, and
indicate on a map where they would occur. Proposed active uses must not compromise
the health or function of the natural resources that MNRCP is charged to protect, so
their compatibility will be evaluated as part of the review process. Please specifically
address whether timber harvesting or any forest management is proposed to occur on
the property.

Timber Harvesting. Describe whether any timber harvesting is proposed on the property.
Please note that due to federal mitigation policy, MNRCP cannot take mitigation credit
for any areas where timber harvesting is proposed to be conducted on the property.
Therefore, the inclusion of timber harvesting in a project proposal will affect the scoring
and ranking of the project during review. For a project to be approved and funded by
MNRCP with portions of the property available for future timber harvest, certain
conditions must be met. See the FAQ section (Appendix E) for more details. If timber
harvesting is proposed for the property, please include a map showing where the
harvesting is proposed.






Riparian Buffer Management. Describe whether the project can meet the designated
buffers around all aquatic resources as outlined in MNRCP’s Riparian Habitat
Management Guidelines (available at: http://mnrcp.org/about). As a compensatory
mitigation program, MNRCP is striving for extra protection of wetlands and streams
beyond the minimum regulatory requirements or agency recommendations. The
Riparian Habitat Management Guidelines should be considered a minimum, and
projects that cannot meet these guidelines may not be a good fit for MNRCP. If the
project is unable to meet these guidelines, please explain why not and describe the
buffers that can be achieved.

Restoration Work Plan. If restoration, enhancement, or creation is proposed, a
restoration work plan following the MNRCP Restoration Work Plan Guidance will be
required prior to release of approved funds. For the project proposal, include a detailed
summary of restoration work proposed, including a sketch or concept design plan.
Note that a complete work plan is not required to be submitted with the proposal. The
complete work plan will be required after funds are awarded and will be reviewed by
DEP and the Corps. The work plan will need to include an assessment of the local
hydrology which demonstrates that the local hydrology will be sufficient to support the
project. The complete work plan will also need to include the type and location of all
soil disturbing activities and structures; a construction schedule; a planting plan, if
applicable; performance standards; and a post-construction monitoring plan. Note that
all restoration and enhancement projects are required to conduct at least 5 years of
post-construction monitoring.

Conservation Easements. If the project proposes preservation by conservation
easement, please summarize the proposed terms of the easement, list who will hold the
easement, and clearly indicate that the landowner understands and accepts the specific
easement terms that will be required by MNRCP (see required conservation easement
language in Appendix F, General Provision E). If possible, provide a draft of the
easement.

2. Landscape Context:

Statewide Focus Areas of Ecological Significance. Describe the proximity and/or
benefits to statewide focus areas of ecological significance for land conservation or
habitat preservation identified by a state agency, or other regional or municipal plans.
Include area name and government entity.

Other Conserved Lands. Describe the adjacency / proximity to other public or private
protected properties and how this project will enhance overall conservation (e.g.,
refuges, management areas, preservation, parks, conservation organization properties,
mitigation banks, or other protected restoration sites). Include area name and owner.

Other Resource Priorities. Describe the adjacency / proximity to other natural resource
areas identified as priorities. Include name and description of the designation process
or document.

Important Species. Describe the presence of or proximity to important species in Maine
such as Rare, Threatened, Endangered Species, or Species of Special Concern; Species
of Greatest Conservation Need; S1 & S2 Wetland Natural Communities; brook trout,
Atlantic sea-run salmon or other diadromous fish runs and habitats.

USFWS Official Species List. Applications must include a list of federally listed
threatened or endangered species in the project area from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife




http://mnrcp.org/about



Service Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) website, available at:
https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/. Attach an Official Species List from the [PaC website to your
application. The Official Species List is an approximately 6-page document that usually
only lists 1 — 3 different species or critical habitats, depending on your location in the
state. Most Official Species Lists in Maine will only include some combination of the
following species: northern long-eared bat (Myotis septentrionalis), Atlantic salmon
(Salmo salar), and small whorled pogonia (Isotria medeoloides). If you are including a
list of species that includes a large number of migratory bird species, and is stamped as
“Not for Consultation”, you have produced a Natural Resources List, not the required
Official Species List. You need to continue through the IPaC website to produce the
Official Species List. If you have questions about this process, please reach out to
MNRCP staff for guidance.

Potential Adverse Impacts. Describe any potential adverse impacts to any protected
natural resource, such as upstream or downstream aquatic resources, ecologically
sensitive areas and wildlife habitat and discuss any potential effect the mitigation project
may have on any species listed as either federal or state threatened or endangered that
may be found in the vicinity of the project. These impacts should be avoided to the
greatest degree possible.

3. Project Readiness

Project Timeline. Outline steps to be taken in completing the project, including the
proposed project schedule. Include the proposed timing of project deliverables (e.g.,
restoration plans, monitoring reports, long-term management plans, etc.) that will be
completed. Please also include key tasks and work products that have already been
completed and the date of completion (e.g., survey, appraisal, environmental
assessment, purchase & sale agreement, etc.). You do not need to submit any of these
completed documents with your application. Note that appraisals and environmental
assessments must be completed within one year prior to closing. For preservation
projects, please include an estimated closing date.

Landowner Willingness. Provide documentation of landowner willingness to participate
in the proposed project, including conveying a conservation easement or fee title to the
property. Include landowner’s name and address.

Access. Describe the extent of legal access to the property.

Permits. List permits needed (federal, state, and local) and which, if any, have already
been secured. Please note that MNRCP restrictions may be more stringent than what is
allowed by permit. It is highly recommended that applicants consult with MNRCP
representatives prior to seeking permits for their work to assure that the proposed work
meets both regulatory permit conditions and MNRCP requirements.

Sponsor Experience. Describe the project sponsor’s experience completing projects of
this kind. Also include an answer to this question: "Is your organization currently the
subject of any active federal or state enforcement action related to wetland or waterway
fill or alterations?"

Participating Partners. Describe the level of support and involvement from other relevant
agencies, organizations, and local community. Letters of support from the municipality,
state or federal agencies, and/or other NGO’s are allowed and encouraged. Letters of
support should be addressed to Dawn Hallowell, Chair of MNRCP Review Committee.
Please list any consultants, engineers, or other contractors that are involved with the




https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/



project and their experience with similar projects.

Long-term Stewardship. Please describe the process for developing a long-term
management plan and provide information on who will maintain the property in
perpetuity, general easement terms (if applicable), and who will conduct routine
monitoring. Describe anticipated long-term stewardship costs and provide a description
of the proposed financing mechanism (e.g., endowment, trust, or other method). A long-
term stewardship management plan will need to be developed for all MNRCP projects
that include a fee acquisition or conservation easement component to ensure that the
project is sustainable over time. However, this long-term management plan does not
need to be submitted with the application. It will be completed after funding is awarded.
Stewardship funding needs to be sufficient to ensure effective long-term management of
the aquatic resources to be conserved and is expected to be justified by project sponsors
and deemed reasonable according to standard land conservation practice.

Monitoring. If the project involves restoration, enhancement, or creation, provide a
general outline of the anticipated monitoring that will be done to document the success
of the project. A five-year monitoring term is typical, with a potentially longer period for
resources with slow development rates. If the project is approved for funding, a detailed
monitoring plan with performance standards must be submitted for review and approval
as part of the overall restoration, enhancement, or creation work plan prior to receipt of
funding. Preservation projects do not require monitoring plans.

4. Cost Effectiveness

Provide a detailed budget using the template provided. Please be clear regarding the
specific intended use of MNRCP funds. Attach the budget as an appendix to the
proposal, ideally placed after the text of the application and before other appendices.

Provide information on the availability and source of any additional funds necessary to
complete the project.

Provide information on the sponsor’s capacity to complete the project if only partial
funding is awarded, especially if full funding is requested. This is particularly important
in years and regions where there is high competition for funds.

MNRCP cannot pay more than the fair market value for a property as determined by a
qualified appraiser. Land acquisition or conservation easement costs must be based on
an appraisal completed within one year of closing, in accordance with the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) and meeting the requirements of
the Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policy Act (Public Law 91-646).
A copy of the final appraisal must be provided prior to closing.

5. Other Benefits

Describe the potential for this project to benefit other natural resources not covered by
MNRCP and to support economic activity, job creation, recreational access, scenic
enhancements, climate change resiliency, environmental justice or equity considerations,
educational opportunities, or other contributions to “Quality of Place” in the town or
region where the project is located.





Appendix B
Format for MNRCP Project Budget

. Total Project Proposed use of
MNRCP Project Budget Costs MNRCP Funds
Acquisition and Associated Costs
Fair Market Value of fee lands to be purchased [1]
Fair Market Value of conservation easements to be purchased [1]
Subtotal of land and/or conservation easement value S - S

Appraisal costs

Title, legal and closing costs

Land survey

Environmental hazard survey

Baseline documentation (easement only)

Natural resource survey

Subtotal of associated costs S -

Total Acquisition and Associated Costs 3 -

Long-Term Management & Stewardship Costs [2]

Long-term management planning

Long-term management/stewardship costs

Subtotal of long-term management planning and stewardship costs S - S

Invasive Species Control planning

Invasive Species Control equipment and supplies

Invasive Species Control personnel, contractors, other

Subtotal of Invasive Species Control costs S -

Total Stewardship and Invasive Species Costs S -

Restoration, Enhancement, or Creation Costs [3]

Personnel

MNRCP Work Plan Development (if requesting funds from MNRCP)

Permitting

Contractual (specify contractors/consultants, add rows if needed)

Site Work

Equipment/Supplies

Other (include specific tasks; more lines may be added if necessary)

5-year monitoring costs for restoration, enhancement, creation only [4]

Total restoration, enhancement, creation costs $ - S

Total Project Cost: S -

Total MNRCP Request:

List of Other Funding Sources and Amounts:






Budget Notes:

[1] Land Acquisition or Conservation Easement Costs must be based on an appraisal completed within one
year of the date of closing in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice
(USPAP) and meeting the requirements of the Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policy
Act (Public Law 91-646). A copy of the final appraisal must be provided prior to closing.

[2] Funded projects are expected to protect priority resources “in perpetuity,” which requires an entity
with the resources and expertise to ensure long-term management and stewardship. A financing
mechanism (e.g., endowment, trust, or long-term financing plan) is required to ensure adequate
funding is available over time, though all the funds needed for establishment do not need to be
included in MNRCP request. A Management Plan is required for all MNRCP-funded projects and
stewardship funding must be dedicated to the project/parcel being funded.

[3] Do not include long-term management & stewardship costs in this section. They should be
captured in the section above.

[4] For restoration, enhancement or creation, a five-year post-construction monitoring term is typical,
with a potentially longer period for resources with slow development rates. Preservation projects do
not require post-construction monitoring.





Appendix C

2022 MNRCP Proposal & Award Timeline

Stage Deadline

Request for Letters of Intent released May 26, 2022

Letter of Intent deadline June 29, 2022

Letter of Intent review July 2022

Full Proposals invited Mid-July, 2022

Project site visits July-August, 2022

Full Proposal deadline September 8, 2022
Review Committee evaluates proposals September-October, 2022

Review Committee meeting (internal calibration) | October 5, 2022

Review Committee meeting (public invited) November 3, 2022
Review Committee finalizes recommendations Mid November, 2022
Approval Committee meeting (public invited) November 16, 2022

Awards announced and grant process begins Late-November 2022






Appendix D
Funds Available by Biophysical Region

The funds listed below are those currently available in each biophysical region at the time of this
notice. Available funds may increase as the funding round progresses. For a current listing of funds
available, please visit: http://mnrcp.org. Also included are the Priority Resource Type(s) in each
region, which are the resources that have been prioritized for restoration, enhancement, and
preservation within each region.

MNRCP Region Amount Priority Resource Type

Freshwater wetland Emergent; Freshwater
Aroostook Hills and Lowlands $298,546 wetland Forested; Freshwater wetland Scrub-
Shrub; Vernal pool critical terrestrial habitat

$351.316 Freshwater wetland Emergent; Vernal pool

Central and Eastern Lowlands critical terrestrial habitat

Freshwater wetland Emergent; Freshwater

. wetland Forested; Freshwater wetland Scrub-
Central and Western Mountains $929’3 15 Shrub; Inland waterfowl & wading bird habitat;

Vernal pool critical terrestrial habitat

Coastal wetland Estuarine subtidal; Coastal
wetland Marine subtidal; Freshwater wetland
Central Interior and Midcoast $983,138 Emergent; Inland waterfowl & wading bird
habitat; Vernal pool; Vernal pool critical
terrestrial habitat

Coastal wetland Marine intertidal; Coastal

Downeast Maine $62,915 wetland Marine subtidal; Vernal pool critical
terrestrial habitat
Northwest Maine $34,256 Freshwater scrub-shrub

Coastal wetland Marine intertidal; Freshwater

. wetland Emergent; Freshwater wetland Forested;
Southern Maine $1,292,162 Freshwater wetland Scrub-Shrub; Freshwater
wetland Unconsolidated Bottom

TOTAL: $3,951,647




http://mnrcp.org/



Appendix E
Frequently Asked Questions

Q. Does MNRCP require matching funds?

A. No, matching funds are not required. Applicants can apply for up to 100% of project funding from
MNRCP. However, additional funds from applicants and other partners are viewed favorably and may
help projects score better in the review process.

Q. Can MNRCP funds be used as non-federal match?

A. It depends on the federal program. Some federal funding programs (such as North American
Wetlands Conservation Act [NAWCA], Community Forest Program, and National Coastal Wetland
Conservation Grants) do not allow the use of mitigation funds as non-federal match. MNRCP funds
are considered mitigation funds and are therefore not allowed to be used as non-federal match for
some programs. MNRCP funds may also be considered federal funds, depending on the source of the
funds paid into the program. We recommend you contact the federal grant program you are
considering for more information.

Q. Can MNRCP funds be combined with Land for Maine’s Future (LMF) funds?

A. It is possible to combine MNRCP funds with LMF funds, but the ability to do this will be project-
specific. Both programs have different goals and requirements and some projects may not be
compatible with both funding sources. If a project sponsor is contemplating requesting funding from
both programs, we recommend talking with representatives from each program before submitting final
proposals to identify potential incompatibilities early on.

Q. Can MNRCP funds be used for culvert replacements or fishways to improve fish passage?

A. Projects that are solely focused on fish passage (e.g., fish ladders, nature-like fishways, etc.) are
generally not supported by MNRCP. While MNRCP has provided funding in the past for a limited
number of fish passage projects, the Corps and DEP have determined that, moving forward, all such
projects must restore broader ecological benefits to river and stream systems (beyond passing fish),
and provide some measures to ensure the permanence of the work (not necessarily requiring
preservation). As a compensatory mitigation program, MNRCP must award funds to projects that
result in conservation outcomes for aquatic resources that have been impacted by permitted
development activities. Currently, MNRCP is not accepting payments into the program for stream
impacts. However, recent legislation will allow for stream impact projects to pay into the program,
which may result in more funding being available for more stream focused projects in the future.
Culvert replacement projects are generally uncommon but may be funded if the project demonstrates
restoration or enhancement of wetland functions and values beyond just passing fish. Dam removal
and culvert removal projects are eligible for funding and are encouraged.

Q. Can MNRCP funds be used to reimburse the costs of a prior land acquisition?

A. No, MNRCP funds cannot be used for reimbursement of costs for land that is currently owned by a
conservation entity.





Q. Can MNRCP funding be used to cover stewardship and long-term monitoring costs?

A. Yes, but the funds need to be restricted to the parcel/project relevant to the MNRCP application
and award and must be deemed reasonable by MNRCP reviewers.

Q. Can costs to obtain state and federal permits for restoration work be included in the budget?

A. Yes. Federal, state, and/or local permits may be required for certain restoration and enhancement
projects and costs to prepare permit applications can be included in the MNRCP project budget.
Please note, however, that MNRCP restrictions may be different than what is allowed by permit;
therefore, consultation with MNRCP is recommended prior to seeking permits from regulatory
agencies.

Q. Can fees for consultants to prepare project plans/designs be included in the budget?

A. Yes, however, the design fees must be for a project for which you are currently seeking funding to
implement. You cannot apply for MNRCP funding for the design phase of a project only. The design
and implementation costs must be included in the same application.

Q. Are complete design/engineering plans required for the proposal phase for restoration
projects?

A. No, but proposals should include at least a conceptual or preliminary plan to describe the proposed
work.

Q. Can MNRCP provide a list of qualified consultants for wetland restoration work?

A. MNRCP cannot specifically recommend a consultant or contractor. You can find a Directory of
Environmental Consultants on the Maine Association of Wetland Scientists website
(www.mainewetlands.org). A link to the directory is provided in the “Quick Links” section of the
home page. A list of consultants is also available on the Maine Land Trust Network website
(https://www.mltn.org/resources/consultants/).

Q. How much wetland and/or upland is required on a preservation project? All wetland? All
upland? A combination?

A. There is no set rule, but successful projects generally protect both wetlands and an upland buffer.
Projects that protect areas under demonstrable threat (i.e., accessible from roads, within potential
development areas, under threat from some activity other than development, etc.) will score higher. A
parcel that is almost all wetland may not be scored as well by MNRCP reviewers since wetlands have
a level of protection under state and federal law and the threat of direct impact to them is less.
Additionally, upland buffers are important to maintain the integrity of aquatic resources by providing
protection from secondary and indirect impacts and are considered an important part of preserving
these resources.

Q. Is timber harvesting allowed on parcels protected with MNRCP funds?

A. Timber harvesting may be allowed in uplands on parcels acquired with MNRCP funds; however,
due to federal mitigation policy, MNRCP cannot take mitigation credit for any areas where timber
harvesting is proposed to be conducted on the property. Therefore, the inclusion of timber harvesting
in a project proposal will affect the scoring and ranking of the project during review. For a project to



http://www.mainewetlands.org/

https://www.mltn.org/resources/consultants/



be approved and funded by MNRCP with portions of the property available for future timber harvest,
the following conditions are required.

e Timber harvesting must not occur in the following locations: in forested wetlands or mapped
Inland Waterfowl and Wading Bird Habitat; within at least 100’ of any mapped wetland,
stream, open water body; or within at least 250’ of mapped vernal pools.

= Qutside of the no-cut areas described above, timber harvesting within larger riparian buffers
should conform to the MNRCP Riparian Habitat Management Guidelines available at
http://mnrcp.org/about.

e Timber harvesting may only occur within areas of upland forest that are accessible from
existing roads that do not impact protected natural resources.

e Timber harvesting may not occur within rare or exemplary natural communities and
ecosystems or within rare plant populations or their specified buffers as identified by the
Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP). Buffer sizes may be determined in consultation with
MNAP.

e The project site must contain both wetland resources and no-cut upland areas sufficient to
generate mitigation credits as compared to the cost of the project.

e Timber harvesting in approved upland areas will be performed with the overall goals of
sustainable harvesting, mimicking natural disturbance patterns, and enhancing fish and
wildlife habitat and climate resiliency. A forest management plan is required and will be
reviewed by MNRCP reviewers.

MNRCP reviewers will review each project individually to determine if timber harvesting is
appropriate based on the existing site conditions. Even if a project meets the conditions outlined
above, MNRCP reviewers may still determine that timber harvesting is not suitable on a particular
parcel and may prohibit it as a condition of the MNRCP award.

Note that specific management activities to address invasive species, pest/disease outbreak, or safety
concerns are not considered “timber management” for the purposes of MNRCP and are generally
allowed, provided they are reviewed and approved in the project’s long-term management plan.

Q. Is public access/recreation allowed on parcels obtained with MNRCP funds?

A. Yes, access for low-impact recreational uses such as hiking, hunting, and fishing is allowed (but
not required), as long as the recreational uses, trails and any other infrastructure do not negatively
impact natural resources or significantly disturb associated upland buffers being protected with
MNRCP funds. Overnight camping and fires, however, are generally not allowed.

Q. Is vehicle access allowed on MNRCP parcels?

A. Vehicle access for maintenance or other uses is generally allowed, as long as it is on existing roads
and no new roads are proposed. Access for snowmobile use may be allowed depending on the location
of designated trails. Access for ATVs is generally not allowed.



http://mnrcp.org/about



Q. Are appraisals, surveys, environmental assessments, and other due diligence required to be
completed prior to submitting an MNRCP application?

A. No, a complete appraisal, survey, purchase and sale agreement, or environmental assessment is not
required to be completed for the application process. However, if these items are complete and
included in the application, it may increase the “Project Readiness” score for the project. If funds are
awarded for a preservation project, appraisals and environmental assessments must have been
completed within one year of closing. A formal land survey is required, but older surveys may be
permitted if they have been confirmed recently by a licensed surveyor.





Appendix F
Sample MNRCP Project Agreement

Regulatory Entities: Maine Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) and U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, New England District (Corps).

Fund Administrator: The Nature Conservancy, a District of Columbia nonprofit corporation with a
local office in Brunswick, Maine (TNC).

Cooperating Entity: , a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Maine (Cooperating Entity).

Project Name and Location: in the Town of , County, Maine (Project).
Premises Covered by this Agreement: Certain property located at in , Maine,
containing acres, more or less, and shown on the map attached as Exhibit B (Premises).

Description of Project:

Project Cost:

Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP) Contribution: $

Other Project Cost: $

Management and Use of Premises: No later than , the Cooperating Entity shall submit to

TNC, for review and approval by TNC, DEP and the Corps, a long-term Management Plan for the
Premises that includes a detailed description of long-term management needs, the annual cost
estimates to address them, and a funding mechanism to meet those needs. The approved Management
Plan, as it may be amended from time to time by Agreement of the Cooperating Entity, TNC, DEP
and the Corps, shall be kept on file in the offices of TNC. All use of the Premises shall be in
accordance with the Management Plan. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Cooperating Entity agrees that [proposed active property uses] shall be conducted in such a manner as
to avoid any disturbance to wetland habitat and buffers or habitat for sensitive species.

Term of Monitoring Obligations (for projects with restoration or enhancement activities): The
term of the Cooperating Entity’s monitoring obligations, as more particularly described in General
Provisions Section H, shall commence on the effective date of this Agreement and terminate six years
following the completion of all restoration or enhancement activities set forth in the Work Plan,
described below (the “Monitoring Term™).

Work Plan (for projects with restoration or enhancement activities): No later than

the Cooperating Entity shall submit to TNC, for review and approval by TNC, DEP and the Corps a
detailed restoration and enhancement Work Plan, which includes a monitoring plan, following
guidelines to be provided by TNC (based on the Corps’ Mitigation Guidance document). Upon such
approval, the Cooperating Entity shall fully implement such plan.

Expiration of Funding Commitment: TNC’s obligation to pay the MNRCP Contribution to the
Cooperating Entity shall expire, at TNC’s option, on .





Appendix F

Payment: TNC shall pay the MNRCP Contribution as follows (example payment plan provided):

a. § will be paid to the Cooperating Entity following TNC’s receipt and approval
of the documents listed in General Provisions Section D and closing on the acquisition

of the Premises and

b. $ will be paid to the Cooperating Entity following TNC, DEP, and Army

Corps’ receipt and approval of the Project’s Restoration Work Plan.

c. § will be paid to the Cooperating Entity following the completion of all
restoration work and following TNC, DEP, and Army Corps’ receipt and approval of

the Project’s Work Completion Report.

Any additional project costs above the MNRCP award are the sole responsibility of the Cooperating

Entity.

TNC, DEP, and the Cooperating Entity, mutually agree to perform this Agreement in accordance with
Title 38, Maine Revised Statutes, Section 480-Z, as amended, and with the terms, conditions, plans,

and specifications of the Project, incorporated herein by reference.

Subject to the availability of funds for this purpose, TNC hereby agrees, in consideration of the
agreements made by the Cooperating Entity herein, to pay to the Cooperating Entity the MNRCP
Contribution amount set forth above. The Cooperating Entity hereby agrees, in consideration of the
agreements made by TNC herein, to implement the Project in accordance with this Agreement.

Exhibits: The following exhibits are hereby incorporated into this Agreement:

Exhibit A General Provisions
Exhibit B Project Boundary Map
Exhibit C Form of Notice of Project Agreement

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the
, 2021 by their duly authorized representatives.

day of

THE NATURE CONSERVANCY COOPERATING ENTITY
By: By:
Print Name: Print Name:
Title: Title:
STATE OF MAINE
Department of Environmental Protection
By:
Print Name:

Commissioner





Appendix F
Sample MNRCP Project Agreement
EXHIBIT A
GENERAL PROVISIONS

The Cooperating Entity specifically recognizes that the Project creates an obligation to acquire,
restore, use, and maintain the Premises consistent with Title 38 M.R.S. Section 480-Z, and the
following requirements:

A. AUTHORITY: The Cooperating Entity warrants and represents that: it possesses the legal
authority to apply for the MNRCP Contribution and to otherwise carry out the Project in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement; and that a resolution or similar action has been duly adopted by the
governing body of the Cooperating Entity authorizing the filing of the application and implementation
of the Project, including all understandings and assurances contained herein, and directing and
authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Cooperating Entity to act in
connection with the application and to provide such additional information as may be required by
TNC or the DEP and to enter into this Agreement. If the Cooperating Entity is a non-governmental
organization, it shall provide TNC with a current certificate of good standing and a copy of its bylaws
and articles of incorporation. In addition, the Cooperating Entity shall notify TNC immediately of any
change in its corporate or tax status or operations, or if any official judicial, legislative, or
administrative proceeding is instituted against the Cooperating Entity that may affect the
commitments and obligations agreed herein.

B. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: The Cooperating Entity represents, warrants, and agrees that it;
(a) has or will obtain at Cooperating Entity’s expense (except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in this Agreement) any permits, licenses, or authorizations, including without limitation, a property
owner’s prior permission before entering upon any private property, that are required under this
Agreement, and; (b) will comply with all statutes, laws, ordinances, executive orders, rules,
regulations, court orders, and other governmental requirements for the State of Maine (collectively,
“Applicable Laws”). Cooperating Entity must not take any actions that might cause TNC, DEP, or the
Corps to be in violation of any Applicable Laws.

C. USE OF FUNDS: The Cooperating Entity shall use moneys received under this Agreement only
for the purposes of accomplishing the Project.

D. CLOSING PROCEDURES FOR PROJECT FUNDING AND ACQUISITION: No funds
shall be disbursed under this Agreement prior to TNC receipt and approval of photocopies of the
following:

1. The fully executed purchase and sale agreement for the Premises or conservation easement
therein;

2. Current appraisal (completed within one year of closing) of the Premises or conservation
easement that supports the purchase price;

3. Current environmental assessment of the Premises (completed within one year of closing),
evidencing no environmental factors which negatively affect the conservation or fair market
value of the Premises;

4. Property survey showing:

a) that the boundaries of the Premises are not in dispute;
b) that there are no encroachments that would interfere with the use of the Premises for their





Appendix F
intended purposes under this Agreement and

c¢) the coordinates for at least two corners of the Premises;

Current title insurance commitment;

6. For fee acquisition, the final deed draft; and for conservation easements, the final easement
draft, together with a copy of the current owner’s deed;

7. Executed Notice of Project Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C;

8. An original counterpart of an escrow letter provided by TNC for receipt and disbursement of
funds at closing, which has been countersigned by the Cooperating Entity’s approved closing
agent;

9. Draft settlement statement indicating proposed disbursement of funds.

N

Closing funds shall be delivered to an escrow agent approved by TNC prior to Closing to be disbursed
in accordance with the settlement statement upon recording of the deed or conservation easement.

In addition, within 45 days following the recording of documents, the Cooperating Entity shall
provide TNC and DEP with copies of the recorded deed or conservation easement, the recorded
Notice of Project Agreement, the signed settlement statement, and the title insurance policy.

E. REQUIRED CONSERVATION EASEMENT LANGUAGE: If the Project includes the
purchase of a conservation easement, such easement shall contain substantially the following
provision:

“The Grantors hereby grant to the State of Maine, Department of Environmental Protection (“DEP”)
the same inspection and enforcement rights as are granted to the Holder under this conservation
easement. However, the Holder acknowledges that the Holder shall be primarily responsible for the
enforcement of this easement, and understands that DEP does not, by this provision, take on any
obligation to enforce this easement. The Holder agrees that, if DEP shall determine that the Holder is
failing in such enforcement, DEP may, in its discretion, give notice of such failure to the Holder and
the Grantors, and if such failure to enforce is not corrected by the Holder within 30 days thereafter,
DEP may exercise, in its own name and for its own account, all the rights of enforcement granted to
the Holder under this Easement.”

F. USE AND MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES: The Cooperating Entity agrees that the Premises
shall be forever used, operated and maintained in its current undeveloped and open space condition,
for the long-term protection of wetlands, conservation of wildlife and other natural resources, in
accordance with all applicable laws, including without limitation Title 38 M.R.S. § 480-Z, and in
accordance with the Management Plan for the Premises.

G. RETENTION AND CUSTODIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR RECORDS: The Cooperating
Entity agrees to maintain records, documents and other evidence pertaining to all costs and expenses
incurred in sufficient detail to reflect all costs and expenses for which payment or reimbursement is
claimed. These records shall be maintained for a period of three years after the end of the Monitoring
Term, or if there is no Monitoring Term, for a period of three years after closing on the purchase of
the Premises. The records of the Cooperating Entity pertaining to the Project shall at all times within
such three year period be available for inspection, review and audit by DEP and TNC. Any
expenditure of the MNRCP Contribution by the Cooperating Entity that TNC determines, in its sole
reasonable discretion, are not permitted hereunder shall be promptly repaid by the Cooperating Entity
(or deducted from any subsequent payments hereunder by TNC).






Appendix F
H. PROCUREMENT: The Cooperating Entity shall follow its own policies with regard to
documentation of procurements and maintain documentation of such policies. If the Cooperating
Entity does not have written procurement policies, it shall retain documentation for procurements
(over US $5,000 outside the U.S. or over $10,000 in the U.S.). Such documentation shall include sole
source justification, if appropriate, or documentation of a competitive process or comparison
shopping.

I. REPORTING AND ANNUAL MONITORING REQUIREMENTS:

1. For fee acquisition, no reports by the Cooperating Entity are required, other than the
forwarding of a complete copy of the closing package within 45 days of closing.

2. For conservation easement projects, the Cooperating Entity shall submit a report detailing the
status of the Premises, on or before one year from the date of the recording of the conservation
easement.

3. For projects that require a Monitoring Term, the Cooperating Entity shall report to TNC, the
DEP and the Corps on the status of the Project, and on the condition of the Premises, following
guidance provided by TNC. The Cooperating Entity shall send the report annually, not later
than December 1% of each year, to: (a) the ILF Administrator, Bureau of Land Resources
(DEP), at State House Station 17 Augusta, Maine 04333; (b) the Policy Technical Support
Branch, Regulatory Division, New England District Corps of Engineers, 696 Virginia Road,
Concord, MA 01742-2751; and (¢) The MNRCP Manager, The Nature Conservancy, 14
Maine Street, Brunswick, ME 04011.

J. ASSIGNMENT: This Agreement may not be assigned by the Cooperating Entity in whole or in
part without the prior written consent of TNC and the DEP.

K. LOBBYING AND POLITICAL CAMPAIGNING: The Cooperating Entity shall not use any
portion of funds transferred under this Agreement to engage in any lobbying activities. The
Cooperating Entity shall not use any portion of funds transferred under this Agreement to participate
or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office,
to cause any private inurement or improper private benefit to occur, or to take any other action
inconsistent with Section 501(c)(3) of the US Internal Revenue Code.

L. RIGHT OF ENTRY: The DEP, the Corps and TNC, their employees, agents and representatives,
shall each have the right to enter the Premises to assure compliance with the terms of this Agreement,
any conservation easement purchased pursuant to this Agreement and any applicable laws.

M. PRIOR NOTICE AND APPROVAL REQUIRED PRIOR TO TRANSFER OF PREMISES:
Prior to any encumbrance, assignment, disposition or transfer, in whole or in part, of the Premises or
any interest therein, or, if the interest being acquired is a conservation easement, any amendment or
termination thereof, the Cooperating Entity shall provide at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of
the same to the DEP and to the Corps, and shall obtain their written consent to such encumbrance,
assignment, disposition, transfer, amendment or termination, as the case may be. Notice under this
Section shall be in addition to any legal requirements imposed upon the Cooperating Entity under

state or federal law.

N. NOTICE OF PROJECT AGREEMENT: Prior to payment of any funds hereunder, the
Cooperating Entity shall submit to TNC, for its approval, a notice of project agreement, substantially
in the form attached hereto, and shall record such notice with the local land records office.






Appendix F

0. CONDEMNATION: In the event of condemnation of any or all of the Premises, the DEP, by
and through its Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program or another fund designated by the
DEP and TNC, shall receive a share of the proceeds of such condemnation received by the
Cooperating Entity, based on the MNRCP proportion of the total cost of the Project, namely

percent ( %).

P. ENFORCEMENT ALTERNATIVES: In the event that the Cooperating Entity does not meet
one or more of its obligations under this Agreement, or in the event of dissolution of the Cooperating
Entity, the DEP may exercise, in its sole discretion, any of the following remedies following written
notice and thirty (30) days opportunity for the Cooperating Entity to cure the default: (a) the right to
require specific performance on the part of the Cooperating Entity; and (b) any other rights or
remedies available at law or in equity including, but not limited to, the right to require that the
Cooperating Entity transfer title to the Premises to the DEP or a successor designated by the DEP
under such terms and conditions as the court may require. In the event that the DEP exercises any of
the rights available to it upon default of the Cooperating Entity, the Cooperating Entity shall
reimburse the DEP for its costs of enforcement and collection, including reasonable attorney’s fees.

Q. MEDIA ANNOUNCEMENTS: The DEP, TNC and the Cooperating Entity shall have the
opportunity to review and comment on proposed media announcements concerning the Project
prepared by any party to this Agreement. Any signage or advertisement of the Project shall reference

the contribution of the Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program and shall be subject to review
and comment by DEP, the Corps, and TNC.

R. INDEMNITY: The Cooperating Entity shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless TNC and
DEP against any and all claims for loss, personal injury, death, property damage, or otherwise, arising
out of any act or omission of the Cooperating Entity’s employees or agents in connection with this
Agreement or the Premises. No legal partnership or agency relationship is established by this
Agreement. No party is authorized or empowered to act as an agent, employee or representative of the
others.

S. TERMINATION: TNC shall have the right to terminate this Agreement for any reason upon 30
days prior written notice to the Cooperating Entity, DEP and the Corps, in which event payment for
work satisfactorily completed by the Cooperating Entity will be adjusted accordingly. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Cooperating Entity understands that TNC may terminate
this Agreement in the event that the Cooperating Entity is not making sufficient progress towards the
completion of the Project, including, without limitation, entering into a binding purchase and sale
agreement to purchase the Premises or raising sufficient funding to pay the Other Project Costs. In
addition, it is understood that TNC shall have no obligation to provide funding under this Agreement
beyond the Expiration Date.

T. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: Prior to the commencement of any work under this Agreement,
the Cooperating Entity shall have executed and delivered to TNC a Disclosure Form regarding
potential conflicts of interest, in a form provided to the Cooperating Entity by TNC. If any material
misrepresentation in the Disclosure Form is discovered during the term hereof, TNC may elect to
declare this Agreement null and void and any payments hereunder not yet expended shall be promptly
returned to TNC.






Appendix F
U. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS: Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the parties hereto. In the event
that the DEP ceases to exist, the rights and responsibilities of that party shall automatically be vested
in any successor agency designated by the Legislature. Failing legislative designation, the successor
agency shall be as determined by the Governor. In the event that TNC ceases to exist, the rights and
responsibilities of that party shall vest in an entity designated by the DEP.

V. AMENDMENT: This Agreement may not be amended, in whole or in part, except with the
written consent of all of the parties hereto.

W. COUNTERTERRORISM, ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING AND ECONOMIC SANCTION
LAWS: Cooperating Entity certifies that, to the best of its knowledge, Cooperating Entity and its
subsidiaries, principals and beneficial owners, if any:
1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for
the award of contracts by any government agency;
2. (i) are not included on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons lists
maintained by the U.S. Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the United Nations
Security Council Consolidated List, or similar lists of proscribed entities identified as
associated with terrorism, and (ii) will not engage in transactions with, or provide
resources or support to, any such individuals or organizations or anyone else associated
with terrorism;
3. are not a person or entity with whom transacting is prohibited by any trade embargo,
economic sanction, or other prohibition of law or regulation; and
4. have not conducted, and will not conduct, their operations in violation of applicable Money
Laundering Laws, including but not limited to, the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act and the money
laundering statutes of any and all jurisdictions to which the Seller or any Seller subsidiary,
principal or beneficial owner is subject, and no action or inquiry concerning money
laundering by or before any authority involving the Seller or any Seller subsidiary,
principal or beneficial owner is pending.

Should Cooperating Entity become aware that it or any of its subsidiary, principal or beneficial owner
is subject to any of the above conditions during the term of this Agreement, Cooperating Entity must
notify TNC, DEP, and the Corps immediately. If TNC or DEP determine, in their sole discretion, that
Cooperating Entity or any such subsidiary, principal or beneficial owner is subject to any of the above
conditions, payment under this Agreement shall not be made. The terms of this Section must be
included in all permitted assignments of the Agreement.

X. NON-PARTICIPATION IN TAX-AVOIDANCE TRANSACTIONS: The Cooperating Entity
warrants that it shall not use the funds to acquire the Premises in a transaction that constitutes a “listed
transaction” under IRS Notice 2017-10 or that violates Land Trust Alliance (LTA) Practice 10C4. If
the Cooperating Entity will acquire the Premises from an entity that intends to take an income tax
charitable deduction related to the conveyance, the Cooperating Entity shall promptly notify TNC and
shall provide TNC with evidence of compliance with this paragraph at least ten (10) business days
prior to closing. If TNC determines, in its reasonable discretion, that the transaction constitutes a
“listed transaction” or violates LTA Practice 10C4, TNC shall not be obligated to deliver funds to the
Cooperating Entity. This paragraph applies to the Cooperating Entity, regardless of whether it is
accredited by the Land Trust Accreditation Commission (LTAC).






Appendix F

Sample MNRCP Project Agreement
EXHIBIT B
PROJECT MAP

Sample MNRCP Project
Wetland Types

E Approximate Project Area
Wetland Type

PEM - Emergent
. PFO -Forested

PSS - Scrub-shrub

Stream/River N

0 350 700 ﬁk‘;»
I 0 [rec '






Appendix F
Sample MNRCP Project Agreement
EXHIBIT C
Form to be used for NOTICE OF PROJECT AGREEMENT

MAINE NATURAL RESOURCE CONSERVATION PROGRAM
« Project”

The COOPERATING ENTITY (the “Owner”) is the owner of certain real property located in
the Town of , County of , State of Maine, which certain lands are more particularly
described in the Exhibit A attached to this Notice (the “Protected Property”).

The Owner has acquired the Protected Property with funds received from The Nature
Conservancy pursuant to a Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program Project Agreement
between The Nature Conservancy (“TNC”), the State of Maine, Department of Environmental
Protection (“DEP”’), and the Owner, dated (the “Project Agreement”), a copy of
which is kept at the offices of TNC, 14 Maine Street, Suite 401, Brunswick, Maine 04011 and the
offices of DEP, State House Station 17, Augusta, Maine 04333.

The purpose of the Project Agreement is to provide funding to the Owner, pursuant to an In-
Lieu Fee Program Instrument between the State of Maine, Department of Environmental Protection,
and the New England District U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps”), dated September 21, 2011
(the “In Lieu Fee Program Instrument”). By acceptance of funding and acquisition of the Protected
Property, the Owner agrees that the terms and conditions of the Project Agreement shall be a covenant
running with the land, and shall be binding upon the Owner, its successors and assigns as owner of the
Protected Property.

The purpose of the In Lieu Fee Program Instrument is to acquire, restore and/or enhance, and
to permanently protect, properties that will compensate for unavoidable adverse impacts to significant
wildlife habitats, wetlands and other waters of the State of Maine resulting from activities authorized
under the Maine Natural Resources Protection Act, the federal Clean Water Act and/or the federal
Rivers and Harbors Act.

The Owner has executed and recorded this Notice as notification and confirmation of its
obligations, as set forth in the Project Agreement, to: 1) ensure the long-term conservation of the
Protected Property, in accordance with the terms of the Project Agreement; 2) refrain from converting
any portion of the Protected Property to uses other than conservation; and 3) obtain the written consent of
DEP and the Corps prior to encumbrance, assignment or disposition of any interest in the Protected
Property.

The Protected Property may not be conveyed, transferred, or further encumbered without
including a specific reference to the terms and conditions of this Project Agreement, including the
Book and Page of recording of this Notice. Notice under the Section shall be in addition to any legal
requirements imposed upon the Owner under state or federal law. In addition, the Owner confirms
that in the event of condemnation of any or all of the Protected Property, it shall pay to the DEP, by
and through its Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program, -tenths percent ( %) of
the eminent domain proceeds paid to the Owner.

sk sk sk ok ok ok ok sk sk





Appendix F

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Owner has set its hand and seal this day of

,2022.
COOPERATING ENTITY
By:
Its:
State of Maine
County of
On this day of , 2022, before me personally appeared
, the and authorized representative of the
above-named Holder, , and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be her/his

free act in her/his said capacity, and the free act and deed of said corporation.

Printed Name:
Notary Public/Maine Attorney of Law
My Commission Expires:






		REQUEST FOR FULL PROPOSAL

		Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program

		Full Proposal Package

		Maine Department of Environmental Protection

		US Army Corps of Engineers

		Appendix C

		2022 MNRCP Proposal & Award Timeline

		Appendix D

		Funds Available by Biophysical Region

		Frequently Asked Questions

		A. No, a complete appraisal, survey, purchase and sale agreement, or environmental assessment is not required to be completed for the application process. However, if these items are complete and included in the application, it may increase the “Proje...




Outline for MNRCP Full Proposal





Completely describe the proposed project. Make sure to clearly cover each section below, as appropriate, depending on whether the project includes restoration, enhancement, preservation, or creation. Use headings as outlined below. Text describing each application section should be deleted.



Executive Summary:



· Project Title:

· Project Sponsor: (organization, contact name, address, phone, email)

· Project Location: (town, county, physical address)

· Project Summary: (brief summary of project context, goals, type of conservation, method)

· Estimated Project Cost:

· Total Project Cost:

· MNRCP Fund Request:

· Type of Conservation (complete the following table):



		

Natural Resource Type

		

Restored acres*

		

Enhanced acres*

		

Preserved acres

		

Created acres*

		

Total acres

		Significant

wildlife habitat

acres†



		Freshwater Resources

		Freshwater wetland, emergent (PEM)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Freshwater wetland, forested (PFO)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Freshwater wetland, shrub-scrub (PSS)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		River, stream or brook (linear feet)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Lake or pond (L1, L2, PUB, PUS,

POW)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Vernal pools

(indicate # of pools if acres not known)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Vernal pool critical terrestrial habitat

		

		

		

		

		

		



		Coastal Resources

		Coastal wetland, Marine subtidal (M1)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Coastal wetland, Marine intertidal (M2)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Coastal wetland, Estuarine subtidal (E1)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		Coastal wetland, Estuarine intertidal (E2)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		Upland buffer (non-wetland or non

significant wildlife habitat acres)

		

		

		

		

		

		



		Project Total

		

		

		

		

		

		





* Note that the restoration, enhancement, or creation of upland habitats for deer wintering areas, New England Cottontail, woodcock, or other upland species are not eligible as compensation under MNRCP and may have the potential to adversely impact MNRCP resource priorities.



† Please indicate the acres of significant wildlife habitat (Inland Waterfowl and Wading Bird Habitat, Tidal Waterfowl and Wading Bird Habitat, and/or Shorebird Feeding & Staging Areas), if any, that occur in the freshwater or coastal wetlands or uplands on the property. Note that these areas may overlap with other natural resource types.















1. Potential to Meet MNRCP Goals:



· Current Conditions. Describe the current habitat types and conditions on the property. Include a determination of protected natural resources found on the site based on either aerial photo interpretation, site visits, or, if available and applicable, a wetland delineation. Describe the current use of the property (e.g., any structures, improvements, trails) and the land use activities in the area surrounding the property (e.g., residential, forest management, commercial, agriculture, recreation, etc.). Describe existing buffers on protected resources on the project site, and the degree to which they protect or support identified resource functions and ecological connectivity to other conservation areas or undeveloped large blocks of habitat. Describe the extent of invasive species, if known, and the degree to which they threaten aquatic resources on the project site. Include a map that shows all resources and any existing structures or improvements on the property. Include photographs as appropriate, especially for restoration/enhancement projects.



· Level of Threat. Describe the level and type of threats of destruction or adverse modification to the aquatic resources that the site may have experienced and/or could experience if the property is not protected.



· Proposed Future Conditions. Describe the proposed future condition of the property, the functional benefits and “functional lift” the project proposes to provide (use the following list as a guide), and any additional buffers on protected natural resources that will result beyond existing conditions described above.



		Freshwater & Coastal Wetland Functions and Values



		Education/scientific value

		Groundwater recharge/discharge



		Floodflow alterations

		Shoreline/sediment stabilization



		Fish & shellfish habitat

		Retention of sediment/toxicants



		Nutrient removal/transformation

		Uniqueness/Heritage



		Production export

		Visual quality/aesthetics



		Recreation

		Wildlife habitat







· Proposed Compatible Uses. Describe any proposed active uses of the property, including timber harvesting, habitat management, or recreational activities, and indicate on a map where they would occur. Proposed active uses must not compromise the health or function of the natural resources that MNRCP is charged to protect, so their compatibility will be evaluated as part of the review process. Please specifically address whether timber harvesting or any forest management is proposed to occur on the property. 



· Timber Harvesting. Describe whether any timber harvesting is proposed on the property. Please note that due to federal mitigation policy, MNRCP cannot take mitigation credit for any areas where timber harvesting is proposed to be conducted on the property. Therefore, the inclusion of timber harvesting in a project proposal will affect the scoring and ranking of the project during review. For a project to be approved and funded by MNRCP with portions of the property available for future timber harvest, certain conditions must be met. See the FAQ section (Appendix E) for more details. If timber harvesting is proposed for the property, please include a map showing where the harvesting is proposed.





· Riparian Buffer Management. Describe whether the project can meet the designated buffers around all aquatic resources as outlined in MNRCP’s Riparian Habitat Management Guidelines (available at: http://mnrcp.org/about). As a compensatory mitigation program, MNRCP is striving for extra protection of wetlands and streams beyond the minimum regulatory requirements or agency recommendations. The Riparian Habitat Management Guidelines should be considered a minimum, and projects that cannot meet these guidelines may not be a good fit for MNRCP. If the project is unable to meet these guidelines, please explain why not and describe the buffers that can be achieved.



· Restoration Work Plan. If restoration, enhancement, or creation is proposed, a restoration work plan following the MNRCP Restoration Work Plan Guidance will be required prior to release of approved funds. For the project proposal, include a detailed summary of restoration work proposed, including a sketch or concept design plan. Note that a complete work plan is not required to be submitted with the proposal. The complete work plan will be required after funds are awarded and will be reviewed by DEP and the Corps. The work plan will need to include an assessment of the local hydrology which demonstrates that the local hydrology will be sufficient to support the project. The complete work plan will also need to include the type and location of all soil disturbing activities and structures; a construction schedule; a planting plan, if applicable; performance standards; and a post-construction monitoring plan. Note that all restoration and enhancement projects are required to conduct at least 5 years of post-construction monitoring.



· Conservation Easements. If the project proposes preservation by conservation easement, please summarize the proposed terms of the easement, list who will hold the easement, and clearly indicate that the landowner understands and accepts the specific easement terms that will be required by MNRCP (see required conservation easement language in Appendix F, General Provision E). If possible, provide a draft of the easement.



2. Landscape Context:



· Statewide Focus Areas of Ecological Significance. Describe the proximity and/or benefits to statewide focus areas of ecological significance for land conservation or habitat preservation identified by a state agency, or other regional or municipal plans. Include area name and government entity.



· Other Conserved Lands. Describe the adjacency / proximity to other public or private protected properties and how this project will enhance overall conservation (e.g., refuges, management areas, preservation, parks, conservation organization properties, mitigation banks, or other protected restoration sites).  Include area name and owner.



· Other Resource Priorities. Describe the adjacency / proximity to other natural resource areas identified as priorities. Include name and description of the designation process or document.



· Important Species. Describe the presence of or proximity to important species in Maine such as Rare, Threatened, Endangered Species, or Species of Special Concern; Species of Greatest Conservation Need; S1 & S2 Wetland Natural Communities; brook trout, Atlantic sea-run salmon or other diadromous fish runs and habitats.



· USFWS Official Species List. Applications must include a list of federally listed threatened or endangered species in the project area from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) website, available at: https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/. Attach an Official Species List from the IPaC website to your application. The Official Species List is an approximately 6-page document that usually only lists 1 – 3 different species or critical habitats, depending on your location in the state. Most Official Species Lists in Maine will only include some combination of the following species: northern long-eared bat (Myotis septentrionalis), Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), and small whorled pogonia (Isotria medeoloides). If you are including a list of species that includes a large number of migratory bird species, and is stamped as “Not for Consultation”, you have produced a Natural Resources List, not the required Official Species List. You need to continue through the IPaC website to produce the Official Species List. If you have questions about this process, please reach out to MNRCP staff for guidance.



· Potential Adverse Impacts. Describe any potential adverse impacts to any protected natural resource, such as upstream or downstream aquatic resources, ecologically sensitive areas and wildlife habitat and discuss any potential effect the mitigation project may have on any species listed as either federal or state threatened or endangered that may be found in the vicinity of the project. These impacts should be avoided to the greatest degree possible.





3. Project Readiness



· Project Timeline. Outline steps to be taken in completing the project, including the proposed project schedule. Include the proposed timing of project deliverables (e.g., restoration plans, monitoring reports, long-term management plans, etc.) that will be completed. Please also include key tasks and work products that have already been completed and the date of completion (e.g., survey, appraisal, environmental assessment, purchase & sale agreement, etc.). You do not need to submit any of these completed documents with your application. Note that appraisals and environmental assessments must be completed within one year prior to closing. For preservation projects, please include an estimated closing date.



· Landowner Willingness. Provide documentation of landowner willingness to participate in the proposed project, including conveying a conservation easement or fee title to the property. Include landowner’s name and address.



· Access. Describe the extent of legal access to the property.



· Permits. List permits needed (federal, state, and local) and which, if any, have already been secured. Please note that MNRCP restrictions may be more stringent than what is allowed by permit. It is highly recommended that applicants consult with MNRCP representatives prior to seeking permits for their work to assure that the proposed work meets both regulatory permit conditions and MNRCP requirements.



· Sponsor Experience. Describe the project sponsor’s experience completing projects of this kind. Also include an answer to this question: "Is your organization currently the subject of any active federal or state enforcement action related to wetland or waterway fill or alterations?"    



· Participating Partners. Describe the level of support and involvement from other relevant agencies, organizations, and local community. Letters of support from the municipality, state or federal agencies, and/or other NGO’s are allowed and encouraged. Letters of support should be addressed to Dawn Hallowell, Chair of MNRCP Review Committee. Please list any consultants, engineers, or other contractors that are involved with the project and their experience with similar projects.



· Long-term Stewardship. Please describe the process for developing a long-term management plan and provide information on who will maintain the property in perpetuity, general easement terms (if applicable), and who will conduct routine monitoring. Describe anticipated long-term stewardship costs and provide a description of the proposed financing mechanism (e.g., endowment, trust, or other method). A long-term stewardship management plan will need to be developed for all MNRCP projects that include a fee acquisition or conservation easement component to ensure that the project is sustainable over time. However, this long-term management plan does not need to be submitted with the application. It will be completed after funding is awarded. Stewardship funding needs to be sufficient to ensure effective long-term management of the aquatic resources to be conserved and is expected to be justified by project sponsors and deemed reasonable according to standard land conservation practice.



· Monitoring. If the project involves restoration, enhancement, or creation, provide a general outline of the anticipated monitoring that will be done to document the success of the project. A five-year monitoring term is typical, with a potentially longer period for resources with slow development rates. If the project is approved for funding, a detailed monitoring plan with performance standards must be submitted for review and approval as part of the overall restoration, enhancement, or creation work plan prior to receipt of funding. Preservation projects do not require monitoring plans.





4. Cost Effectiveness



· Provide a detailed budget using the template provided. Please be clear regarding the specific intended use of MNRCP funds. Attach the budget as an appendix to the proposal, ideally placed after the text of the application and before other appendices.



· Provide information on the availability and source of any additional funds necessary to complete the project.



· Provide information on the sponsor’s capacity to complete the project if only partial funding is awarded, especially if full funding is requested. This is particularly important in years and regions where there is high competition for funds.



· MNRCP cannot pay more than the fair market value for a property as determined by a qualified appraiser. Land acquisition or conservation easement costs must be based on an appraisal completed within one year of closing, in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) and meeting the requirements of the Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policy Act (Public Law 91-646). A copy of the final appraisal must be provided prior to closing.



5. Other Benefits



· Describe the potential for this project to benefit other natural resources not covered by MNRCP and to support economic activity, job creation, recreational access, scenic enhancements, climate change resiliency, environmental justice or equity considerations, educational opportunities, or other contributions to “Quality of Place” in the town or region where the project is located. 


Sheet1

		MNRCP Project Budget		Total Project 
Costs		Proposed use of MNRCP Funds

		Acquisition and Associated Costs

		Fair Market Value of fee lands to be purchased [1]

		Fair Market Value of conservation easements to be purchased [1]

		Subtotal of land and/or conservation easement value		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Appraisal costs  

		Title, legal and closing costs

		Land survey

		Environmental hazard survey

		Baseline documentation (easement only)

		Natural resource survey

		Subtotal of associated costs		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Total Acquisition and Associated Costs		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Long-Term Management & Stewardship Costs  [2]

		Long-term management planning

		Long-term management/stewardship costs

		Subtotal of long-term management planning and stewardship costs		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Invasive Species Control planning

		Invasive Species Control equipment and supplies

		Invasive Species Control personnel, contractors, other

		Subtotal of Invasive Species Control costs		$   - 0		$   - 0

		Total Long-Term Management, Stewardship, and Invasive Species Costs		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Restoration, Enhancement, or Creation Costs [3]

		Personnel

		MNRCP Work Plan Development (if requesting funds from MNRCP)

		Permitting

		Contractual (specify contractors/consultants, add rows if needed)

		Site Work

		Equipment/Supplies

		Other (include specific tasks; more lines may be added if necessary)

		5-year monitoring costs for restoration, enhancement, creation only [4]

		Total restoration, enhancement, creation costs		$   - 0		$   - 0



		Total Project Cost: 		$   - 0

		Total Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP) Request:				$   - 0

		List of Other Funding Sources and Amounts:    





		[1] Land Acquisition or Conservation Easement Costs must be based on an Appraisal completed within one year of closing, in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), and meeting the requirements of the Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policy Act (Public Law 91-646). A copy of the final appraisal must be provided prior to closing.  

		[2] Funded projects are expected to protect priority resources “in perpetuity,” which requires an entity with the resources and expertise to ensure long-term management and stewardship. A financing mechanism (e.g., endowment, trust, or long-term financing plan) is required to ensure adequate funding is available over time, though all the funds needed for establishment do not need to be included in the MNRCP request. A Management Plan is required for all MNRCP-funded  preservation projects and stewardship funding must be dedicated to the project/parcel being funded.

		[3] Do not include long-term management & stewardship costs in this section. They should be captured in the section above.

		[4] For restoration, enhancement or creation, a five-year post-construction monitoring term is typical, with a potentially longer period for resources with slow development rates. Preservation projects do not require post-construction monitoring.











































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































&"-,Bold"MNRCP Project Budget&"-,Regular"
&"-,Italic"Update estimated costs as actual costs become available.	




Sheet2





Sheet3












Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP)

Restoration/Enhancement Work Plan Guidance

April 2022

Introduction

This document provides a detailed overview of the information that must be included in a Work Plan for Restoration and Enhancement projects under the Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program (MNRCP). Work Plans are required for all MNRCP-funded projects with a restoration or enhancement component. The guidance in this document is based on the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 2020 New England District Compensatory Mitigation Standard Operating Procedures (a full copy of which can be found online). All sections (A-R) described below should be addressed in the Restoration/Enhancement Work Plan, or an explanation included as to why the section is not applicable. 



Restoration and enhancement are the most common types of active mitigation carried out in MNRCP projects. Creation is another type of compensatory mitigation but is much less common and is generally less preferred than restoration. These guidelines specifically refer to restoration and enhancement projects, but they may be used for all three types of projects. Additional information may be necessary for creation projects. 



Restoration, enhancement, rehabilitation, and creation as used by MNRCP are specifically defined regulatory terms. Restoration involves returning natural/historical conditions to a former aquatic habitat that has been degraded and no longer functions as an aquatic habitat. A typical example of wetland restoration is removing material (soil, rock, pavement, etc.) from a former wetland area and returning it to a natural condition that meets the jurisdictional parameters to be considered a wetland. Examples of stream restoration are dam removal, daylighting a piped stream, and removal of a concrete channel. Restoration results in a gain in resource acreage or linear feet. Restoration is the preferred form of compensatory mitigation funded through MNRCP, as it generally has the greatest likelihood of successfully replacing impacted aquatic resource extent and functions. 

Enhancement/Rehabilitation is defined as restoring degraded functions of an existing aquatic resource. Degradation may result from partial filling that does not create upland, deliberate removal of woody species (natural changes such as flooding and subsequent demise of trees as a result of beaver activity is not degradation), partial draining, etc. Enhancement typically refers to improving one or two functions, while rehabilitation is intended to result in a general improvement in the suite of functions typically performed by the resource. Neither enhancement nor rehabilitation result in a gain in aquatic resource area (acreage or linear feet). Throughout this guidance document, the term “enhancement” is meant to encompass both “enhancement” and “rehabilitation.” Creation involves the transformation of upland to an aquatic resource such as wetland at a site where there is no evidence that it was previously aquatic habitat.  



See the Additional References in Appendix C for further information.   



Resources covered by MNRCP include freshwater wetlands, rivers, streams and brooks, lakes and ponds, inland and coastal waterfowl and wading bird habitats, vernal pools, vernal pool critical terrestrial habitat, intertidal/coastal wetlands, and marine/subtidal habitats (e.g., eelgrass).



Some sections of the Restoration/Enhancement Work Plan listed below may not be pertinent for a specific project. This should be stated in that section and the rationale for it not being applicable explained. For example, grading plans and information on topsoil may not be applicable for an enhancement project with no grading proposed.



[bookmark: _Hlk11925303]Please provide MNRCP with a draft of the Work Plan as a MS Word document for review prior to finalizing the plan as a PDF. Review using Word and track changes is significantly easier for MNRCP reviewers. If necessary, maps and other appendices can be provided as a separate PDF file for the purposes of review.



Note that MNRCP Restoration Work Plans require review and approval by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and the MNRCP Interagency Review Team (IRT) prior to the implementation of restoration or enhancement work. By rule, the IRT requires a minimum 35-day review period to provide comments on proposed work plans. Please plan accordingly when drafting work plans and preparing for project implementation.


MNRCP ID __________________

		



Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program





Restoration or Enhancement Plan

for

Fill in Project Name















		











		











		Organization



		Author and title



		Date










A.	General Project Information

		MNRCP Project Name:

		



		MNRCP ID 

		Provided by MNRCP



		Location:  

		



		MNRCP Project Summary:

		Provide a very brief overview of the MNRCP Project, including the goals of the restoration or enhancement project.



		Restoration Work Plan Title:  

		



		Plan Preparer:  

		



		Plan Date:  

		



		Permit Number(s), if applicable*

		







* NOTE: MNRCP projects may require a permit from the Maine Department of Environmental Protection, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and/or your local municipality. Your Work Plan cannot be carried out without required permits. Please note that MNRCP restrictions may be more stringent than what is allowed by permit. It is highly recommended that applicants consult with MNRCP representatives prior to seeking permits for their work to assure that the proposed work meets both regulatory permit conditions and MNRCP requirements.



B.	Current (Baseline) Condition: Please describe the original habitat types and the current habitat conditions of the MNRCP Project site as a whole, with particular attention to the following.  



1. 	Site selection: Please include the following text in this section, then add a brief description of the attributes of this site that were considered during the review process:  MNRCP projects are selected based on a competitive grant application process wherein applicants must demonstrate that projects meet standard review criteria. Each project is reviewed and assessed by the MNRCP Interagency Review Team (IRT) based on its ability to meet mitigation program goals such as the practicability of accomplishing ecologically self-sustaining aquatic resource restoration, establishment, enhancement, and/or preservation at the mitigation project site.  Add a brief description of the project here.

2.    Impacted resource(s):  Describe the impacted resource(s) on the MNRCP Project site that will be restored or enhanced through this work, including the type of impact and acreage impacted.  Label each area clearly and include a map showing the location of these areas.

If the impacted resource is a wetland, describe the wetland class(es) at the impact site(s) using the Cowardin, et al. (1979), wetland classification system (as is used in the National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/ ) and/or the hydrogeomorphic classification systems outlined by the US Army Corps of Engineers (https://wetlands.el.erdc.dren.mil/pdfs/wrpde4.pdf).   For example:  The project site is an area within a scrub-shrub wetland (PSS1E) where gravel fill and debris have been dumped. The impacted area covers approximately 20,000 square feet. 

If the impacted resource is a river, stream or brook, provide linear feet impacted and average stream width. Describe the current conditions on site using the USDA NRCS Stream Visual Assessment Protocol Version 2 (SVAP2). A qualified aquatic/wetland scientist may be needed to document conditions. Describe the current impacts to the stream including impact type, impact on flow, gradient, sinuosity, fish or invertebrate populations, etc. For example:  stream was ditched along a 300’ foot length with an average width of 25’and riparian vegetation was removed, resulting in straightening and widening of the stream bed, decreased flow rate, disconnection from its floodplain, removal of riffles and pools, and warming of the stream.

If the impacted resource is a vernal pool, describe the vernal pool(s) origin (natural or man-made), size, vegetation, type of impact, size of impact area, hydroperiod (the timing and duration of seasonal inundation and drying in a typical year, which influences species composition and abundance), and any available information on pool productivity (e.g., egg mass count or other information on species use). Although the pool depression may contain limited or no woody vegetation, a surrounding intact forested canopy cover provides shading, leaf litter for nutrients, and woody debris for protection and egg attachment sites within the pool.  Removal of the shade of the tree canopy can heat up the air, soil, and water in the pool, change the period of time that water remains in the pool, and influence which species can survive there.  

3. 	Current wetland/resource functions and values on site:  Wetland functions and values may be curtailed by the current impact(s) or altered because of changes caused by the impact(s), such as tidal or stream flow restriction. When performing functions and values assessments, include additional information to support the rationale for how this resource is providing the stated functions and values. Simply stating “wildlife habitat” or “fishery habitat” is inadequate. Provide indicator species for the habitat type such as forest-dwelling migratory birds or spotted salamanders and/or wood frogs for a vernal pool. Wetland functions and values should be assessed using the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers’ Highway Methodology Workbook Supplement. It may be necessary to work with a qualified professional to accurately assess the functions and values. The Highway Methodology Workbook Supplement is available online at:

https://www.nae.usace.army.mil/Portals/74/docs/regulatory/Forms/HighwaySupplement6Apr2015.pdf  Note, if an MNAP ecologist visited the site, the current wetland functions and values are likely included in the MNAP report.

4. Reference site(s):  It is necessary to identify an unimpaired or minimally impaired resource of similar type within the same landscape setting (HGM type) to use as a comparison. The project should seek to duplicate the features of the reference resources. Restored areas should have variability (elevation and size) similar to the reference area. When practicable, they should take into account the expected stages of aquatic resource development. At least one reference site adjacent to or near each restoration/enhancement site shall be described and measured for characters important for the performance standards, so that it can be compared to the restoration/enhancement site (i.e., what is the percent cover or stem density of the reference site?). Multiple reference sites may be needed as each type of resource restored or enhanced (i.e., forested wetland, emergent wetland) should have its own reference site. Reference sites should be shown on a locus map.



5.    Existing wildlife use:  Include information on any probable state and federal endangered species and/or indicator species for the habitat type such as wood frogs, Blandings turtles, bird species, etc. found on the site, as well any information on other wildlife use of the site.

6. 	Existing soil conditions:  Describe soil types present on the site, degree of compaction, etc.  NRCS has soil survey data online: http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/HomePage.htm.  
A list of the availability of the Maine soil surveys online can be found at : http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/surveylist/soils/survey/state/?stateId=ME 

7. 	Existing vegetation in impacted area(s):  Describe the existing vegetation on the site including a list of species, dominant species, density, community types, and community structure.  Specifically note the presence and extent of any invasive species.



C.	 Restoration Area(s):  Provide the following for each area where restoration and/or enhancement will take place.



1. Restoration and/or Enhancement Activities:  Describe the type of activities, method, purpose and acreage proposed at each site.  Include Latitude/Longitude of restoration/enhancement area(s) and a detailed map of each area.

a. Wetland Classes: If wetland restoration/enhancement is planned, describe the wetland classes (e.g., Cowardin and/or hydrogeomorphic classification) that are intended/expected at each site when work is complete.

b. Stream Characteristics: If stream restoration/enhancement is planned, describe the nature of the restoration/enhancement including length and width of stream included in the work, nature of banks, normal seasonal flows, gradient, sinuosity, bed load, lengths of riffles and pools, and adjacent landscape. Describe the stream condition that is expected (as determined using SVAP2) at the site when the work is complete.

c. Description of any other MNRCP resources to be included in restoration/enhancement work.

2. Functions and Values:  Describe how functions and values are expected to be improved at each site as a result of the restoration or enhancement activities. Compare this to the current wetland functions and values at the site (from section B.2 above). Wetland functions and values should be assessed using the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers’ Highway Methodology Workbook Supplement. For stream projects, proposed improvements in stream condition should be explained using the USDA NRCS Stream Visual Assessment Protocol Version 2 (SVAP2). It may be necessary to work with a qualified professional to accurately assess/forecast the proposed improvements in functions and values/conditions.

3. Target fish and/or wildlife species:  Describe species of particular interest in this plan.  This is of particular importance if the work involves vernal pools or streams; however, there may be other state and federal endangered species and/or indicator species for the proposed habitat type such as wood frogs, Blandings turtles, bird species, etc. 

4. Design Constraints:  Frequently, restoration/enhancement designs are constrained by landscape features or public issues that control or otherwise influence the design and/or monitoring and remediation of the mitigation area. Such constraints need to be explained in detail.  If there are no constraints (rare), that should be stated in the plan. For example, use of herbicides and/or biological controls may require a state permit or encountering ledge may require plan changes.

5. Construction oversight:  To ensure that someone with expertise in the specific aquatic resource(s) being restored/enhanced provides construction oversight for the project, the following language should be included in the narrative portion of the restoration plan:   

“A wetland scientist/coastal habitat scientist/stream scientist/professional engineer [choose appropriate for project] shall be on-site to monitor construction of the aquatic resource restoration area(s) for compliance with the Restoration Work Plan and to make adjustments when appropriate to meet restoration goals.”

6. Project construction timing:  Timing may be influenced by the growing season, availability of equipment or materials, requirements of any permits, etc.

7. Responsible parties for all aspects of project:  Identify all parties responsible and their roles for the implementation, performance, and long-term management if permanent preservation is not part of the overall MNRCP project.

8. Threat to Aircraft:  Is there any potential to attract waterfowl and other bird species that might pose a threat to aircraft?  Restoration/enhancement sites near airports are of concern to the Federal Aviation Administration.   Indicate how far the nearest airport is from the site. 

9. Permitting: Will local, state, or federal permits be required to carry out the restoration plan? If you are unsure whether permits will be required for the work, contact the Maine DEP, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and your local Code Enforcement Officer. Please also coordinate your permitting effort with MNRCP as MNRCP project requirements may differ from the standards allowed by permit.



D.	Hydrology



1. 	Adequate hydrology:  Supply evidence of adequate hydrology to support the desired resource. Reestablishment of natural hydrology is encouraged; active engineered devices or structures are discouraged. When natural hydrology is not feasible, consider passive structures to sustain the desired hydroperiod over the long term. Avoid designing a system that depends on water-control structures or other infrastructure that must be maintained in perpetuity in order to provide the necessary hydrology. Emphasis should be on establishing naturally variable hydrology. This includes fluctuations in water flow, depth, duration, and/or frequency.  Hydrology within the project site should be comparable to a reference aquatic resource within the same landscape setting (HGM type).

2. 	Water source(s):  Indicate in the plan if the water source is groundwater, surface runoff, precipitation, lake and/or stream overflow, tidal, and/or springs and seeps.  Provide substantiation (e.g., well data, adjacent wetland conditions, stream gauge data, precipitation data).  

3. Vernal pools: Hydrology is a critical component of vernal pool restoration. Too little water and the pool will dry to quickly not allowing vernal pool species to complete their life cycles, too much water and the pool may hold standing water year-round which provides habitat for wildlife species that prey on obligate vernal pool species. It is recommended to engage a qualified professional if attempting vernal pool restoration or creation.

 

E.	Grading Plan



1.	Plan View: Please provide plans for the restoration/enhancement areas that meet the following specifications.

Existing grade elevations and proposed grading plans.

Microtopography.  Natural wetland systems, particularly those with trees and/or shrubs, typically have an intricate pattern of topographic relief. Where microtopographic variation is planned (such as in a forested wetland), the proposed maximum differences in elevation should be specified. The plan does not need to show the locations of each pit and mound as long as a typical cross-section and approximate number of pits and mounds is given for each zone. Restored areas should have variability (elevational and size) similar to that found in a similar natural area or a suitable reference area. For streams, some of the relevant information includes planform geometry, channel form, watershed size, design discharge, length, sinuosity, riffles/pools, and floodplain.

Scale is in the range of 1”=20’ to 1”=100’.

All items on the plan are legible.  Electronic documents of suitable quality are encouraged.

Plans have a bar scale.

The drawings show the access for maintenance and monitoring.

2. 	Cross Sections:  Include representative cross-sections showing the existing and proposed grading plan, expected range of shallow groundwater table elevations or surface water level consistently expected. Cross-sections should include key features such as upland islands and pools. They should extend beyond the restoration/enhancement site into adjacent wetlands and uplands. 

3. 	Soil Compaction:  Soil compaction by heavy machinery may adversely affect plantings and/or may result in perching of water. Therefore, efforts should be made to minimize soil compaction area during grading of the restoration/enhancement site.  If use of heavy machinery cannot be avoided, compaction must be addressed by disking or some other treatment to loosen the soil surface. Finer grained soils are more susceptible to compaction than more coarsely grained soils, so clayey soils should not be worked at all except in extremely dry condition.  Similar consideration should be given while spreading the topsoil.

4. Professional Assistance – It is recommended to engage a contractor and/or consultant in the planning phase of your project to make sure your project is designed appropriately.



F.	Topsoil or Substrate



1. 	Proposed source of topsoil or substrate material:  Topsoil and substrate material for restoration/enhancement sites can be a source of invasive species seeds.  Provide information on the source and the likelihood that such seeds could be in the material.

2. 	Depth:  Twelve or more inches of natural or manmade topsoil should be present in all freshwater wetland restoration and some enhancement areas.   Exceptions might be permanently or semi-permanently inundated or saturated areas and turtle nesting areas.   Rationale for less than 12 inches should be provided.  Manmade topsoil shall consist of a mixture of equal volumes of organic and mineral materials.  Well-decomposed clean leaf compost is the preferred soil amendment to achieve these standards.  Note that “clean” refers both to a negligible amount of physical contaminants such as plastic and to the lack of chemical contaminants that might pose a hazard to plants or animals. If other soil amendments are more readily available than clean leaf compost, they can be used to meet the requirement for the appropriate percent organic carbon content.  Note, however, that compost or other organic matter should be clean and free of weed seeds, specifically the seeds of any invasive species.  Commercial peat is not recommended for soil amendments as its harvesting methods are generally destructive to wetlands.  Caution should be used when using non-commercial peat salvaged from project impact sites as the chemical composition of that material may not be adequately buffered against phytotoxic levels of pH.  Note that the term “loam” that is frequently used for the material spread on a project site after subsoil grading is a landscaping term.  In soil science, the term refers to a specific texture of soil comprised of specific amounts of sand, silt, and clay particles.  The landscaping term is not a scientific term and should be avoided.

3. 	Appropriate organic content of topsoil:  Natural topsoil proposed to be used for the restoration/ enhancement of wetlands should consist of at least 4-12% organic carbon content (by weight) (or 9-21% organic matter content), with the percentage specified. Manmade topsoil used for the restoration/enhancement of wetlands should consist of a mixture of equal volumes of organic and mineral materials.  This may be accomplished by adding a specific depth of organic material and disking it in to twice that depth.  The actual measured organic content of the topsoil used should be provided in the as-built plan submitted with the first monitoring report.  Manufactured soil may also have to be tested for contaminants.

4. 	Storage of soil/substrate materials:  All materials stockpiled on site must be maintained in such a way as to avoid erosion and sedimentation.  Measures should be taken to maintain moisture in the soil.  Avoid stockpiling compost organics in piles over 4 feet in height.

5. 	Tidal Wetlands:  There is no recommended standard for substrate organic content in tidal wetlands, but it is recommended to match that of a nearby reference tidal wetland.

6. 	Vernal Pools:  Appropriate amounts of leaf litter and other decaying organic materials are needed to provide adequate habitat in the pool(s).  Source and location should be specified.



G.	Erosion Controls



1. 	Erosion controls such as silt fence or hay bales may be appropriate around work areas.

2. 	Stockpiles should be covered with a material that prevents erosion (tarps, erosion control mat, straw and temporary seed, depending on size and duration of storage)

3. 	The protection measures listed above should be inspected and repaired regularly (weekly), as well as prior to (to the extent possible) and after storm events.

4. 	The erosion control removal deadline should be specified in plan.  Removal should be as soon as the site is stable but before the end of the monitoring period.  



H.	Planting Plan



Planting and/or seeding are generally appropriate for a restoration/enhancement site, as determined through consultation with the MNRCP.  When planting is proposed as part of the plan, the guidelines below should be followed.

1. 	Scientific Names:  All plans and supporting documents should use scientific names.  The use of scientific names ensures that all involved have the correct understanding of the species of plants proposed to be planted or seeded.

2. 	Native Plant Materials:  Proposed plant materials should be native and indigenous to the area of the site(s).  Invasive species, non-native species, and/or cultivars should be avoided.   Although the use of non-native species is typically discouraged, there are situations where such use may be appropriate such as using Secale cereale (Annual Rye) to quickly stabilize a site.  The species should be noted and the reason for their use explained.  No cultivars shall be used.  Beware of stock identified as a native species which is actually a cultivar or non-native species (e.g., there have been numerous instances around New England of Alnus incana or Alnus rugosa labels appearing on seedlings of non-native Alnus glutinosa).  Non-native or otherwise unacceptable species are included in the Corps’ 2016 Mitigation Guidance and are not to be included as seed or planting stock in the overall project.  

The following stipulation must be included in the Restoration Work Plan, either in the plan view or in the narrative portion of the plan:

To reduce the immediate threat and minimize the long-term potential of degradation, the species included in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers “Invasive and Other Unacceptable Plant Species” list in the 2016 Mitigation Guidance, as well as the species listed on the Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation, and Forestry’s list of Invasive Terrestrial Plants, shall not be included as planting stock in the overall project.  Only plant materials native and indigenous to the region shall be used (with the exception of [specify]).  Species not specified in the plan shall not be used without prior written approval from MNRCP.  

3. 	Community classification:  Vegetation community types or zones should be classified in accordance with Cowardin, et al. (1979) or other similar classification system. If another classification system is used, an explanation of terms should be included.

4. 	Plan view drawings:  A plan view drawing should show where the various species are proposed to be planted. Since showing each individual plant is neither practical nor realistic, this may be illustrated with areas of uniform species composition and the number of plants or rate of seeding within the polygon. The scale should be in the range of 1”=20’ to 1”=100’, depending on the size of the site

5. 	Cross-section plans:  Cross-sectional drawings should include identification of vegetative community zones (e.g., forested, shrub swamp, etc.). This can be combined with the plans required for grading if they are not too complex.  

6. 	Wetland zones:  More than 50% of the plantings proposed in each zone should be structural determinants for the community type designated for that zone. Although the prevailing hydrology will ultimately influence the type of wetland that will develop, plantings “jump start” the project. When determining species to plant, considerations should include the tendency of some species to volunteer promptly whereas others may take years to move into a site. Determine whether it is preferable to include rapidly establishing species to help prevent invasive species problems or to emphasize planting species unlikely to “volunteer” during the monitoring period.

7. 	Woody stock:  Any woody stock proposed should be planted in densities not less than 600 trees and shrubs per acre, including at least 400 trees per acre in forested cover types.  Woody planting densities may require adjustment depending upon the goals of the Restoration Work Plan and the ‘reference wetland’ used to develop the habitat goals.  For example, if the primary goal for a particular creation site is flood storage and there is minimal need for wildlife habitat but there is interest in developing a woody component in the flood storage area, the density may be reduced.  Also, if the wetland type desired is a dense thicket, the density may need to be increased. 

8. 	Herbaceous stock:  Where uniform coverage is anticipated, herbaceous stock should be proposed to be planted in densities not less than the equivalent of 3 feet on center for species which spread with underground rhizomes; 2 feet on center for species which form clumps. 

9. 	Seed mix:  The list of species proposed in seed mixes should not include any invasive or unacceptable species. Similarly, non-native genotypes and cultivars should not be used. 

10. Relocation of plantings:  Plantings may be relocated when appropriate. The following stipulation shall be included in the Restoration Work Plan, either in the drawings or in the narrative portion of the plan:

During planting, a qualified wetland professional may relocate up to 50 percent of the plants in each community type if as-built site conditions would pose an unreasonable threat to the survival of plantings installed according to the Restoration Work Plan.  The plantings shall be relocated to locations with suitable hydrology and soils and where appropriate structural context with other plantings can be maintained.  

11. Irrigation:  Irrigation is solely a temporary measure to enhance the success of vegetation establishment, not to provide hydrology. The use of irrigation for woody plantings should be considered for the first one or two growing seasons after planting due to the unpredictability of short-term local hydrologic conditions and the need for additional care to establish new plantings. For small sites, hand watering may be possible over a short period of time to help planted woody species become established. Irrigation equipment (e.g., pipes, pumps, sprinklers) is not recommended. However, if approved, equipment must be removed and irrigation discontinued no later than the end of the second growing season unless the MNRCP concurs with extended irrigation. In this situation, the monitoring period shall be extended an equivalent time period.  

12. Use of Mulch:  The use of mulch around woody plantings is strongly encouraged, and may be required, to reduce the need for irrigation and to keep down herbaceous vegetation in the immediate vicinity of each plant for a couple of years. There are at least two methods available:  biodegradable plastic or fiber (which should be stapled or staked to the ground) or organic mulch. Note that organic mulch is not considered to be part of the organic content of the topsoil and it should not be used in locations that will be inundated as it may float away.  Suggested specifications for organic mulching are as follows:

1. Mulch balled and burlaped or container-grown trees and shrubs in a 3' diameter circle approximately 2" deep.

2. Mulch bare-root woody planting in an 18" diameter circle approximately 2" deep.



13. [bookmark: _Toc266340064]Tidal Wetlands:  Planting zones should be based on species requirements and a tidal datum. Each species must be planted at the appropriate elevation for that species and at the proper depth. Following grading, a survey shall be conducted to determine if supplemental backfill materials need to be placed to achieve required elevations for planting. If necessary, supplemental backfill shall be applied and then allowed to settle for a minimum of six tidal cycles prior to planting.  

The elevation of low marsh should be identified and considered in the design and should be provided in the plan. Low marsh plants should be planted between mean tide level and mean high water. High marsh plants should be planted between mean high water and spring high water. Salt hardened plants are most likely to survive. Plant storage on site should be kept short (less than 2 weeks). Planting densely (i.e., on 12 inch centers) will encourage the site to provide habitat and some water quality functions more quickly.  A nitrogen-rich slow-release fertilizer may be added to each planting hole prior to closing.  Salt marsh cordgrass (Spartina alterniflora) is shade intolerant, so it should not be planted in shady areas or, if a Restoration Work Plan involves planting a riparian buffer, trees should not be planted within 20 feet of a salt marsh restoration area.  Additionally, salt marsh cordgrass is recommended to be planted on 18-inch centers, 2 culms per hole.  Also, in areas with geese, a goose exclusion system is very important during the plant establishment period.

If planting of eelgrass is proposed, contact MNRCP for additional guidelines.



14. Vernal pools:   Adequate shade is essential for vernal pool habitat. Describe existing shade species and specify if plantings will be needed to provide the necessary shade to the pool.  There also should be adequate places for attachment of egg masses for vernal pool species.  Typically, these are the woody stems of shrubs or woody debris. Explain and describe proposed attachment provisions.


15. Stream banks:  Adequate shade and streambank stabilization are essential for stream habitats.  Describe plans to ensure vigorous vegetative cover in any streamside environments.  Fast growing, native woody vegetation should be used in any streamside plantings.



I. Coarse Woody Debris and Other Features 



Coarse woody debris includes such materials as logs (ideally, a mix of hardwoods for longevity and softwoods), stumps, smaller branches, and standing snags but not woodchips or mulch made from wood.  Placement of this material is generally inappropriate in tidal or frequently flooded environments, and may not be appropriate for some herbaceous systems. As much as possible, these materials will be in various stages of decomposition. Where floodwaters are a factor, it may be practical to anchor or partially bury snags and other larger components of woody debris.



When restoration/enhancement includes a component of forested or scrub-shrub habitat, the design should include plans for a continuum of coarse woody debris, including snags (standing dead trees). This continuum should include a full range of sizes, including small twigs and brush, not merely larger logs, stumps, and snags. Woody debris also plays an important role in vernal pool habitat by providing egg mass attachment sites in the pool basin and terrestrial refuges in the adjacent terrestrial habitat.



Frequently the inclusion of scattered various sized boulders, as well as woody debris, is an appropriate method of increasing structure and habitat in a site. NOTE:  if not properly screened by a wetland scientist, such debris can be a source of invasive species.



Where appropriate, the following language should be included in the Restoration Work Plan, either in the drawings or in the narrative portion of the plan:



A supply of dead and dying woody debris shall cover at least 4% of the ground throughout the project site after the completion of construction of the project site. These materials should not include invasive species. 



J.	Invasive and Noxious Species  



Soils disturbed by projects are susceptible to colonization by invasive species. Invasion on exposed mineral soils may result from excavation or filling. In addition, construction equipment can be a source of contamination and should be thoroughly cleaned prior to arrival on the project site.  

Because of the pervasiveness of invasive species in New England and the damage they do to aquatic resources, the Restoration Work Plan must include an Invasive Species Control Plan (ISCP).  More information on ISCPs is available on New England District’s Regulatory webpage - http://www.nae.usace.army.mil/Portals/74/docs/regulatory/InvasiveSpecies/ISCPGuidance.pdf. 

The ISCP should include:



1. 	Risks: Discuss the risk of colonization by invasive species (plant and/or animal).  The discussion of risk should include an assessment of the potential for invasion of the wetland by the species listed below or other identified problematic species specific to this project or site.  The assessment of risk should consider the local and regional backdrop of invasive species, the potential mechanisms for the spread of invasives (e.g., contaminated equipment and machinery), the potential virulence and responsiveness to control of the species.

2. 	Constraints: Identify regulatory and ecological constraints that influence the design of any plan to control invasive plants and animals by biological, mechanical, or chemical measures. For example, if a state requires a permit for use of herbicide, this will be a factor in developing a plan to control an invasive plant species. If there are no constraints, this should be stated.

3. Controls: Describe the strategies to prevent the introduction of invasives and to recognize and eradicate or control the degradation of the project site by invasive or non-native plant species.  See the Corps website for information on controlling these species. http://www.nae.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/InvasiveSpecies.aspx

The ISCP should address a full range of practicable measures to minimize threats to wetlands as well as all associated buffers or other habitats.  The ISCP should consider traditional control methods including:  mechanical (pulling, mowing, or excavating on-site), chemical (herbicides), and biological (planting fast-growing trees and shrubs for shading or releasing herbivorous insects). None of the species included in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers’ list of “Invasive and Other Unacceptable Plant Species” (Appendix K of the 2020 Compensatory Mitigation Standard Operating Procedures) or Maine DACF’s Advisory List of Invasive Plants should be planted anywhere on the project site. https://www.maine.gov/dacf/mnap/features/invasive_plants/invsheets.htm 

Tidal Wetlands:  Along salt marshes, be especially alert to the project's influence on freshwater runoff. The potential for establishment of Phragmites australis is an important consideration in the design of tidal wetlands. Selected backfill material should be free of seed and vegetative propagules of Phragmites. Frequently, Phragmites australis invasion is an unanticipated consequence of freshwater intrusion into the salt marsh. It should also be noted that, although relatively rare, there are populations of native Phragmites australis (P.a. ssp. Americanus or P. americanus per some botanists) throughout New England and these plants should be conserved, rather than controlled (https://gobotany.nativeplanttrust.org/species/phragmites/americanus/).



Eelgrass habitat:  In the case of eelgrass (Zostera marina) habitat, non-native species can negatively impact the establishment and persistence of restoration beds through herbivory, encrusting growth on shoots, physical disturbance, etc. Common invasive species in these habitats include green crabs, mute swans, colonial tunicates, and bryozoans (Williams 2007).



K.		Off-Road Vehicle Use



1. 	Current off-road vehicle use:  Describe any off-road vehicle use in immediate vicinity

2. 	Control plan:  If off-road vehicle use is affecting the project site, describe control measures that will be taken.

L.	Notification of Construction Completion



The following language, shown in italics, shall be included in the Restoration Work Plan. See Appendix A for a Work Completion Form Template. This template may be attached to the Work Plan as appropriate.



Within 60 days of completing a project that includes restoration, enhancement or creation, the project sponsor will submit to the MNRCP a report specifying the date of completion of the restoration/enhancement work.  The report shall include a description of the work done, when it was completed, and photographs of the site before, during and after completion.  



If restoration or enhancement is initiated in, or continues throughout the year, but is not completed by December 31 of any given year, the project sponsor will provide the MNRCP with a letter outlining the date mitigation work began, the progress as of December 31, and the timeframe for completion.  The letter will be sent no later than January 31 of the next year. 

	

M.	Performance Standards



Specific performance standards must be included in the Restoration Work Plan. The performance standards are ecologically based standards that will be used to assess whether the project is achieving its goals and objectives.  Performance standards should be based on attributes that are objective and verifiable.  They must be clear, concise, specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time specific.  The goal is for the mitigation site to trend toward the reference site, therefore, performance standards should compare at least some aspects of the project site to the identified reference site(s).  MNRCP suggests providing specific metrics for at least two of the five years of monitoring, e.g., metrics to reach at Year 3 and Year 5, although yearly metrics can also be listed for each performance standard, if desired. 



Below are EXAMPLES of specific performance standards. Performance standards included in your plan should be modified as appropriate for the project. 



Not all example performance standards listed below will be appropriate to every project. Similarly, additional performance standards not listed below may be appropriate for the project and may be added. MNRCP generally recommends between 4-7 performance standards.



Performance Standard Examples  
(Note, suggested monitoring ideas included below are NOT to be included in actual performance standards – rather, they are provided for reference and could/should be moved to the Monitoring section of the work plan.)



1. No erosion is observed on slopes, soils, substrates, and constructed features within and adjacent to the restoration/enhancement site(s).  

	[Monitoring idea: photo documentation including after storm events if possible.]

2. (#s based on reference site) Percent cover of non-invasive plants exceeds 50% by Year 3, and 80% in Year 5, in each designed/target vegetation zone and for the site overall, excluding any planned open water areas. (Alternatively, a similar standard could use stem density -based on reference site- instead of percent cover: e.g., Stem density in wetland restoration areas exceeds 500 stems/acre, of which at least 350 stems/acre are hydrophytic species. Only stems greater than 18” in height will be counted toward this standard.)

[Monitoring idea: establish transects through each vegetation zone area, estimating percent cover class of each species forming more than 5% cover within evenly spaced meter-square plots, and overall total percent cover of non-invasive plants.]

3. The restoration area(s) contain at least 60% cover by plant species consistent with the target wetland type(s), by Year 3. I.e., tree species are growing in target forested areas, shrub species are growing in target scrub-shrub areas, etc.  

[Monitoring idea: use sampling (transects or quadrats) to measure average percent cover, or perform field delineation and detailed description of vegetative zones (e.g., listing top 10 species and their % cover class within separate zones spatially mapped over the target areas), depending upon the size and complexity of the site. Larger sites may require a sampling approach whereas it may be possible to completely survey smaller areas.] 

4. Invasive plants do not exceed 10% cover across the site and no monotypic stands greater than 500 SF in size are present. Percent cover of invasive plants is decreasing over time.  If invasive plants exist at Year 5, a long-term plan and resources are in place to address them.

5. The site has the necessary hydrologic performance/hydroperiod to support the designed wetland type when compared to the reference wetland(s). [Add specifics, e.g., Wetland restoration areas exhibit at least one primary indicator of wetland hydrology, or two secondary indicators, as defined in the Army Corps of Engineers Regional Supplement to the Wetland Delineation Manual. Or, no areas of permanent standing water are observed on the site.]  

[Monitoring ideas: data to support this standard could include wetland delineation results, well data measured regularly during the growing season, continuous data logger data upstream/downstream, or other substantial dataset appropriate for the site.  Areas that are too wet or too dry should be identified each year and suggested corrective measures implemented.] 

6. The soils within the wetland restoration area(s) exhibit at least one indicator of hydric soil as defined by the Army Corps of Engineers Regional Supplement to the Wetland Delineation Manual by Year 5. (Alternatively: Soil in the wetland restoration areas has documented evidence of redoxymorphic features developing by the third year (Year 3) after construction.)

7. Channel dimensions and grade in the restored stream reach will be comparable to the reference reach by Year 3, as measured by topographic cross sections and a longitudinal profile. (Include specific measurements from the reference reach as quantifiable targets.)

8. There will be an increase in average salinity upstream of the restoration site: salinity levels will increase compared to pre-construction measurements and be within 20% of the reference site salinity levels starting at Year 2 and continuing through the monitoring period.  (Include specific measurements from the reference reach as quantifiable targets.)  

9. The existing dam impoundment currently classified as PUB will transition to at least XX% (XX acres) riverine systems and at least XX acres total of PFO, PSS and PEM within the restoration area by Year 3, as defined by the Cowardin classification.  

[Monitoring idea: This could be measured via annual vegetation transects and a wetland delineation in Year 3.]

10. By Year 3, site will have documented use by breeding populations of target species: spotted salamanders and wood frogs.


N.	Long-Term Monitoring Plan


Monitoring Methods



Describe the methods that will be used to monitor the site(s) after implementation of the restoration or enhancement work. Monitoring visits should include a meander survey to perform an overall, qualitative assessment of the site and should include photographs of the site. Photos are required, including of the reference site; permanent photo stations are highly recommended so that annual changes in site conditions can be observed. Quantitative monitoring methods are also highly recommended and should address the performance standards of the project (e.g., stem counts, transects, quadrats, egg mass counts, water salinity measurements, bankfull width measurements, fish surveys, etc.). Specific monitoring methods should be designed to address the performance standards developed and approved for your site. For example, for a performance standard of 80% areal cover by non-invasive hydrophytes, monitoring methods should be proposed that will allow for the assessment of that standard (e.g., transects with equally spaced m2 vegetation point-intercept plots). A wetland delineation may also be required to determine if the site is on track to meet the performance standards, as well as in Year 5 to document areas that have effectively been restored to wetland condition.



The following language, shown in italics below (and edited to fit the project), should be included in this section. If the applicant has concerns with any of the requirements included below, please contact MNRCP to discuss potential deviations from these standards. Additional language on the specific monitoring methods should also be included.



For each of the first five full growing seasons following construction of the restoration/enhancement site(s), the site(s) will be monitored and annual monitoring reports submitted. Observations will occur at least two times during the growing season – in late spring/early summer and again in late summer/early fall. The first year of monitoring will be during the first full growing season after completion of construction and planting. For this requirement, a growing season starts no later than May 31. However, if there are problems that need to be addressed and if the measures to correct them require prior approval from the MNRCP, the project sponsor will contact the MNRCP as soon as the need for corrective action is discovered.  



Monitoring Reports 



Annual monitoring reports should be concise and effectively provide the information necessary to assess the status of the restoration/enhancement project. Reports should provide information necessary to describe the site conditions and whether the project is meeting the performance standards. The information required should be provided in the Monitoring Report Form in Appendix A of this guidance, based on the US Army Corps of Engineers Regulatory Guidance Letter 08-03. If the applicant has concerns with any of the requirements included below, please contact MNRCP to discuss potential deviations from these standards. The following language, shown in italics, should be included in the Restoration Work Plan.



Each annual monitoring report, in the format provided in the Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program Restoration Work Plan Guidance, will be submitted to MNRCP, no later than December 31 of the year being monitored. The reports will address the following performance standards in the summary data section and will address the additional items noted in the monitoring report requirements, in the appropriate section. The reports will also include the monitoring-report appendices. Failure to perform the monitoring and submit monitoring reports may jeopardize funding of future projects from MNRCP.     



O.   Adaptive Management Plan (Contingency)



Provide a management strategy to address unforeseen changes in site conditions or other components of the project, including the party or parties responsible for implementing adaptive management. The Adaptive Management Plan will guide decisions for revising this work plan and implementing measures to address both foreseeable and unforeseen circumstances that adversely affect project success.



Describe the procedures to be followed should unforeseen site conditions or circumstances prevent the site from meeting the performance standards described above. The plan should include specific measures that will be taken if one or more of the performances standards is not being met. Examples of such situations include, but are not limited to, poor seed catch, poor plant survival, no hydric soil development, no documented use by target species, etc. Additional situations that are often beyond the applicant’s control, include unanticipated beaver activity, disruption of the groundwater by nearby blasting or other construction in the vicinity, unexpected subgrade texture, unearthing an unexpected archaeological site, and encountering hazardous waste.



The following language should be included in this section, along with the specific adaptive management strategies:



Remedial measures will be implemented at least two years prior to the completion of the monitoring period in order to attain the performance standards described below within the five-year [adjust this number as appropriate] monitoring period.  Should measures be required within two years of the end of the original monitoring period, the monitoring period may be extended to ensure two years of monitoring after the remedial work is completed.  Measures requiring earth movement or changes in hydrology will not be implemented without written approval from the MNRCP.  



P.	Final Assessment Plan:  



The following language, shown in italics, should be included in the narrative portion of the Restoration Work Plan. Details can be adjusted to fit the specifics of the project:



[bookmark: _Hlk40187710]A final assessment of the condition of the restoration/enhancement site(s) shall be performed following the fifth growing season (Year 5) after completion of the restoration/enhancement site(s) construction, or by the end of the monitoring period, whichever is later. “Growing season” in this context begins no later than May 31st. The assessment report shall be submitted to MNRCP by December 15 of the year the assessment is conducted; this will coincide with the year of the final monitoring report, so it is acceptable to include both the final monitoring report and assessment in the same document.



The final assessment shall include the four assessment appendices listed below and shall:



· Summarize the original or modified restoration/enhancement goals and discuss the level of attainment of these goals at each restoration/enhancement site.



· Describe significant problems and solutions during construction and maintenance (monitoring) of the restoration/enhancement site(s).



· Recommend measures to improve the efficiency, reduce the cost, or improve the effectiveness of similar projects in the future.



FINAL ASSESSMENT APPENDICES:



Appendix A -- Summary of the results of a functions and values assessment of the restoration/enhancement site(s). This assessment should compare the functions and values of the site(s) at the end of the monitoring period to the functions and values prior to the restoration/enhancement work. Note improvements and/or changes in functions and values. Functions and values should be described using the same methodology used in the original work plan (e.g., the Highway Methodology). For stream restoration/enhancement projects, the SVAP2 assessment should be used to to compare the condition of the site at the end of the monitoring period to the condition prior to the restoration/enhancement work.



Appendix B -- Calculation of the area by type (e.g., wetlands, vernal pools) of aquatic resources in each restoration/enhancement site. Wetlands should be identified and delineated using the most current versions of the Corps Wetlands Delineation Manual and approved regional supplement. Supporting documents shall include (1) a scaled drawing showing the aquatic resource boundaries and representative data plots and (2) datasheets for the corresponding data plots.  



Appendix C -- Comparison of the area of actual delineated restored/enhanced aquatic resources (from Appendix B) with the area of proposed restored/enhanced aquatic resources from the Restoration Work Plan. Also provide a comparison of the different community types present as compared to what was proposed in the Work Plan. In other words, how does the site compare to what was planned? These comparisons may be made on a scaled drawing(s) or as an overlay on the as-built plan. 



Appendix D -- Photos of each restoration/enhancement site taken from the same locations as the monitoring photos. Include a map showing photo point locations (required).



Completion of Monitoring Requirements. Monitoring requirements will not be considered fulfilled until the awardee has received written concurrence from the Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program that the project has met its objectives and no additional monitoring reports are required. A final field visit may be conducted to verify that onsite conditions are consistent with information documented in the monitoring reports. 



Q.	Long-Term Management Plan  



Provide a description of how the site(s) will be managed after the completion of post-construction monitoring and after the performance standards have been achieved to ensure the long-term sustainability of the natural resources. The owner of the site or the holder of a conservation easement will be responsible for ensuring the site is in compliance with the goals of this work plan, as well as all applicable permits. If the site is located on protected land that is already governed by a long-term management plan, include information on where this plan is located and who is responsible for maintenance and updates to the plan.



R. Payment Schedule: 



The payment schedule can usually be copied from the MNRCP Project Agreement. Payments for restoration projects are typically broken out as show below but may be modified as appropriate.



$X upon submission and approval of the finalized MNRCP Restoration Work Plan



$X after completion of the restoration work and upon submission and approval of the Restoration Completion Report, described above.



Applicants may be asked to submit receipts, invoices, or other documentation of project expenses to justify project costs and payment. MNRCP may request a final project cost after work is complete for help in award allocations for future projects.




Appendices to Guidance Document

(Provided for reference only; these appendices do not need to be attached to the work plan.)





Appendix A:  Work Completion Report Template

Appendix B:  Monitoring Report Form

Appendix C:  Additional References

[bookmark: AppendixA]
Appendix A



MNRCP Work Completion Report



		Report Date

		



		MNRCP Project Name

MNRCP Project ID

		



		Project Location 

		



		Project Sponsor 

		Name of person filling out the report, and the sponsoring organization and any partners



		Contractor and/or Consultant

		Name(s) of contractor performing the work and consultant, if applicable



		Start and Completion Dates

		Dates restoration/enhancement work commenced and was completed.



		Corps and DEP Permit Numbers (if applicable)

		







Summary of Work Completed: 



Describe the work that was done for the project: 



1. [bookmark: _Hlk428615]Summarize how the work was completed. Include a description of the major steps in the process.

2. Discuss the status of the project as of the date of the report, including status of earthwork, planting, seeding, erosion controls, etc. 

3. Describe any places where the project deviated from the approved work plan. Include documentation of MNRCP approval of any changes, if applicable.

4. Discuss any difficulties or unanticipated constraints. Also include any lessons learned that may inform future projects.

5. Please include the final total cost of the project. This number may or may not be the same as your original budget. Please also include an estimate of staff and/or volunteer time spent on the project if that is not included in your final cost. This information will be especially helpful as we review and assess future restoration/enhancement projects.


Photographs and Maps:

Please attach photographs of the work, with a description of each photograph, taken before (if possible), during and after completion with photo locations shown on a map of the site. If the work deviated from the approved work plan, please provide an updated “as-built” plan.

[bookmark: AppendixB]
Appendix B



[bookmark: _Hlk100562101]Maine Natural Resource Conservation Program

Monitoring Report Form



Report Date: 

Report Number:  (Monitoring Report 1 of 5, for example)



1 MNRCP Project Overview (Most of this information will be the same for each monitoring report)

		MNRCP Project Name

		



		MNRCP ID

		



		Project Location 

		Location of and directions to the restoration/enhancement site. Directions and any identifiable landmarks of the compensatory mitigation project including information to locate the site boundaries. 



		Project Sponsor 

		Name and contact information of project sponsor



		Contractor and/or Consultant

		Name(s) of contractor who performed the work and project consultant, if applicable



		Start and Completion Dates

		Dates restoration/enhancement work commenced and was completed.



		Corps and DEP Permit Numbers (if applicable)

		







Project Summary:  
A summary paragraph defining the goals of the approved project, nature of the impact being restored/enhanced, restoration/enhancement acreages and types of aquatic resources.



2. Requirements 



List performance standards from the approved MNRCP Restoration/Enhancement Work Plan. In addition, list any other restoration/enhancement-related requirements as specified in the plan.  



3. Monitoring Information



Describe the monitoring inspections that occurred since the last report.  Include dates that inspections were conducted and the name of party conducting the monitoring. Photo documentation is required (See Appendix A below for further information).



Describe the current conditions on the site, specifically with respect to each performance standard.  Provide data to substantiate the success and/or potential challenges associated with each standard. Concisely describe actions taken during the monitoring year to meet the performance standard – actions such as removing debris, replanting, controlling invasive plant species (with biological, herbicidal, or mechanical methods), re-grading the site to achieve desired hydrology, applying additional topsoil or soil amendments, etc.  Include dates that any remedial work was done. Address all requirements that apply from section 2 above.  



A table is one option for comparing the performance standards to the conditions and status of the developing restoration/enhancement site. A table can also be helpful to compare the status of performance standards over multiple monitoring years. See attached “Table 4” for a sample table for comparing performance standards over time.



Additional Monitoring Considerations: If the questions below have not been addressed as part of the assessment of performance standards, please provide brief answers.



· What fish and wildlife have been observed using the site(s) and what do they use it for (nesting, feeding, shelter, etc.)? 



· Report the status of any erosion control measures on the restoration/enhancement site(s). Are they in place and functioning? What is the overall level of stability across the site(s)?  If temporary measures are no longer needed, have they been removed? (NOTE:  Non-biodegradable erosion control materials MUST be removed prior to the end of the monitoring period.)



· Has there been any unauthorized ATV or off-road vehicle use on the site? If so, describe any damage to the site and any actions being taken to prevent future damage (installing signs or boulders, outreach to local landowners or ATV clubs, etc.).



· Describe any other issues of concern for the site (e.g., beaver influence, vandalism, trash dumping, surrounding land use changes, etc.).



4. Summary and Conclusions 



a) Include a general statement describing the status and conditions on the project site. If multiple years of monitoring have been performed, describe how the site has progressed over time. Has the site progressed as expected?    

b) Summarize the overall status of the site relative to the performance standards. Is the site meeting the performance standards?  If performance standards are not being met or other issues have been identified, include a brief discussion of the difficulties encountered, probable causes, and potential remedial actions.  Specific recommendations for any additional corrective or remedial actions, including a timetable, must be provided. 



5.  Monitoring Report Appendices 



· Appendix A – Maps (required)

A map or maps should be attached to each monitoring report showing the boundaries of the restoration/enhancement area(s) relative to other landscape features on the site, habitat types, locations of photographic reference points, transects, sampling data points, and/or other features pertinent to the restoration/enhancement plan and monitoring events.  Geographic coordinates are helpful in locating the site(s) for inspection purposes.

· Appendix B – Photographs (required)
Representative photos are required to support the findings and recommendations, for each restoration/enhancement site.  Photos should be taken from the same locations for each monitoring event and must be dated and clearly labeled.  A map, or maps, showing photo locations must be included and clearly labeled with the direction from which the photo was taken.  Photos may be included in this appendix or in the body of the report.

· Appendix C – Plans

If alterations were made to the approved restoration/enhancement plan due to conditions found in the field, as-built plans showing appropriate topography for type of restoration, structures including any inlet/outlet structures, grading, etc. must be submitted.  These need only be submitted once and may be included in future monitoring reports by reference.  If plantings were part of the plan, location and extent of the designed plant community types (e.g., shrub swamp) should be included. Within each community type the plan shall show the species planted—but it is not necessary to illustrate the precise location of each individual plant. There should also be a soil profile description and the actual measured organic content of the topsoil. This should be included in the first monitoring report unless there is grading or soil modifications or additional plantings of different species in subsequent years. 



· Appendix D – Plant List

If applicable, a plant species list for each plant community type/wetland type. The plant species list need not be exhaustive, e.g., it could exclude species not exceeding 5% cover in their plant community/wetland type. 

6. Final Assessment Plan (Year 5 Only)

Note that in Year 5, additional evaluation is required – refer to the approved Restoration Work Plan for details. 







[bookmark: AppendixC][bookmark: AppendixD][bookmark: AppendixE][bookmark: AppendixF]



Appendix C



ADDITIONAL REFERENCES

(Note, please do not include these in the final Work Plan unless it specifically references them – these are provided as resources only.)



Ashby, Steven.  “Approaches for the Mitigation of Water Quality Functions of Impacted Wetlands – A Review,”  ERDC TN-WRAP-02-03 http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/elpubs/pdf/tnwrap02-3.pdf  U.S. Army Research and Development Center, Vicksburg, MS.



Brinson, M. M. (1993). "A hydrogeomorphic classification for wetlands," Technical Report WRP-DE-4.  http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/elpubs/pdf/wrpde4.pdf, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS. NTIS No. AD A270 053.



Calhoun, A. J. K. and M.W. Klemens.  2002.  Best Development Practices: Conserving Pool-breeding Amphibians in Residential and Commercial Developments in the Northeastern United States. MCA Technical Paper No.5, Metropolitan Conservation Alliance, Wildlife Conservation Society, Bronx, NY.  http://www.umaine.edu/vernalpools/PDFs/Best%20Development%20Practices%20%20-%20%20Conserving%20Pool-breeding%20Amph.pdf



Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T LaRoe. (1979) “Classification of wetlands and deepwater habitats of the United States,” Office of Biological Services, FWS/OBS-79/31, December 1979.http://www.wbdg.org/ccb/ENVREG/habitat.pdf, (see also  http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/wetlands/classwet/index.htm to download separate chapters)



Davis, R. C., and F. T. Short. 1997. Restoring eelgrass, Zostera marina L., habitat using a new transplanting technique: The horizontal rhizome method. Aquatic Botany 59:1-15.  http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030437709700034X



Environmental Laboratory.  (1987).  “Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual,” Technical Report Y-87-1, http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/elpubs/pdf/wlman87.pdf , U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.



Evans, T.E. and A. Leschen 2009. Technical Guidelines for the Delineation, Restoration and monitoring of Eelgrass (Zostera marina) in Massachusetts Coastal Waters. Mass. Division of Marine Fisheries, September 25 2009. http://www.mass.gov/eea/docs/dfg/dmf/publications/tr-43.pdf



Evans, N.T. and F.T. Short. 2005. Functional trajectory models for assessment of transplant development of seagrass, Zostera marina L., beds in the Great Bay Estuary, NH, USA. Estuaries28: 936–947.  http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/3526958?uid=3739712&uid=2129&uid=2&uid=70&uid=4&uid=3739256&sid=21104193247743 



Federal Aviation Administration Advisory Circular AC No: 150/5200-33B Hazardous Wildlife Attractants on or Near Airports, 8/28/2007  http://www.airweb.faa.gov/Regulatory_and_Guidance_Library/rgAdvisoryCircular.nsf/0/532dcafa8349a872862573540068c023/$FILE/150_5200_33b.pdf




Fonseca, M. S., W. J. Kenworthy and G. W. Thayer.  1998.  Guidelines for the conservation and restoration of seagrasses in the U. S. and adjacent waters. NOAA Coastal Ocean Program. Decision Analysis Series No. 12.  http://www.seagrassrestorationnow.com/docs/Fonseca%20et%20al%201998.pdf 



Grant, E.H.C., Jung, R.E., Nichols, J.D., and Hines, J.E.  2005b.  Double-observer approach to estimating egg mass abundance of pool-breeding amphibians: Wetlands Ecology and Management, v. 13, p. 305–320.  http://www.environmental-expert.com/Files%5C0%5Carticles%5C9374%5CDouble-observerapproach.pdf 



Leschen, A.S., R.K. Kessler, and B.T. Estrella. 2009. Eelgrass Restoration Project: 5 Year Completion Report. Massachusetts Division of Marine Fisheries. http://www.mass.gov/eea/docs/dfg/dmf/programsandprojects/hubline/hubline-5yr-eelgrass-restoration.pdf



Lockwood, J.C. 1991. Seagrass Survey Guidelines for New Jersey; Prepared for the New Jersey Interagency Seagrass Policy Committee. National Marine Fisheries Service, Habitat and Protected Species Division, Sandy Hook Laboratory, New Jersey.



Mehrhoff, L.J., J.A. Silander, Jr., S. A. Leicht and E. Mosher. 2003.  IPANE: Invasive Plant Atlas of New England. Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, USA. URL: http://www.eddmaps.org/ipane/



Minkin, P. and R. Ladd.  2003.  Success of Corps-Required Wetland Mitigation in New England.  New England District Corps of Engineers, Concord, MA.  http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/wetlands/upload/2003_4_25_wetlands_USACENewEnglandDistrictMitigationStudy.pdf



National Research Council. 2001. Compensating for Wetland Losses Under the Clean Water Act. National Academy Press. Washington, DC. 322 pp: In this report the National Research Council (NRC) provided ten guidelines to aid in planning and implementing successful mitigation projects (“Operational Guidelines for Creating or Restoring Wetlands that are Ecologically Self-Sustaining”; NRC, 2001).  Online:  http://books.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=10134  (free pdf download available)



North American Amphibian Monitoring Program (NAAMP).  2002. http://www.pwrc.usgs.gov/naamp/



North American Amphibian Monitoring Program (NAAMP), Massachusetts Procedures and Protocols.  2007.  http://www.massnaamp.org/online_docs/index.html



Paton, P. W. C., Timm B. and T. Tupper.  2003.  Monitoring Pond-Breeding Amphibians: A Protocol for the Long-term Coastal Ecosystem Monitoring Program at Cape Cod National Seashore. 

http://www.nps.gov/caco/naturescience/upload/CACO_amphibian_monitoring_protocol.pdf



Sabol, B., D. Shafer, and E. Lord.  2005.  Dredging effects on eelgrass (Zostera marina) distribution in a New England small boat harbour. U. S. Army Corps of Engineers. Engineer Research and DevelopmentCenter ERDC/EL TR-05-8.  http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/dots/doer/pubs.cfm?Topic=TechReport&Code=doer   (scroll down to 2005)



Short, F. T., D. M. Burdick, C. A. Short, R. C. Davis, and P. A. Morgan. 2000. Developing success criteria for restored eelgrass, salt marsh and mud flat habitats. Ecological Engineering 15:239–252. 

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0925857400000793



Short, R. C., B. C. Kopp, C. A. Short and D. M. Burdick.  2002.  Site selection model for optimal restoration of eelgrass (Zostera marina L).  Marine ecology Progress Series 227:253-267.

https://www.int-res.com/abstracts/meps/v227/p253-267/ 



U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2008. 33 CFR Part 332, Compensatory Mitigation for Losses of Aquatic Resources, Final Rule, http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits/mitig_info.aspx



U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  2008. Minimum Monitoring Requirements for Compensatory Mitigation Projects Involving the Restoration, Establishment, and/or Enhancement of Aquatic Resources.  Regulatory Guidance Letter 08-03. http://www.usace.army.mil/Portals/2/docs/civilworks/RGLS/rgl08_03.pdf



U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  2009.  Interim Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual:  Northcentral and Northeast Region, ed. J.S. Wakeley, R.W. Lichvar, and C.V. Noble.  ERDC/EL TR-09-19.  Vicksburg, MS:  U.S. Army Engineers Research and Development Center. http://www.usace.army.mil/Portals/2/docs/civilworks/regulatory/reg_supp/NCNE_suppv2.pdf



U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Reclamation.  2010.  Inspection and Cleaning Manual for Equipment and Vehicles to Prevent the Spread of Invasive Species.  Technical Memorandum No. 86-68220-07-05. http://www.usbr.gov/mussels/prevention/docs/EquipmentInspectionandCleaningManual2010.pdf



Williams, S. 2007. Introduced species in seagrass ecosystems: status and concerns. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 350:89-110. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022098107003115

 







-23-

		

image1.png

G
fapasanoo a0
o202 ur1eoB vonesosses | 1o osoas Sumail
s 3o 01 03060 | 151 o0 240
A o 210> annerBon | sapeds anou
e 3us usesss | 1200 3o spess
01 uoseas SumosZ iy si06< 2 252 vomnasuo>
s e | ewoyyueqoisahsey | anoypup araois 3unp
paloid w1105 | 3y ‘S0eis A 1305 | 210 opnisu0d pamsp 2 e
pue swea 13w | s s ss2Boigu | Aapaamsp sios N | sw0s pue syueg
SO e
s> 53406 1 peoy
“suompuc> Tewew peos 1o youns
105 U3z pue s oS Susne sware wors
weyas wn pouad a8ie| 2uunp spool peos
nowsze unL6T) wios | pue sdoveno vanm 2L
wions olews 201 palans | 55910 024007 o
Wy U3 ‘womnasucd | o Guunp Bupoa | - pooy e spue PRSI piezey
020z u papoog1ou 2s0d papooy | poosJo uapuss 43 03 paasizpun | pooy newsagoid
seupeoy Aeg L3N | 3o seupeoy feg LI ousn2sauy | 13san 30 wam 3wy eseam
Wi
warsts Bupanouns | a4 jo KpedeouneipAy
02 P 3l piew Buunpo
s DS | oy Bopudiow puewp | LN s uosase
Bussopauiuinons | weansdn Suncudun | pup ‘moos woans uoneiBu ysew
opedueans Aemeus 2 | “onpng suauipas. s weansin
40 pue suompuo) | n>pesuy Kgeisap e ewmoq mole o1 Bursson
e papad | panade se Bunsnipe 40 pnasuox
ouaseasmul | s jpuew papnasoy z uorpuisas | pue uomuisas
Tesiammsones | Tstonesafueepn | >onoabun o EpneApeurs | epnBunse
ssuei ppui3n | owewend e ian | wowuauneg | puepszsspinsvew | snswu
Forson
0 j059p1s 2pis weansin
1300 03U | 1U0 PO AR 133 ooy
saadsauueniss | weouswy vonasuo) | Aog Aqpauusa
o pRi01523 iy “sod Ammepewn | 10u2i0 5o aessegwseBio | sl uepisas pue
siofesedwowedio | weansandenmowny | fpeucaiewy | onenty on, sepawes | snowosperp oy
Snenbe seua uoddns | Aqpamde>usyauenssy | JouoaniBu | 5131 Aununuod wauipss | 335 xa s ssessed
o3sanunuo) | -pasoisas iy 1 Bessed woansin Sney30us30p pue | wsueRio dnende
Suowion ‘13w | wseBioonenby 13w | Aoy 3 uung | patpsad icid waum aicis21 g
Swopeesg0 | suonenesqo | suonenssqo | suenenssqo SuoEA=s0 Gondsa
wereg werey werey werey sepwesed pizpueis uontpuod aujases pue eoo.
cooz-swo | zoe-wwesn | teoz-gwesn | ozoe-ziesa 6102 -7 5034 ey | 610z wopeicisayaid | uoeioisay

‘panpups aoupusIofiad ays Bunaaw piomo) snols pup siayewipiod Buoyuow oubuifiad fo Aiowwns :p 2jgoL







the contingency funds are only disbursed if needed. MNRCP recommends including some
contingency funding in the budget.

Please note that the deadline for submitting your Full Proposal is 5:00PM on September 8, 2022.
Full Proposals may be submitted via email to me or to maineresources@tnc.org.

Please let me know if you have any questions or if any further clarification would be helpful.

Thank you again for your interest in MNRCP. We look forward to learning more about your proposed
project.

Sincerely,

--Bryan

Bryan Emerson

Mitigation Program Manager

The Nature Conservancy in Maine
14 Maine Street, Suite 401
Brunswick, ME 04011
bryan.emerson@tnc.or

Cell: (207) 317-1699


mailto:maineresources@tnc.org
mailto:bryan.emerson@tnc.org

Flycatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Attachment 2 - Project Location Map



-MINUTE QUADRANGLE BOUNDARY

USGS 7.5

nicipal

U

4

< N

Auburn:
W Lewiston

I PROJECT LOCATION (180 STATION ROAD)

LEGEND

1 BASEMAP IMAGERY FROM USGS 7.5' QUADRANGLE SERIES.

ﬂ TOWN BOUNDARY

3,000

1,500

Feet

1

=1,500"
1:18,000
CITY OF AUBURN
PROPOSED WETLAND RESTORATION

ANDROSCOGGIN COUNTY, MAINE

TITLE:

PROJECT LOCATION MAP

PP

FIGURE 1

ywuburn

e

.gov

D. KENWORTHY |PROJNO.:
J. HUTCHINSON

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

JUNE
2022

FlyCatcher

gl_Topo_11x17L.mxd

Auburn_WetlandRestoration_Fi

N PROJECT:

\OA R

pxwZTXTT 0do] T84 uonelolsaypuelspy- uingny\uingny\sioaloid\iayaieddj4\:q yled
(WLTX,TT)E ISNV :LNOAVT - NINVI AQ NV 62:02:80 ‘220T/67/9 :91eQ10|d

0 :uonejoy dejp
(SN 1004) 1994 ZOBT SdId 1S9M dUIBA BUB|d1eIS £86T AVN :WBISAS 918UIPIO0D



Flycatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Attachment 3 - Photographs



Flycatcher

LAND + SCIENCE + PEOPLE

Photo 1: Upstream from top of left bank
Flycatcher June 15, 2022

Photo 2: Downstream form top of left bank
Flycatcher June 15, 2022



52

- 'H'-‘“Iﬂ—'_—--::

Py UORES

180 STATION RD

Current Tex Year

ParcellD
OwnerType

AccountNumber
ParcellD
Location
Ownerl

Owner2

Owner3

BillincAddress
Zoom to

2020/2021 - As of April
1,2021

095-003

Industrial
55

382

389

180 Station Rd
FARRELL MICHAEL A

145 EASTMAN LN




1D
Accounthumber

ParcellD

180 Station Rd
FARRELL MICHAEL A

145 EASTMAN LN




City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  August 15, 2022
Author: Jonathan P. LaBonte, Transportation Systems Director

Subject: Transportation Safety Initiatives

Information:
As part of the evaluation and analysis of the city’s transportation efforts, specific near-term opportunities to

pursue improved safety for residents and those traveling in and through the community have been identified.

For context, the 2010 and 2021 Comprehensive Plans both included the same language to open the vision
statement for Auburn’s transportation infrastructure. They state that “Auburn’s transportation network of
roads, sidewalks, and bike lanes along with rail, air, and mass transit systems provide all users with safe and
equitable movement throughout the community and beyond.”

The 2019 Strategic Plan includes a focus on safety in the community with vision that states “Auburn will be a
community that balances urban & rural living, with safe, sustainable, livable neighborhoods that are well-

’

connected...” Arecommendation of that plan is to “Address identified public service and infrastructure needs.’

The following intersections/road segments will be highlighted during the workshop, except for Washington
Street, which will be discussed during Presentations during the City Council meeting.

Pedestrian Safety:
Gamage Avenue, Union Street, Court Street (connections to Edward Little), Turner Street between Court Street

and Great Falls Plaza and at Dennison Street

Highway Safety:
Poland Rd and Rodman Rd (intersection), Minot Ave (segment from Hatch Rd to Hotel Rd), Center St (Union St
to Stetson Rd)and Washington St (East Hardscrabble and Beech Hill/Danville Corner)

City Budgetary Impacts: N/A

Staff Recommended Action: Council Resolve in Support of Center Street Safety Action Plan Grant Application

Previous Meetings and History:

City Manager Comments:

Llitepo Cravett ]

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments:

Page 1 of 1



IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 281

Mayor Levesque called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. in the Council Chambers of Auburn
Hall and led the assembly in the salute to the flag. All Councilors were present.

Pledge of Allegiance

L.

II.

L

Iv.

Consent Items - All items with an asterisk (*) are considered routine and will be enacted
by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Council
member or a citizen so requests, in which event, the item will be removed from the
Consent Agenda and considered in its normal sequence on the agenda

Order 106-08012022*
Confirming Chief Moen’s appointment of Ryan Jones as Constable with firearm/arrest

powers for the Auburn Police Department.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Walker for passage.
Passage 7-0.
Minutes

July 11, 2022, Special Council Meeting

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples to approve
the minutes of the July 11, 2022, Special Council Meeting.

Passage 7-0.
July 18, 2022, Regular Council Meeting

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples to approve
the minutes of the July 18, 2022, Regular Council meeting.

Passage 7-0.

Communications, Presentations and Recognitions

o Communication from Petitioner’s Committee for the repeal of Ordinance 08-
03072022
e Council Communications (about and to the community)

Manager Crowell reported that there will be a virtual meeting at 6:00 pm on August 8,
2022 with the Assessing Department regarding valuation changes. The public can go to
our website for access information. He also announced that tomorrow night is National
Night out from 5:30 pm until dusk at Festival Plaza.

Open Session —

Page 1 of 6



IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 282

Angela Dow, Auburn resident and employee of Auburn Public Works Department,
expressed her concerns with the MSEA union negotiations that are underway.

V. Unfinished Business

1. Order 83-06062022
Allocating $300,000.00 of ARPA Funding to create a two-year pilot program called

“Project Support You — Auburn”.

Motion was made by Councilor Gerry and seconded by Councilor Whiting for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 6-1 (Councilor Milks opposed).

2. Ordinance 16-06062022
Approving the zoning amendment for 278 Poland Road. Second reading.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Walker for passage.

Public comment —

Timothy Allen, 194 Pride Road, thanked Council for reading the correspondence that he
submitted. He stated that he met with some of his neighbors, and they were surprised to
see the updated plans which appeared to be different from what was discussed at the last
meeting. He said that they do not think that Hammond Lumber is making a good faith
effort and doesn’t think they can trust them to do what they say they will do.

Carol Lane, Arbania Street, commented that this lot is a nice residential lot, and there is
no reason to turn this into an industrial lot. She said that she does not want to see this
changed to industrial.

Failed 1-6 (Councilors Hawes, Milks, Morin, Staples, Gerry, and Whiting opposed). A
roll call vote was taken.

3. Ordinance 18-07182022
Extending the moratorium on public safety, detention, and correctional facilities. Second

reading.

Motion was made by Councilor Hawes and seconded by Councilor Walker for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 5-2 (Councilors Gerry and Staples opposed). A roll call vote was taken.

4. Ordinance 19-07182022
Creating a new Formed Base Code District Traditional Neighborhood Development

District (T-4.2B). Second reading.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Morin for passage.

Page2 of 6



IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 283

VI.

Public comment — No one from the public spoke.
Failed 0-7. A roll call vote was taken.

Motion was made by Councilor Morin and seconded by Councilor Walker to suspend the
rules to add an item to the agenda.

Passage 5-2 (Councilors Gerry and Whiting opposed).

Motion was made by Councilor Morin and seconded by Councilor Staples on the
following:

Order 121-08012022, Ordered, that the City Council hereby refers for consideration,
conduct a public hearing, and recommendation, a zoning text and map amendment to
create and apply a new T-4.2B zoning district to the Court Street area (1,687.41 acres) to
the Planning Board at its September 13, 2022 meeting.

Public comment — No one from the public spoke.
Passage 5-2 (Councilors Gerry and Whiting opposed). A roll call vote was taken.

New Business

Order 109-08012022
Approving the liquor license for Make Dough, LLC., DBA Otto, Auburn located at 730

Center Street. Public hearing and vote.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Gerry for passage.
Public hearing — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 7-0.

Order 110-08012022
Adopting the Auburn-Lewiston Consortium HOME-ARP Plan. Public hearing and vote.

Motion was made by Councilor Gerry and seconded by Councilor Whiting for passage.
Public hearing - No one from the public spoke.
Passage 7-0.

Order 111-08012022
Approving the proposed technical revision to the Tambrands II Municipal Development

Tax Increment Financing Development (TTF) program. Public hearing and vote.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Whiting for passage.
Public hearing — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 7-0.

Order 112-08012022

Page 3 of 6



IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 284

Allocating $1,600,000.00 of American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds for the upgrades
and/or replacements of HVAC systems in our city-owned facilities.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Hawes for passage.
Public comment- No one from the public spoke.

Motion was made by Councilor Milks and seconded by Councilor Walker to postpone
this item for three months.

Passage 6-1 (Councilor Whiting opposed).

Referred Ordinance 11-03212022
Repealing Ordinance 11-03212022 amending the zoning district Court Street/City Core

of Urban Residential Area; 1,687.41 acres of Urban Residential to Traditional
Neighborhood Development District Areas (T-4.2) that was adopted on 3/28/2022.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Morin for passage.

Public comment — John Cleveland, 183 Davis Avenue, commented on the current city
charter that was adopted in 2005.

Ryan Smith, 14 Weaver Street, provided a legal letter from Kristin M. Collins of Preti
Flaherty, and he read a portion of the letter. He said he would like to see this go before
the voters and does not want to see T-4.2B to go before the planning board again.

Jeffrey Harmon, 34 Vista Drive, stated that this is the first time that a citizen referendum
has come before the City Council and has been signed by 2,400 Auburn residents. He
said repealing this Ordinance to push through T-4.2B is an insult to the people that signed
the petition.

Dennis Bergeron, Ward 2 resident, doesn’t think this has been much of a process, there
hasn’t been due public process and the people feel that the City Council isn’t listening to
them. Residents are upset over what the council is doing.

Steven Beal, Shepherd Street, questions why refer T4.2b to the Planning Board, when it
is similar to this T-4.2.

Pam Rousseau, West Auburn Road listened to the Planning Board meeting twice, and
found no substantial difference between T-4.2 and T-4.2B adding that the Council isn’t
listening.

Bob Hayes, 172 Allen Avenue, commented on the Strategic Plan, neighborhoods, and
read sections from the Strategic Plan adding that he would like to get the neighborhoods
involved in the process.

Passage 4-3 (Councilors Staples, Gerry, and Whiting, opposed). A roll call vote was
taken.

Order 113-08012022

Page 4 of 6



10.

IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 285

Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 86 Western Avenue. Parcel
ID 230-026.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 7-0.

Order 114-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 192 Winter Street. Parcel ID

260-022.
Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Whiting for passage.

Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Morin to amend by
correcting the street number on the Order from 129 to 192. Passage 7-0.

Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 7-0.

Order 115-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 104 Newbury Street. Parcel

ID 221-067.
Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Milks for passage.

Due to an error on the street number in the Council packet, a motion was made by
Councilor Whiting and seconded by Councilor Morin to postpone within 30-day period in
order to make the necessary corrections.

Passage 7-0.

Order 116-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 103 Newbury Street. Parcel

ID 221-058.
Motion was made by Councilor Staples and seconded by Councilor Milks for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Due to an error on the street number in the Council packet, a motion was made by
Councilor Hawes and seconded by Councilor Staples to postpone within a 30-day period
to make the necessary corrections.

Passage 7-0.

Order 117-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 369 Main Street. Parcel ID

221-044.

Page 5 of 6



IN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AUGUST 1, 2022, VOL. 36 PAGE 286

11.

12.

13.

VIL

VIIIL.

IX.

VIIIL.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Milks for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.
Passage 7-0.

Order 118-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located at 351 Main Street. Parcel ID

221-048.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples for passage.
Public comment — No one from the public spoke.

Passage 7-0.

Order 119-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property located on Vickery Road. Parcel ID

183-029.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples for passage.
Public comment - No one from the public spoke.
Passage 7-0.

Order 120-08012022
Authorizing the marketing of city owned property, Winter Oak, parcel ID 191-101.

Motion was made by Councilor Walker and seconded by Councilor Staples for passage.
Public comment - No one from the public spoke.
Passage 7-0.

Open Session — No one from the public spoke.

Reports (from sub-committees to Council)

City Manager Crowell announced that he and Assistant City Manager, Brian Wood, will
be attending MTCMA (Maine Town and City Manager) conference next week.

Executive Sessions - None

Adjournment — Motion was made by Councilor Milks and seconded by Councilor
Staples to adjourn. Unanimously approved and the meeting adjourned at 8:11 pm.

A TRUE COPY ATTEST _{Ludot Céz/me’/ki; ')%W JC/VI_‘,{/'

Susan Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk

Page 6 of 6



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM | LAKE AUBURN MODEL

« TO: Eric Cousens, City of Auburn, Maine
2 FROM: Laura Diemer, FB Environmental Associates
g nM
SUBJECT: Memorandum on Modeling 2022 Proposed Ordinance Changes
FB DATE: August 1, 2022
environmental % Forrest Bell & Maggie Kelly, FB Environmental Associates

The City of Auburn requested FB Environmental Associates (FBE) to evaluate proposed ordinance changes for their potential effects
on land use and development in the Lake Auburn watershed and associated impacts to lake water quality. The purpose of this
memorandum is to 1) summarize the proposed ordinance changes that the City of Auburn deliberated in May 2022 and 2) describe
the modeling work that was completed which simulated the impact that the proposed ordinances changes will have on land use
and development in the watershed and subsequent lake water quality.

BACKGROUND

This work follows up on a comprehensive analysis that FBE, along with Horsley Witten Group and Dr. Adam Daigneault of the
University of Maine, conducted for the City of Auburn in 2021. For that analysis and subsequent report, FBE ran a buildout analysis
and a coupled watershed-lake model that estimated phosphorus loading from the watershed to Lake Auburn and subsequent in-
lake water quality conditions. The calibrated baseline watershed-lake model was run for several future scenarios that simulated in-
lake water quality conditions under different watershed development conditions. With the calibrated baseline watershed-lake
model, additional future scenarios can be run based on changes to the underlying model inputs and/or assumptions.

PROPOSED REGULATORY CHANGES & MODELING APPROACH

The proposed ordinance changes that FBE were given to consider are in Section 60-952 (the Lake Auburn Watershed District Overlay)
and Section 60-1066 (the Phosphorus Control Ordinance). The ordinance changes with implications for the modeling effort are
described in Table 1.

For carrying out the model run, the first step was to update the buildout analysis to account for the new ordinances. A buildout
analysis uses existing or in this case proposed ordinances, existing natural features, and other development constraints to estimate
the number and location of new buildings possible under the simulated zoning. Once the buildout analysis was complete, the results
were input to the watershed-lake model. FBE started with the “Business As Usual + LID” model scenario and made adjustments to
the new model run to account for the proposed ordinance changes, which included changing the number of projected new buildings
(for Auburn only) and agricultural land area within the 100 ft buffer of surface waters! (refer to Table 1).

! Note for future model runs: with the anticipated decline in existing agricultural land area in the watershed, these agricultural lands were assumed to likely be
replaced by new development; however, there were instances where the anticipated increase in development was less than the anticipated decline in agricultural
lands which were then assumed to lay fallow and regenerate into forest. Overall, the new model run estimated up to 39 acres of regenerated forest by 2100. It may
be more practical to convert these agricultural lands to open land rather than forest in the model unless the agricultural lands are managed and protected as
forested land. Open land has a slightly higher phosphorus export compared to forested land, so this change in assumption would minorly increase the total
phosphorus load estimate.

FB Environmental Associates 1



Table 1. Summary of existing ordinances and their proposed changes, along with a description of the modeling approach to account for these proposed ordinance changes.

acre lots where previously the minimum lot size was one acre.

Category Existing Ordinance Proposed Ordinance Model: Modeling Approach
Agricultural | In Section 60-952 (c), for tilled The proposed ordinance changes the Watershed-Lake Model: FBE found the intersection of agricultural land use and a 100 ft buffer from Lake
Buffer agricultural lands adjoining the lake or | setback to 100 feet. Auburn and its ponds and perennial tributaries (within the City of Auburn) and manually changed any
Strips its perennial tributary streams, the agriculturally classified land use as open land, assuming that property owners will be required to reforest or
width of untilled agricultural buffer lay fallow tilled fields within 100 ft of those surface waters. FBE identified 0.82 hectares (2.01 acres) and 2.26
strips is 50 feet. hectares (5.58 acres) of agricultural land use within a 50 ft and 100 ft buffer, respectively, from Lake Auburn
and its ponds and perennial tributaries (within the City of Auburn) (Table 2). Note that this desktop analysis
was performed at a coarse scale, and some of these agricultural areas may be outside of the buffer zone if
measured in the field. Converting the 2.26 hectares (5.58 acres) of agricultural land use to open land for
this new model run includes the 0.82 hectares (2.03 acres) of agricultural land within the existing 50 ft
buffer restriction and posed as a minor limitation to directly comparing the results between the model
runs since the “Business As Usual” model scenario considered some agricultural land within the 50 ft
buffer despite existing regulations.
Subsurface | Section 60-952 (f) (1) currently The proposed change allows for siting of Buildout Analysis. Using county-level NRCS soil series data, we updated the development constraints input to
Disposal prohibits the siting of systems where septic systems where there is 12 inches of show areas with restrictive layers within 12" of the surface (compared to 36" originally).
Systems there is less than 36 inches of vertical in-situ vertical separation between the
(Septic separation from the bottom of the bottom of the disposal field and the
Systems) organic horizon and the nearest limiting factor, a standard that is
“limiting factor” (bedrock, seasonal consistent with the State of Maine
water table, occluding layer of clay or Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules 10-
other mineral that would prevent 144 Chapter 241 (a.k.a., Chapter 241). In
drainage). This vertical separation addition, the revised section would allow
must be achieved by previously in-situ | the use of suitable fill materials to achieve
soils or sediments, disallowing the use | atotal of 36 inches of vertical separation,
of fill materials. which is retained from the old rules.
Section 60-952 (f) (2) currently The proposed change prohibits the siting Buildout Analysis: We expanded the target area from 300 to 400 ft around Lake Auburn and its ponds and
prohibits the siting of septic systems of septic systems within 400 feet of the tributaries. FBE roughly matched soil series (from county-level NRCS data) in the watershed to 5, 6, and 11 soil
within 300 feet of the high-water line high-water line where soils are profiled as profiles in Table 4D of Chapter 241. However, the soil profiles in Table 4D are broadly applicable to several soil
where soils are described as deep, gravel outwash or stratified drift as shown | series under different environmental conditions and likely do not reflect true parcel-by-parcel variability in
loose, and sandy containing 70 in Table 4D (profiles 5, 6, and some of 11) septic system siting restrictions. FBE's approach of excluding only those soil series that are definitively not 5,
percent sand. of Chapter 241. 6, and 11 soil profile types is conservative for development potential, showing nearly the entire 400 ft buffer as
restricted from development. Practical field application of the Table 4D rules would likely be less restrictive,
but there is no way of knowing the extent of the difference without field evaluations by a Licensed Site
Evaluator. FBE confirmed this limitation with Daniel Locke, a Professional Geologist and Licensed Site
Evaluator with the Maine Geological Survey. Thus, the buildout analysis results for the new model run
likely underestimated new building potential. There were 23 projected new buildings identified within
the 300 ft buffer under the "Business As Usual" model scenario that the new scenario run using the
Table 4D soil profiles excluded and therefore potentially underestimated development along the
shoreline.
Zoning Approximately 1,038 acres are proposed to be rezoned from Rural Residential to Low- | Buildout Analysis: We rezoned Rural Residential to Low-Density Country Residential in the Auburn portion of
Change Density Country Residential. If carried out, this change will result in minimum three- the watershed so that the minimum lot size increased from 1 to 3 acres.

FB Environmental Associates




Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

Category Existing Ordinance Proposed Ordinance Model: Modeling Approach
Auburn’s Chapter 60 - Zoning, Article No change. Buildout Analysis: We removed new development in the Agriculture and Resource Protection Zone. The
IV. - District Regulations, Division 2 - original "Business As Usual" model scenario showed 74 projected new buildings in the Agriculture and
Agriculture and Resource Protection Resource Protection Zone, which posed as a limitation to directly comparing the results between the
District use regulations provide model runs.
restrictive standards for new
development and are only approved
on a case-by-case basis.
Phosphorus | Section 60-1066 (1) concerns the The proposed change requires any new Watershed-Lake Model: For the broader application of Phosphorus Control Plan requirements on new
Control applicability of the ordinance, with building of 200 square feet of ground floor | development in the watershed, we will want to consider the fact that the change from 575 square feet to 200
Plans any new building or structure of 575 area to develop a Phosphorus Control square feet would largely only extend phosphorus controls to accessory buildings or additions since primary

square feet of ground floor area
requiring the creation of a Phosphorus
Control Plan - essentially a detailed
stormwater management plan that
includes estimated phosphorus
loading calculations.

Plan, making the applicability much
broader.

dwellings are already required to submit a Phosphorus Control Plan. In addition, the “Business As Usual”
model scenario did not account for low impact development (LID) standards that would be implemented as a
result of a Phosphorus Control Plan, so we recommend comparing the new model run results to the “Business
As Usual + LID” model scenario. According to the Phosphorus Control Ordinance, the per-acre phosphorus
allocation for new development in the Lake Auburn watershed is 0.047 lbs. per acre (0.060 lbs. per acre when
including background levels) which would amount to 0.180 lbs. per year on a 3-acre lot. The phosphorus
export for low density residential development assumed in the model is roughly 0.652 lbs. per acre. Applying
LID adjustments (30% less impact area, 70% reduced phosphorus export) lowers the phosphorus export for
low density residential development to roughly 0.121 lbs. per acre which would amount to 0.170 lbs. per year
on a 3-acre lot with 1 acre of developed area and 2 acres of forest land. Despite the model appearing to meet
the allowable phosphorus allocation per built lot, it is important to note that these are rough average
estimates since the model adjusts the phosphorus export from any given parcel of land based on
accumulation and runoff with dry and wet spells. There may be times when the phosphorus export is lower
than the allowable phosphorus allocation and other times when it is higher.

Note: The City of Auburn uses 450-ft-deep “residential strips” to effectively limit the construction of new
roads in rural areas, most especially in the Lake Auburn watershed. Therefore, our assumption that each new
building will slightly increase the amount of roadway in the area may not be applicable at least in the Auburn
portion of the watershed. In addition, most new built lots in the watershed are less than one-half acre of
developed area as opposed to the model assumption of one-acre (which was based on the average existing
developed area per existing building in the watershed). Adjusting these model assumptions should be
considered in a future model run but will likely have a negligible impact to the total phosphorus load and in-
lake total phosphorus concentration.

FB Environmental Associates




Table 2. Agricultural land cover by sub-basin within a 50 ft and 100 ft buffer from Lake Auburn and its ponds and perennial tributaries
(within the City of Auburn).

50 ft Buffer 100 ft Buffer
Basin Name Land Cover Area Area Area Area
(hectares) (Acres) | (hectares) (Acres)
Townsend Brook Cropland 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02
Townsend Brook Hay/Pasture 0.77 1.89 1.94 4,78
West Auburn Rd-Youngs Corner-Gracelawn-Summer St Cropland 0.04 0.10 0.31 0.78
Total 0.82 2.01 2.26 5.58

NEW MODEL RUN RESULTS

Results of the buildout analysis incorporating the 2022 ordinance changes compared to the original baseline buildout analysis are
provided in Tables 3 and 4 and shown in Figures 1-3. The ordinance changes only impacted the Auburn portion of the watershed,
reducing the total buildable area by 955 acres and the number of projected new buildings by 155. However, these results reflect
adjustments made to the buildout assumptions that more accurately apply existing ordinances. For example, new development in
the Agriculture and Resource Protection zone was removed which accounted for 928 acres of buildable area and 74 projected new
buildings. In addition, there were 23 projected new buildings identified within the 300 ft buffer under the original baseline buildout
that the ordinance changes conservatively excluded due to the limitations of using the Table 4D soil profiles. Accounting for these
adjustments, the ordinance changes directly reduced the total buildable area by 27 acres and the number of projected new buildings
by 58. This indicates that the expansion of buildable area with the lifting of the septic system siting restriction (changing from 36” to
12” to limiting factor) was effectively offset by the reduction of buildable area with the rezoning of Rural Residential to Low Density
Country Residential (changing from 1-acre to 3-acre minimum lot size).

Results of the watershed-lake model are provided in Table 5. The new model run reflecting the 2022 ordinance changes and other
adjustments resulted in a predicted total phosphorus load of 937 kg/yr and an in-lake total phosphorus concentration of 9.3 ppb.
Compared to the “Business As Usual + LID” model scenario, the ordinance changes and other adjustments reduced the total
phosphorus load by 6 kg/yr and the in-lake total phosphorus concentration by 0.1 ppb. Although a small change, the reduction
entered a new tier or probability bracket for bloom risk, lowering it slightly from 40% to 30-40% with taste/odor complaints still
possible but slightly less likely and filtration waiver violation remaining a low risk.

To meet the goal of 900 kg/yr total phosphorus load and 9.0 ppb in-lake total phosphorus concentration in the future at full buildout,
additional changes to development strategies that limit total phosphorus export will be needed. While the City of Auburn has taken
valuable action to put phosphorus controls in place on new development, the goal cannot be ultimately met without the cooperation
of headwater towns to implement similar development strategies controlling phosphorus in the watershed.

FB Environmental Associates



Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

Table 3. Amount of total and buildable land by town and zone in the Lake Auburn watershed. Results of the new model run
incorporating the 2022 ordinance changes are compared to the original baseline buildout analysis. Note: the total area for the City
of Auburn’s zones, Low Density Country Residential and Rural Residential, are split between two values to show that Rural
Residential was rezoned to Low Density Country Residential as part of the new model run incorporating the 2022 ordinance changes;
the first value represents conditions under the original baseline buildout, and the second value represents conditions under the 2022
ordinance changes baseline buildout.

Original Baseline Buildout | 2022 Ordinance Changes
Baseline Buildout
Zone Total Area Percent Percent
(acres)* Buildable . Buildable .
Area (Acres) Buildable Area (Acres) Buildable
Area Area
Auburn
Agriculture and Resource Protection 4,501 928 21% 0 0%
General Business 1 0 0% 0 0%
Low Density Country Residential 298 /1,170 56 19% 322 28%
Neighborhood Business 2 0 0% 0 0%
Rural Residential 873/0 292 33% 0 0%
Suburban Residential 371 5 1% 5 1%
Buckfield
General Development | 155 | 154 | 100% | 154 | 100%
Hebron
General Development | 175 | 83 | 47% | 83 | 47%
Minot
Rural District | 843 | a4 | a0% | a4 | 49%
Turner
Commercial 19 11 58% 11 58%
General Residential | 94 59 63% 58 62%
General Residential Il 219 99 45% 99 45%
Rural | 1,252 914 73% 914 73%
Rural Il 634 527 83% 527 83%
Resource Protection 266 38 14% 38 14%
Shoreland Protection 110 30 27% 30 27%
Total 9,811 3,610 37% 2,655 27%

FB Environmental Associates 5



Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

Table 4. Number of existing, projected, and total buildings by town and zone in the Lake Auburn watershed. Results of the new
model run incorporating the 2022 ordinance changes are compared to the original baseline buildout analysis. Note: the number of
existing buildings for the City of Auburn’s zones, Low Density Country Residential and Rural Residential, are split between two values
to show that Rural Residential was rezoned to Low Density Country Residential as part of the new model run incorporating the 2022
ordinance changes; the first value represents conditions under the original baseline buildout, and the second value represents
conditions under the 2022 ordinance changes baseline buildout.

No. Original Baseline Buildout 2022 Ordlnance. Changes Baseline
Zone Existing " - Buildout
Buildings No-. P.r'Oj. ToFaI-No. Percent No.. P-rOJ. To.tal-No. Percent
Buildings | Buildings | Increase | Buildings | Buildings | Increase
Auburn
Agriculture and Resource Protection 77 74 151 96 0 77 0
General Business 2 0 2 0 0 2 0
Low Density Country Residential 47 /265 16 63 34 79 344 30
Rural Residential 218/0 143 361 66 0 0 0
Suburban Residential 75 6 81 8 6 81 8
Buckfield
General Development | 2 | 10 | 108 | 530] 106 | 108 | 5300
Hebron
General Development | 13 | 1 [ 30 | w11 [ 17 | 30 | 13
Minot
Rural District | 49 | 99 [ 148 | 202 | 99 | 18 | 202
Turner
Commercial 6 7 13 117 7 13 117
General Residential | 15 40 55 267 40 55 267
General Residential Il 50 29 79 58 29 79 58
Rural 12 66 311 377 471 310 376 470
Rural Il 14 61 75 436 61 75 436
Resource Protection 21 15 36 71 15 36 71
Shoreland Protection 23 14 37 61 14 37 61
Total 678 938 1616 138 783 1,461 115

2 The original baseline buildout from May 2021 predicted 311 buildings. There were no changes to development constraints in Turner, so this difference is likely due
to small differences in how the buildings were randomly placed by the model.

FB Environmental Associates 6



Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

Table 5. Baseline and select scenario model results for total phosphorus (TP) load (kg/yr) and in-lake TP concentration (ppb), along
with gross estimates for water quality risks related to drinking water and recreation in Lake Auburn. The new model runis highlighted

in gray.

™ ™ ™ Bloom Filtration Filtration Plant
SCENARIO YEAR | TP LOAD (KG/YR) (PPB)- | (PPB) | (PPB) Risk Taste/Odor Waiver Needed?
AVG -MIN | - MAX Violation Risk :
o . . No, ine f
Baseline or "Existing Conditions" 2018 1,114 10.9 9.2 14.4 40% Complaints None o, borderline for
taste/odor
. Likely Few .
Baseline + Alum Treatment 2020 842 8.3 6.6 11.8 10% . Likely None No
Complaints
Baseline + Alum Treatment + Likely
Climate Ch RCP 4.5) + C laint: . .
mate Change ( N 2100 957 9.5 78 | 130 | 40% ompraints Low Risk no, but borderline
Future “Business As Usual Likely for taste/odor
Buildout (No Code Changes)
Baseline + Alum Treatment +
Climate Change (RCP 4.5) + Likely
Future "Business As Usual 2100 943 9.4 77 | 129 | 409 | COmPlaints Low Risk no, but borderline
Buildout (No Code Changes) + Likely
for taste/odor
Low Impact Development
Standards
Baseline + Alum Treatment +
Climate Change (RCP 4.5) + LTty
Future “Business As Usual + 2022 30- Complaints
21 7 b 1. 12. R Low Risk i
Ordinance Changes” Buildout 00 93 93 6 8 40% Possible OWRIS no, but potentially
for taste/odor
(Code Changes) + Low Impact
Development Standards
Lake Auburn W.ater Quality Goal 2100 900 9.0 10- Few' Low No
Recommendation 20% Complaints

FB Environmental Associates



LAKE AUBURN
WATERSHED

Androscoggin, Sagadahoc
and Oxford, ME

MODEL UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT CONSTRAINTS

m Lake Auburn Watershed
O Existing Building

a Town Boundary
& Waterbody

~Nor~— Tributary

(75l Wetland

Road

Agriculture & Resource Zone
D Road: 30 ft Buffer
Cis Turner: Great Ponds 100 ft Setback
“ Auburn Shoreland Zone 250 ft Line
Auburn Shoreland Zone Stream Protection

Auburn Shoreland Zone Resource Protection

- Conserved Land: Commission

7] Conserved Land: Life Estates

[ﬂ Conserved Land: Easements

ﬂ Conserved Land: Auburn Water District
“ Waterbody 75 ft Buffer

Cis Tributary 75 ft Buffer

“ Wetland 75 ft Buffer

Auburn soils within 400 feet of Surface
“ Waters that MAY BE profiles 5,6, or 11in
Chapter 241 Table 4D

“ Auburn Soils <12 inches to Groundwater

Data sources: ME GIS, NHD,
NWI, NRCS, AccessAuburn,

> ESRI Digital Globe

Projection: NAD 1983 UTM
Zone 19N

Created By: FB Environmental
SOGindiEeil Date Created: July 2022

Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

Figure 1. Development constraints in the Lake Auburn watershed for the 2022 ordinance changes baseline buildout analysis.

FB Environmental Associates



LAKE AUBURN
WATERSHED

Androscoggin, Sagadahoc
and Oxford, ME

MODEL UPDATE
BUILDABLE AREA

m Lake Auburn Watershed

Waterbody

~"~~ Tributary

#3 Wetland

Road

u_ Parcel

Auburn

‘: Low Density Country Residential
- Suburban Residential
Buckfield

- General Development

Turner

- Commercial |
- General Residential |
l:] General Residential Il
- Resource Protection
- Rural |

- Rural Il

- Shoreland Protection

Hebron
- General Development
Minot

- Rural

2 ESRI Digital Globe

Zone 19N

ST Date Created: July 2022

" Data sources: ME GIS, NHD,
£ NWI, NRCS, AccessAuburn,

Projection: NAD 1983 UTM

Created By: FB Environmental

Henron

Mot

Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

w

Turrhar

Figure 2. Buildable area in the Lake Auburn watershed for the 2022 ordinance changes baseline buildout analysis.

FB Environmental Associates



Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

LAKE AUBURN
WATERSHED Bucgies

Androscoggin, Sagadahoc
and Oxford, ME

MODEL UPDATE
PROJECTED BUILDINGS

Turner
m Lake Auburn Watershed
O  Existing Building
®  Projected Building
Town Boundary
"\f;; Waterbody

Auburn

Data sources: ME GIS, NHD,

“;])“e NWI, NRCS, AccessAuburn,
T Digital Globe

Projection: NAD 1983 UTM

Zone 19N
Created By: FB Environmental w<¢s 0 0.5 1 2 Miles
ate Created: July 2022 3 R RS B [ (WP TV e

Figure 3. Existing and projected buildings in the Lake Auburn watershed for the 2022 ordinance changes baseline buildout analysis.

FB Environmental Associates 10



Technical Memorandum | Lake Auburn Modeling

FUTURE SCENARIO CONSIDERATIONS

Considering additional nutrient attenuation by improved septic systems in the watershed. The City of Auburn will be requiring
the use of diversion ditches and curtain drains for all septic system siting conditions. Diversion ditches and curtain drains divert
surface and ground water away from leachfields to optimize the performance of septic systems, including their nutrient reduction
potential (note: conventional septic systems are only designed for pathogen not nutrient removal; any nutrient removal is a
byproduct of the design and is only optimized when an adequate biomat is established and maintained over time; the City of Auburn
could consider requiring the installation of advanced treatment systems that directly target and reduce nutrients in sensitive
environmental areas). The model already assumes that 90% of phosphorus in effluent is treated by an optimally functioning system
and native soil. Additional research would be required to determine the validity of applying an adjustment factor to the phosphorus
attenuation factor assumed for septic systems in the model. Even if an adjustment factor was justified in the literature, the change
would likely be small and within the margin of uncertainty in the model. At the City’s request, FBE could also make all existing and
projected septic systems “new”* in the model to determine the possible improvement to in-lake water quality from upgrading all
septic systems in the Auburn portion of the watershed (note: this would only be for shoreline septic systems; watershed septic
systems are inherent to the land use export coefficients and would require additional research and consideration to tease out).

Including nitrogen modeling for Lake Auburn. The model can also predict nitrogen load and in-lake nitrogen concentrations, but
additional work would be required to calibrate the model for nitrogen.

Strategizing how to achieve the target 900 kg/yr phosphorus load to Lake Auburn. The 2021 modeling effort set a target
phosphorus load of 900 kg/yr for Lake Auburn to maintain good water quality and its filtration waiver. Model simulations for various
circumstances would need to be played out to come up with one or more strategies for achieving the target load.

3 Currently, the shoreline septic system load is a coarse estimate that splits the systems into "old" (>25 yrs) and "new" (<25 yrs) with a difference of 20% attenuation
and 10% attenuation assumed for phosphorus, respectively. New systems are added to the model and split between the two age groups based on a similar ratio as
existing old/new systems. This is because the model is projecting out to the end of the century - a system that is installed today will become "old" in 25 years and
would likely be replaced a few times by the end of the century and alternate between those two age groups. A more nuanced analysis would take more research
and discussion.

FB Environmental Associates



e

o~ City of Auburn, Maine
k

Office of Planning & Permitting

m Q i ne Eric Cousens, Director
.QOV | b

To:  Auburn Planning Board

From: John A. Blais, Deputy Director of Planning & Permitting

Re:  FB Environmental Update on the 1 acre to 3 acre lots in the Lake Auburn Watershed with proposed
Septic system ordinance change.

Date: August 3, 2022

WORKSHOP: FB Environmental update the planning board on findings of lot size analysis and overall
development potential changes.

1) Summarize the proposed ordinance changes that the City of Auburn Planning Board deliberated in May 2022
and 2) Describe the modeling work that was completed which simulated the impact that the proposed
ordinances changes will have on land use and development in the watershed and subsequent lake water quality.

New Model Results

Results of the buildout analysis incorporating the 2022 ordinance changes compared to the original baseline
buildout analysis are provided in Tables 3 and 4 and shown in Figures 1-3 in the attached updated report. The
ordinance changes only impacted the Auburn portion of the watershed, reducing the total buildable area by 955
acres and the number of projected new buildings by 155. However, these results reflect adjustments made to the
buildout assumptions that more accurately apply existing ordinances. For example, new development in the
Agriculture and Resource Protection zone was removed which accounted for 928 acres of buildable area and 74
projected new buildings. In addition, there were 23 projected new buildings identified within the 300 ft buffer
under the original baseline buildout that the ordinance changes conservatively excluded due to the limitations of
using the Table 4D soil profiles. Accounting for these adjustments, the ordinance changes directly reduced the
total buildable area by 27 acres and the number of projected new buildings by 58. This indicates that the
expansion of buildable area with the lifting of the septic system siting restriction (changing from 36” to 12 to
limiting factor) was effectively offset by the reduction of buildable area with the rezoning of Rural Residential
to Low Density Country Residential (changing from I-acre to 3-acre minimum lot size).

Results of the watershed-lake model are provided in Table 5 (pg.7 report). The new model run reflecting the
2022 ordinance changes and other adjustments resulted in a predicted total phosphorus load of 937 kg/yr and an
in-lake total phosphorus concentration of 9.3 ppb. Compared to the “Business as Usual + LID” model scenario,
the ordinance changes and other adjustments reduced the total phosphorus load by 6 kg/yr and the in-lake total
phosphorus concentration by 0.1 ppb. Although a small change, the reduction entered a new tier or probability
bracket for bloom risk, lowering it slightly from 40% to 30-40% with taste/odor complaints still possible but
slightly less likely and filtration waiver violation remaining a low risk. To meet the goal of 900 kg/yr total
phosphorus load and 9.0 ppb in-lake total phosphorus concentration in the future at full buildout, additional
changes to development strategies that limit total phosphorus export will be needed. While the City of Auburn
has taken valuable action to put phosphorus controls in place on new development, the goal cannot be
ultimately met without the cooperation of headwater towns to implement similar development strategies
controlling phosphorus in the watershed.



Results Staff Note: The 937 kg/yr. was based on a buildout analysis of one acre of disturbed area/new
impervious surface. The Low Impact Development (LID) ordinance limits development disturbance area to
15,000 SF and 7,500 SF of impervious area. This approach would limit the development footprint to 22,500 SF
or .52 acres. This would help further the limit phosphorus export with new development.

Requirements for New Single Family Lot Development

Basic SFR Lot Standard

Alternative SFR Lot Standards

Disturbance on an individual lot must be less than
15,000 square feet (including building, driveway,
walkways, lawn area, construction access,
grading). And, no more than 7,500 square feet of
impervious cover is located on the property.

Low Impact Development (LID) practices are used
and sized to treat 0.5 inches of runoff from all
impervious surfaces on the site, and 0.2 inches o
runoff from all disturbed pervious areas of the site
(lawn).*

A minimum natural vegetated buffer must be
maintained downgradient of all developed area on
the lot. This buffer shall be 35 feet deep if naturally
forested or 50 feet deep if maintained as a natural
meadow.”

The LID practices installed on the site are
maintained in perpetuity. If necessary, LID
practices may be replaced with new LID practices
as long as the overall site treatment standard
above is met.

A minimum of 25 percent of the lot area must be
maintained as undisturbed natural area.*

* If the lot or a portion of the lof is located within a watershed of
a Lake Mast at Risk from New Development, an Urban Impaired
Stream, or other impaired or sensitive waterbodies as
designated by the municipality for the pwposes of this standard,
& rinimurn of:

* If the iot or a portion of the lot is located within watersheds of
Lakes Mosf at Risk from New Development or other impaired or
sensitive waterbodies as designated by the municipality for the
purposes of this standard, the project must freat one inch of
runaff from impervious surfaces and 0.4 inch from disturbed

. 50 feet if naturally forested buffer, or 75 feet if maintained pervious sufaces.
as meadow must be maintained downgradient of all
developed area on the lot,

. A minimum of 40% of the lot area musi be maintained as
undisturbed nafural area.

If the existing land has been disturbed by prior activities, a

natural vegetated buffer andsor undisturbed natural area may be

proposed through restoration and revegetation.

Staff Recommendation

Staff suggests a Planning Board hold a public hearing and provide positive feedback to the City Council to
recommend both the zone change and lifting the septic system siting restriction (changing from 36 to 12” to
limiting factor).

1. Change all areas of the Rural Residential zone in the watershed to Low Density Country Residential
(LDCR).

The LDCR Dimensional Standards are as follows

Sec. 60-202. Dimensional requirements.

All structures in this district except as noted shall be subject to the following dimensional regulations:

(1)  Minimum lot area, width and depth. No lot shall be created and/or no building shall be erected on a lot containing less
than three acres and measuring less than 325 feet in width. No lot shall be less than 200 feet in depth. The keeping of
horses, mules, cows, goats, sheep, hogs and similar size animals for domestic use of the residents of the lot is permitted
provided that the land area required per animal unit forms to the definition of farm, livestock contained in section 60-2.

(2) Density. The density of dwelling units shall not exceed an average of one dwelling per three acres.
(3) Yard requirements.

Page 2 of 4



a. Rear. There shall be behind every building a rear yard having a minimum depth of 50 feet or 25 percent of the
average depth of the lot, whichever is less.

b.  Side. There shall be a minimum distance of 15 feet between any building and the side property line plus the side
yard setback shall be increased one foot for every five feet or part thereof increase in street frontage over 50 feet
to a maximum of 25 feet for side yard setback.

c. Front. There shall be in front of every building a front yard having a minimum depth of 50 feet or 25 percent of the
average depth of the lot whichever is less.

(4) Height. The height of all dwelling structures shall be limited to 2% stories or 35 feet in height. Accessory buildings and
structures may have a maximum height of 65 feet from grade, provided that the front yard, rear yard, and each of the
side yards shall be increased by one foot for each foot in height in excess of 35 feet.

(5) Off-street parking. Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the requirements for specific uses as
set forth in article V of this chapter.

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 3.32C; Ord. No. 11-03012021, §§ 10, 11, 3-15-2021)

2. Updating Sec 60-952 (c) and (f) (1-5) for agricultural buffer strip and subsurface wastewater systems in
Division 4- Lake Auburn Watershed; and Sec 60-1066 (1) Phosphorous control for any new building or
structure.

Sec. 60-952 (¢) Agricultural buffer strip. Where land adjoining Lake Auburn or its perennial tributaries
is tilled for agricultural purposes, an untilled buffer strip 56 100 feet wide shall be retained between the
tilled area and the normal high-water mark. This subsection (c) shall not be interpreted as permitting
agricultural tillage in any zoning district in which it is not otherwise permitted.

(f)Private sewage disposal systems. The following regulations shall be adhered to in the development of
private sewage disposal systems in the Lake Auburn Watershed:
H.

(1)Subsurface-abserption Disposal areas shall not be permitted on sites on which_ the-highestseasenal
gfeuﬂdwa%er—é&bl%bedfeek—er—e%her—maﬁemeas—hyer—ls less than_12 1nches to the hmltmg factor

pei—&t—eﬂ—th%sbﬂasuffae%&bseiﬁpﬂeﬂ—afear In addltlon havmg at least 24 1nches of sultable natural s011 or

fill material below the bottom of the disposal field and (the mineral soil surface) to result in a 36-inch
separation between the bottom of the disposal field and the limiting factor.

(2) Within areas containing soils described as deep, teese-and sandy or gravelly and which contain 78
pereent-sand or gravel outwash or stratified drift as shown on table- 4D (profiles 5 or 6 and some 11) of
the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules 10-144 Chapter 241 9-3-efthestate- plumbing
codepart H-(Apri 25:1975), no subsurface absorption area shall be installed closer than 366 400 feet to
the normal high-water mark of any lake, pond, or year-round or intermittent stream. Where the daily
sewage flow is or is reasonably likely to be in excess of 2,000 gallons, the system shall be located at
least 1,000 feet from the normal high-water mark of any lake, pond or year-round or intermittent

stream.

-

(3) All disposal areas, replacement or new shall meet the section 60-952 (F) (1) design criteria. If
replacement systems cannot meet Section 60-952 (F) (1) The local plumbing inspector must evaluate the

Page 3 of 4



design with concurrence from the Auburn Water District to impart as much design criteria to the
replacement system.
L

(4) All private sewage disposal systems shall have a curtain drain installed per section H, 10-144 CMR
34 of the Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules or diversion ditch, upslope of a disposal field,
for its entire length including fill extensions as determined by groundwater conditions by a Licensed Site
Evaluator.

Vi

(5) All private sewage disposal systems shall be installed on the lot of the dwelling unit, unless the
system can be developed outside the watershed or in under special conditions replacement systems may
approve by local plumbing inspector on adjacent lots.

33-(6)The city water district shall have the right to inspect any system within the Lake Auburn
Watershed District during its construction and operation and may notify the health office, police chief,
local plumbing inspector or housing inspector who shall require the abatement of such defects or
malfunctions.

D (7)The local plumbing inspector shall furnish a copy of all site investigation reports in the Lake
Auburn Watershed District to the city water district.

Page 4 of 4



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet
August 15, 2022

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022 Orders: 115-08012022 and 116-08012022
Author: Jay Brenchick, Director of Economic Development

Subject: Sale of City-Owned Properties

Information: The Economic Development department has identified 2 city-owned properties that have the
potential to create economic impact if sold. The Economic Development department will work with the city’s
contracted real estate broker to market the properties and identify potential uses.

City Budgetary Impacts: None

Staff Recommended Action: Approve the orders as presented

Previous Meetings and History: These items were presented at the 8/1/2022 Council meeting and due to
house numbering/parcel ID errors, these items were postponed to allow staff to make the necessary
corrections.

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments: List of properties

Page 1 of 1



City of Auburn
Proposed Sale of City-Owned Properties
City Council Meeting August 15, 2022

Jay Brenchick, Director of Economic Development

Subject: The City of Auburn Economic Development Department seeks approval to
sell the city-owned properties below through the city’s approve bid process. Applicants will be required to share a short narrative
describing what they plan to build as well as the project’s anticipated timeline and completion date.

Address Description
103 Newbury Street Parcel ID: 221-058

115 Newbury Street Parcel ID: 221-055




10

112

LY
T \ %0
el
\
221056
LY ';:' M NEWBURY 5T .l_..
LR kY
221-055
¢ 115 NEWBURY ST “." -.\“
o A 3
. z__1 50
‘-I.. .3
| 602

151+/-

221-051
34 LAUREL AV

221-057

66

-
)

107 NEWBURY 5T

103 Newbury Street
.21 Acres +/-

221-062
T3 NEWBURY 5T

s
o

50 \ .

o
: 21061 O
A \ 93 NEWBURY ST

L 3
221-058 4 255480 v Y
103 NEWBURY ST

> ! '
< \ > 97 NEWBURY ST
o

ol

221059 k3 iy
= 101N
=
o

NEWBURY ST

ParcellD

221-038

LIC 51
1D 4031
¥  Accou 4170
50 ™ ParcellD
' 103 Newbury St e \
Owner AUBURN CITY OF | 3\
O ] .".‘\
Bi 60 COURT 5T ‘\é
Bil X 4
i =
= nasmy 221-066 \
. 4 Zoomto sss  MEWBLRYST \

\

(=20
) I |
| &

\



115 Newbury Street
.16 Acres +/-

e .'r: "% -"..,_1_,""' l\-_ 103 NEWBURY ST i ‘._‘ lL‘|
7 5 e S “\ 50 g 221-059
; I o \ L + 101 NEWBURY ST
/ \ \ ) ‘
3 \ |
{,-' .'s_. \ g
r:- .a-‘J‘" e 5
i S 21057 \ q
P .~ 107 NEWBURY ST \ Y
s \"- 50 ) L\ \ .
g \ m e
m“-.\ NEWEURY ST \ e
N P
e 221052 \ ParcellD 221055 ;
H ;’.}‘w LAOREL AV \ OwnerType k- gl .
/ \ 2054 | oo}
i 5 121 NEWBURY ST Use Land e
/ (p} ,% - Luc 51
I ‘_\ 1D 4028
e - L
./'M \ / AccountNumber 4187 e
= \
Y ParcellD
3 o
A o Location 115 Newbury 5t = ezt 101
+ Owner? AUBURN CITY OF
221053 50 e o Owner2 l“
358 MAIN ST i e Owner3 \
Y 221-067
= BillingAddress 60 COURT 5T \ 104 NEWBLURY 5
" BillingAddress? A
s 20 gl I ~ :
}- it Zoom to
y o \
” e ®
ur e -
o P \ ¥
o " 0 5
o ool \
! : \
L\ |

""" T oe® \ 23“"‘1,.,?\ A \







ORDER 115-08012022

City Council Order

IN CITY COUNCIL

ORDERED, the City of Auburn authorizes the marketing of 115 Newbury Street Parcel ID 221-
055 (city-owned property) by the Economic Development Department.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



ORDER 116-08012022

City Council Order

IN CITY COUNCIL

ORDERED, the City of Auburn authorizes the marketing of 103 Newbury Street Parcel ID 221-
058 (city-owned property) by the Economic Development Department.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022 Order: 49-04042022
Author: Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk

Subject: Proposed Charter Amendments — Public hearing and Council vote to submit to Auburn voters

Information: The Auburn Charter sec. 2.8 states “the city council shall provide for the review of the city’s
charter and ordinances in their entirety at least once every 15 years”. Council recently completed the review of
the City Charter and City Ordinances beginning in October of 2020.

After a review by the City Council, School Committee, and City Attorney, there were five minor amendments
proposed. We are proposing to submit those to the voters at the November 8, 2022 Election.

If Council votes to submit the proposed Charter amendments to the voters of Auburn at the November
8, 2022 Election, and the amendments pass, they would take effect July 1, 2023.

This order was brought forward to the City Council on April 7, 2022 with a recommendation to submit
this to the voters at the June 14, 2022 Election. Council voted to postpone this item to a date no later

than September 19, 2022 to submit it to the voters at the November 8, 2022 General Election because
of higher voter turnout.

30-A, Sec. 2105:
4. Effective date. If a majority of the ballots cast on any question under subsection 1 or 2 favor

acceptance, the new charter, charter revision, charter modification or charter amendment becomes
effective as provided in this subsection, provided the total number of votes cast for and against the
question equals or exceeds 30% of the total votes cast in the municipality at the last gubernatorial
election.

A. Except as provided in subparagraph (1), new charters, charter revisions or charter modifications
adopted by the voters take effect on the first day of the next succeeding municipal year.
(1) New charters, charter revisions or charter modifications take effect immediately for the
purpose of conducting any elections required by the new provisions

B. Charter amendments adopted by the voters take effect on the date determined by the municipal
officers, but not later than the first day of the next municipal year.

The total number of ballots cast in the 2018 gubernatorial election was 9,755, 30% of that would be 2,927.

City Budgetary Impacts: Approximately $2,800 for the cost of printing the ballots.

Page 1 of 2



Staff Recommended Action: Recommend passage

Previous Meetings and History: 10/26/2020, 11/9/2020, 11/30/2020, and 03/21/2022, 4/4/2022.

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments: Public notice, proposed amendments.

Page 2 of 2



Proposed Charter Amendments

Sec. 4.2 Composition and compensation.

The School Committee shall consist of the Mayor, or a City Councilor selected by the Mayor, and
seven (7) other members. Five (5) members shall be elected, one (1) from each ward by and from
its registered voters. Two (2) members shall be elected at-large by and from the City’s registered
voters. Members shall hold office for a term of two (2) years or until their successors are elected
and qualified except that any candidate whose name does not appear on the printed ballot must
receive at least twenty-five (25) valid write-in votes in order to qualify for election to that position.
The School Committee may appoint by rule non-voting student representatives to serve with the
School Committee. Student members will be secondary students and will serve a one (1) year term.

Sec. 4.7. Voting.

A roll call vote shall be taken on the passage of any order or resolve when requested by any
member. Any action by the school committee shall require at least four affirmative votes;

however, in the event of a tie the measure fails. Five-atfirmative-votes-shall-berequired-to-hire-or
fire-the-superintendent-of schools:

Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.

The school committee shall choose a superintendent of schools in accordance with Title 20-A
§1051 .selely-on-the-basis-of executive-and-administrative-qualifieations. The superintendent of
schools need not be a resident of the city at the time of appointment, but shall be a resident of the
city during tenure of office unless otherwise approved by the school committee. The School
Committee may discharge the superintendent before the expiration of the contract term in
accordance with 20-A §1052.

Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.

The city manager shall be administrative head of the city government and shall be responsible to
the city council for the administration of all departments other than the department-ofeducation
School Department.

Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

A. Supplemental appropriations. If during or before the fiscal year the city manager certifies
that there are available for appropriation municipal revenues, including those of the
department-ef-edueation-School Department, in excess of those estimated in the budget, the
city council by resolve may make supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount
of such excess.




MRS Title 30-A, §2105. SUBMISSION TO VOTERS

§2105. Submission to voters

The method of voting at municipal elections, when a question relating to a charter adoption, a
charter revision, a charter modification or a charter amendment is involved, shall be in the manner
prescribed for municipal elections under sections 2528 to 2532, even if the municipality has not
accepted the provisions of section 2528. [PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt.
C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8,
10 (AMD).]

1. Charter revision or adoption. Except as provided in paragraph A, in the case of a charter
revision or a charter adoption, the question to be submitted to the voters shall be in substance as follows:

"Shall the municipality approve the (charter revision) (new charter) recommended by the charter
commission?"

A. If the charter commission, in its final report under section 2103, subsection 5, recommends that
the present charter continue in force with only minor modifications, those modifications may be
submitted to the voters in as many separate questions as the commission finds practicable. The
determination to submit the charter revision in separate questions under this paragraph and the
number and content of these questions must be made by a majority of the charter commission.

(1) If a charter commission decides to submit the charter revision in separate questions under
this paragraph, each question to be submitted to the voters shall be in substance as follows:

"Shall the municipality approve the charter modification recommended by the charter
commission and reprinted (summarized) below?" [PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);
PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);
PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).]

[PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD);
PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD)]

2. Charter amendment. In the case of a charter amendment the question to be submitted to the
voters shall be in substance as follows:

"Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted (summarized) below?"

[PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD);
PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD)]

3. Voter information. Reports shall be made available and summaries prepared and made
available as follows.

A. In the case of a charter revision or charter adoption, at least 2 weeks before the election, the
municipal officers shall:

(1) Have the final report of the charter commission printed;
(2) Make copies of the report available to the voters in the clerk's office; and

(3) Post the report in the same manner that proposed ordinances are posted. [PL 1987, c.
737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL
1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).]

B. In the case of a charter amendment, at least 2 weeks before the election, the municipal officers
shall:

(1) Have the proposed amendment and any summary of the amendment prepared under this
section printed,;

(2) Make copies available to the voters in the clerk's office; and

Generated .
11.18.2021 §2105. Submission to voters | 1



MRS Title 30-A, §2105. SUBMISSION TO VOTERS

(3) Post the amendment and any summary of that amendment in the same manner that proposed
ordinances are posted. [PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106
(NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8,
10 (AMD).]

C. Any summary must fairly describe the content of the proposed amendment and may not contain
information designed to promote or oppose the amendment. [PL 1991, c. 622, Pt. X, §11
(AMD).]

[PL 1991, c. 622, Pt. X, §11 (AMD).]

4. Effective date. If a majority of the ballots cast on any question under subsection 1 or 2 favor
acceptance, the new charter, charter revision, charter modification or charter amendment becomes
effective as provided in this subsection, provided the total number of votes cast for and against the
question equals or exceeds 30% of the total votes cast in the municipality at the last gubernatorial
election.

A. Except as provided in subparagraph (1), new charters, charter revisions or charter modifications
adopted by the voters take effect on the first day of the next succeeding municipal year.

(1) New charters, charter revisions or charter modifications take effect immediately for the
purpose of conducting any elections required by the new provisions. [PL 1987, c. 737, Pt.
A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL 1989, c.
9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).]

B. Charter amendments adopted by the voters take effect on the date determined by the municipal
officers, but not later than the first day of the next municipal year. [PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2
(NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 9, §2
(AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).]
[PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW); PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD);
PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 6 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD). PL 1989,
c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 622, §X11 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include
the following disclaimer in your publication:

All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects
changes made through the First Special Session of the 130th Maine Legislature and is current through October 31, 2021. The text
is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine
Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.

The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our

goal

is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to

preserve the State's copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the
public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.

2|

.. Generated
§2105. Submission to voters 11.18.2021




SPECIMAN BALLOT
CITY OF AUBURN
SPECIAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION

NOVEMBER 8, 2022
INSTRUCTIONS TO VOTERS

TO VOTE, completely fill in the OVALC D to the LEFT of your choice like
this: @ If you make a mistake, you may request a new ballot.

QUESTION 1:
Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted below?
Sec. 4.2 Composition and compensation.

The School Committee shall consist of the Mayor, or a City Councilor selected by the Mayor,
and seven (7) other members. Five (5) members shall be elected, one (1) from each ward by and
from its registered voters. Two (2) members shall be elected at-large by and from the City’s
registered voters. Members shall hold office for a term of two (2) years or until their successors
are elected and qualified except that any candidate whose name does not appear on the printed
ballot must receive at least twenty-five (25) valid write-in votes in order to qualify for election to
that position. The School Committee may appoint by rule non-voting student representatives to
serve with the School Committee. Student members will be secondary students and will serve a
one (1) year term.

O YES
O No

QUESTION 2:

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted below?



Sec. 4.7. Voting.

A roll call vote shall be taken on the passage of any order or resolve when requested by any
member. Any action by the school committee shall require at least four affirmative votes;

however, in the event of a tie the measure fails. Erve-atfirmative-votes-shall-berequired-to-hire-or
fire-the superintendent-of schools—

(O YES
O o

QUESTION 3:

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted below?

Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.

The school committee shall choose a superintendent of schools in accordance with Title 20-A

§1051.selely-on-the-basis-of executive-and-administrative-qualifications. The superintendent of

schools need not be a resident of the city at the time of appointment, but shall be a resident of the
city during tenure of office unless otherwise approved by the school committee. The School
Committee may discharge the superintendent before the expiration of the contract term in
accordance with Title 20-A §1052.

(O YES
O o

QUESTION 4:

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted below?
Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.

The city manager shall be administrative head of the city government and shall be responsible to
the city council for the administration of all departments other than the department-ofeduecation
School Department.

(O YES
O No




QUESTION 5§:

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted below?

Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

A. Supplemental appropriations. If during or before the fiscal year the city manager certifies
that there are available for appropriation municipal revenues, including those of the

department-ef-edueation-School Department, in excess of those estimated in the budget, the
city council by resolve may make supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount
of such excess.

(O YES
O wNo




CITY OF AUBURN
PUBLIC NOTICE
PROPOSED CHARTER AMENDMENTS

Notice is hereby given that the Auburn City Council will hold a public hearing on an Order to
submit the following proposed charter amendments to the voters at the November 8, 2022,
Election. The public hearing will be held on August 15, 2022 at 7:00 pm or as soon thereafter, in
Council Chambers of Auburn Hall located at 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine.

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the proposed charter
amendments in accordance to Title 30-A 82104. All interested parties are invited to attend the
public hearing and will be given an opportunity to be heard at that time.

Proposed Charter Amendments

Sec. 4.2 Composition and compensation.

The School Committee shall consist of the Mayor, or a City Councilor selected by the Mayor,
and seven (7) other members. Five (5) members shall be elected, one (1) from each ward by and
from its registered voters. Two (2) members shall be elected at-large by and from the City’s
registered voters. Members shall hold office for a term of two (2) years or until their successors
are elected and qualified except that any candidate whose name does not appear on the printed
ballot must receive at least twenty-five (25) valid write-in votes in order to qualify for election to
that position. The School Committee may appoint by rule non-voting student representatives to
serve with the School Committee. Student members will be secondary students and will serve a
one (1) year term.

Sec. 4.7. Voting.

A roll call vote shall be taken on the passage of any order or resolve when requested by any
member. Any action by the school committee shall require at least four affirmative votes;

however, in the event of a tie the measure fails. Five-affirmative-votes-shall-berequired-to-hire-of
fire the superintendent of schools.

Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.

The school committee shall choose a superintendent of schools in accordance with Title 20-A
§1051.selely-on-the-basis-ofexecutive-and-administrative-gualifications. The superintendent of
schools need not be a resident of the city at the time of appointment but shall be a resident of the
city during tenure of office unless otherwise approved by the school committee. The School
Committee may discharge the superintendent before the expiration of the contract term in
accordance with Title 20-A 8§1052.

Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.

The city manager shall be administrative head of the city government and shall be responsible to
the city council for the administration of all departments other than the department-of-education
School Department.




Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

A. Supplemental appropriations. If during or before the fiscal year the city manager certifies
that there are available for appropriation municipal revenues, including those of the
departmentof-education-School Department, in excess of those estimated in the budget, the
city council by resolve may make supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount
of such excess.




ORDER 49-04042022

City Council Order

IN CITY COUNCIL

ORDER to submit the proposed Charter Amendments to the voters of Auburn
at the November 8, 2022 Election.

Whereas, the Auburn City Council held several special meetings to conduct a review of the City
Charter section by section in accordance to Sec. 2.8 of Auburn’s Charter; and

Whereas, the School Committee presented their recommended changes to the City Council at a
special meeting held on November 30, 2020; and

Whereas, proposed changes that were voted on by the City Council during the process only
submitted the Proposed Charter Amendments listed below to the City Attorney for legal
review, with proposed additions to the City Charter indicated with an underline, and proposed
deletions from the City Charter indicated with a strikethreugh; and

Now, therefore, be it ordered by the Auburn City Council as follows:

The Auburn City Council finds that the Proposed Charter Amendment in Section 4.2 does not
affect the composition nor voting authority of the School Committee, but is simply designed to
ensure that any student representatives are of sufficient capacity to meaningfully participate in
the School Committee’s work.

The Auburn City Council finds that the Proposed Charter Amendments in Sections 4.7 and 4.9
merely serve to conform the existing Charter language to Maine statutes governing the hiring
and firing of the superintendent of schools.

The Auburn City Council finds that the Proposed Charter Amendments to Sections 6.4 and 8.7
simply promote conformity and consistency in references to the Auburn School Committee
throughout the Charter.

Accordingly, the Auburn City Council concludes that the Proposed Charter Amendments will not
alter the general plans, schemes, or structure of the existing Charter language, will not result in
a profound or fundamental alteration in the essential character or core operations of Auburn’s
municipal government, and therefore constitute amendments to the Auburn City Charter which
are within the purview of the Auburn City Council, as the municipal officers, to propose for
consideration by the voters and that they are not revisions requiring the establishment of a
Charter Commission.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



ORDER 49-04042022

City Council Order

The Auburn City Council therefor orders that the Proposed Charter Amendments be placed on a
ballot and submitted to the voters of Auburn at the November 8, 2022 Election and if passed by
the voters of Auburn, the Charter Amendments would take effect July 1, 2023.

Proposed Charter Amendments

Sec. 4.2 Composition and compensation.

The School Committee shall consist of the Mayor, or a City Councilor selected by the Mayor, and
seven (7) other members. Five (5) members shall be elected, one (1) from each ward by and from
its registered voters. Two (2) members shall be elected at-large by and from the City’s registered
voters. Members shall hold office for a term of two (2) years or until their successors are elected
and qualified except that any candidate whose name does not appear on the printed ballot must
receive at least twenty-five (25) valid write-in votes in order to qualify for election to that
position. The School Committee may appoint by rule non-voting student representatives to serve
with the School Committee. Student members will be secondary students and will serve a one

(1) year term.

Sec. 4.7. Voting.

A roll call vote shall be taken on the passage of any order or resolve when requested by any
member. Any action by the school committee shall require at least four affirmative votes;

however, in the event of a tie the measure fails. Five-affirmative-votesshallberequired-to-hire

Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.

The school committee shall choose a superintendent of schools in accordance with Title 20-A
§1051.selehonthe-basis-of-executiveand-administrative-gualificatiens. The superintendent of
schools need not be a resident of the city at the time of appointment but shall be a resident of
the city during tenure of office unless otherwise approved by the school committee. The School
Committee may discharge the superintendent before the expiration of the contract term in
accordance with Title 20-A §1052.

Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.

The city manager shall be administrative head of the city government and shall be responsible
to the city council for the administration of all departments other than the departmentof
edueation School Department.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



ORDER 49-04042022

City Council Order

Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

A. Supplemental appropriations. If during or before the fiscal year the city manager certifies
that there are available for appropriation municipal revenues, including those of the
department-of-education-School Department, in excess of those estimated in the budget,

the city council by resolve may make supplemental appropriations for the year up to the
amount of such excess.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022 Order: 122-08152022
Author: Alison F. Pepin, Deputy City Clerk

Subject: Approving the Liquor License for Riverwalk Blues & Brews Festival

Information: A Riverwalk Blues & Blues Festival is scheduled for September 10, 2022 from 1:00 PM to 7:00 PM.
The event will be held in the Main Street/Festival Plaza area.

The City is applying for a Liquor License for Incorporated Civic Organization to allow the sale of alcohol in
Festival Plaza within the designated area.

A Public Hearing is not required per MRS Title 28-A Liquor § 1071. INCORPORATED CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS 4.
Application G. Approval by the municipal officers fo the municipality in which the proposed licensed premises
are located, which, notwithstanding section 653, may be granted without notice or a public hearing.

City Budgetary Impacts: N/A

Staff Recommended Action: Passage approving the liquor license

Previous Meetings and History: N/A

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments:
e Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization
e Copy of MRS Title 28-A Liquor § 1071. INCORPORATED CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS
e Order 122-08152022

Page 1 of 1



STATE OF MAINE
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
BUREAU OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AND LOTTERY OPERATIONS
DIVISION OF LIQUOR LICENSING AND ENFORCEMENT

Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization

Section A:  Applicant Information:

1. Legal Name of Applicant:

Civry of Buburn

2. Contact Name for Applicant: Q) AN WA S chw pde s
3. Mailing Address of Primary Office of Applicant?_) (’ 00 /’ LA : \S W&;{L‘
Padbpura . ME D9 D
4. Contact Name Telephone/Mobile Number: 07. R33. Loy S X 20l
Email Address of Contact: bS cChhmnioe S (2_ f)uJb(AXﬁ oy AL . S oV

Section B:  Event Information:

1 Title Event: Q vir Wedle bliyes s L@f ) (-1—3*/1 val

2 Purpose of Event: ‘e(a; Cornveond N_.{‘ nt M% lve i C LOG(J W 7%377‘ 74/\
3 Duration of Event (check one): v One Day d Multiple Days (only 1 permitted per year)

4. Type of Event: (check one) O Indoor [ Outdoor

5 Town or City where Event will take place: F}—M l’) X N

6 Complete Physical Address of Event:

Trstved Plaze , 112 pain Street, gud par+oF
Man Myeess (‘.La; Va0 )
7. Date of Event: ‘7 /0 &09& Tlme From | ﬁm To ‘7 Jﬂ "

Under Maine liguor laws, alcoholic beverages can only be served from 5:00 am to 1:00 am of the next day, Sunday
through Saturday; event times cannot deviate from this statutory requirement.

8. Number of Persons Attending: appf ot. SO-MSO

Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization, Rev. July 2021 Page 1 of 4



9. Describe specific indoor and/or outdoor area to be licensed: (for an outdoor event, please include a
diagram of the outside space in Section F below.)

9 orained w\c\lp

10.  Will dancing be part of the event? Yes O No B/
a. Does the venue have a dance license? Yes [ No
b. If yes, please provide a copy of the license from the State’s Fire Marshall’s Office

Section C:  Signature of Applicant

By signing this application, the licensee understands that false statements made on this application are punishable
by law. Knowingly supplying false information on this application is a Class D Offense under Maine’s Criminal
Code, punishable by confinement of up to one year, or by monetary fine of up to $2,000 or by both.

Please sign and date in blue ink.

Dated:

Signature of Duly Authorized Person

Printed Name of Duly Authorized Person

Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization, Rev. July 2021 Page 2 of 4



Section D:  For use by Municipal Officers and County Commissioners only
Approval of an Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization

The undersigned hereby certifies that we have complied with the process outlined in 28-A M.R.S. §653 and
approve this catering event application on this date:

Check only one: (] City 0 Town [l Unorganized Territory

Name of City/Town/Unorganized Territory:

Who is approving this application? [J Municipal Officers
[J County Commissioners of County

O Please Note: The Municipal Officers or County Commissioners must confirm that the records of
Local Option Votes have been verified that allows this type of license to be issued by the Bureau
for the type of alcohol to be sold for the appropriate days of the week. Please check this box to
indicate this verification was completed.

Signature of Officials Printed Name and Title

Section E:  Application Fee; Other Information

1. The license fee is $50.00 plus a $10.00 filing fee; make checks payable to Treasurer State of Maine.

2. The law requires the application to be submitted at least 24 Hours prior to the function, however, a
longer notice is appreciated to allow additional time for processing.

3. Once issued, this permit is not assignable and is valid only for use by the licensee named in this

application and for the date, time, and location listed in this application. This permit is issued subject
to Maine liquor laws under Title 28-A and the Bureau’s Administrative Rules. Penalties for failure to
comply with the laws and rules are provided in Chapter 33 of Title 28-A.

4. The Division is hereby authorized to obtain and examine all books, records and tax returns pertaining
to the business, for which this liquor license is requested, and also such books, records and returms
during the ycar in which any liquor license is in effect.

5. Payments to the Division by check subject to penalty provided by 28-A MRS Section 3-B.

Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization, Rev. July 2021 Page 3 of 4



Section F:  Diagram for Outdoor Events

The following restrictions apply to outdoor events:
e There must be a stanchion or a fence completely enclosing the area.
¢ Signs must be posted stating “No alcohol beyond this point”.
¢ There must be sufficient employees at the event to control and monitor the area.

In an effort to clearly define the area that consumption and storage of liquor will occur during this outdoor event,
diagrams must be submitted on this form and should be as accurate as possible. Be sure to label the areas of
consumption and storage on your diagram.

Sat osd2ci~ed W\CLIO

For Division Use Only
Date Filed: License No:
Deposit Date:
O Approved O Not Approved Amt, Deposited:
Date Approved: Payment Type:
Approved By:

Application for a License for an Incorporated Civic Organization, Rev. July 2021 Page 4 of 4




x4de’|esausn A QUOII\[BIUID ABguUOdIUBWIdO A IO SIUSWRda ZZ\WH\SIDB0HdSIONG  2e0e/Se/L

1934 0§

¥

Sainjesq anuaA [ |
B3ly paniwLad |0Yodly

SMalg pue
san|g M|emIsAry

1099°€€€°L0¢C
I ‘uangny
19a1}S 314n0) 09

AOD
2UIOWLINONO




§1071. INCORPORATED CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS

-1. Issuance of licenses. The bureau may issue licenses under this section for the sale of spirits, wine
and malt liquor to be consumed on the premises to incorporated civic organizations, as defined in section 2,
subsection 15, paragraph 1.

[ 1997, c. 373, §96 (AMD) .]

2. Up to 5 licensed events per year; one event per license. An incorporated civic organization may
obtain up to 5 licenses under this section per calendar year. Each license authorizes the licensee to sell or
serve liquor at only one public event or public gathering which is sponsored by the licensee.

[ 1987, c. 151, §2 (RPR) .]

3. Length of licenses. One license issued under this section to each incorporated civic organization
is valid for up to 7 consecutive days. The other 4 licenses for which the incorporated civic organization is
eligible are valid for one day each. The bureau may not issue separate licenses under this section to the same
incorporated civic organization for events or gatherings held on consecutive days.

[ 1997, <. 373, §97 (aAMD) .]

4. Application. An incorporated civic organization shall file an application for a license. The

application includes the following:
A. Title and purpose of the event; [1987, c. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).]
B. Date, time and duration; [1987, ¢. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).}
C.Location; [1987, c. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).]

D. Approximate number of persons to be accommodated; [1987, c. 45, Pt. A, §4

(NEW) . ]

E. Name and address of the sponsoring civic organization and the name and title of the officer making

the application; [1987, <. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).]

F. If food is to be served, the name and address of food caterer, if other than the licensee; and [1987,

c. 45, Pt. A, 54 (NEW).]

Generated

MRS Title 28-A: LIQUORS

Chapter 43: LICENSES FOR THE SALE OF LIQUOR TO BE CONSUMED ON THE LICENSED PREMISES

G. Approval by the municipal officers of the municipality in which the proposed licensed premises
are located, which, notwithstanding section 653, may be granted without notice or a public hearing.
[L987, c. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).]

[ 1987, ¢. 45, Pt. A, §4 (NEW) .]

5. Ruling on application. The bureau shall approve or deny the application and immediately notify the
applicant of its decision. The bureau shall advise the applicant that the license may be revoked and suspended

under chapter 33.
[ 1997, c. 373, §98 (AMD) .}

6. Server requirements. A manufacturer licensed by the bureau under section 1355-A, a certificate
of approval holder or a wholesaler who provides malt liquor, wine, fortified wine or spirits for the public
event or gathering being sponsored may serve its product at the event. An incorporated civic organization
issued a license in accordance with this section shall provide the names of persons not licensed under chapters
51, 55 or 59 who will be serving alcoholic beverages at the event. In the event that a server from that list is
unavailable, a licensed manufacturer, distributor, wholesaler, small winery or small brewery that has provided
alcoholic beverages to be served at the event may provide serving assistance.

[ 2015, c¢. 214, §6 (AMD) .]

SECTION HISTORY
1987, c. 45, §A4 (NEW). 1987, c. 151, §2 (AMD) . 1997, c. 373, §8§96-98
(aMD). 2009, c. 102, §1 (aMp). 2011, c. 629, §19 (AaMD) . 2015, c. 214,

§6 (AMD) .

118



ORDER 122-08152022

City Council Order

IN CITY COUNCIL

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the liquor license for the September 10, 2022
Riverwalk Blues & Brews Festival event sponsored by the City of Auburn, to be held in the Main
Street/Festival Plaza area.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



City of Auburn
City Council Information Sheet

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: August 15, 2022 Order: 123-08152022
Author: Alison F. Pepin

Subject: Waiver of Business License Fee — Maine Blues Society

Information: Maine Blues Society, a 501c3 organization, submitted a request for a waiver of the Peddler
License fee of $75.

The Maine Blues Society will be performing at the upcoming Riverwalk Blues & Brews Festival on September
10, 2022. Additionally, they will have a table set up to promote their organization, sell memberships and sell
their Maine Blues Society tee shirts.

Mission Statement: "The intent and purpose of the Maine Blues Society is to encourage, promote and expand
the enjoyment, development, performance and preservation of the Blues as a culture, art form, musical idiom,
profession and a foundation of America's heritage."

City Budgetary Impacts: $75

Staff Recommended Action: Consider waiving the fee

Previous Meetings and History: N/A

City Manager Comments:

| concur with the recommendation. Signature:

Attachments:
e Application
e Request to waive fees
e Order

Page 1 of 1



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE

Police:
Fire:
Code:
Tax
Peddler License Application
Fee $75.00 per event or $100.00 for 30 days
Application date 8/8/22 Planned opening date 9/10/22 Expiration date 9/10/22

ALL QUESTIONS MUST BE ANSWERED IN FULL

BUSINESS APPLICANT
Business name Maine Blues Association Full name  Mary J Crace
Business address P-O- Box 4703 Maiden name A/K/A
City Portland State ME  7jp 04112 Date of birth___ 12/11/54
Mailing address Same Home address__392 Center Rd
City State Zip City Lebanon State _pme  ZIPp__gago7
Business phone Home phone_2n7 351 5707
Cell phone 207.351.5707 Driver’s Lic.# & State_7088167 - ME

Manager’s Name: MJ Crace, Marketing Director

Has applicant(s) ever been convicted of any violation of the law, other than minor traffic violations, of any State

of the United States, within the past 5 years? Yes No X (If yes, complete the following)

Name Date of conviction

Offense Location

Disposition

[Type text] Page 1

60 Court Street e Suite 150 ¢ Auburn, ME 04210
(207) 333-6600 Voice o (207) 333-6601 Automated e (207) 333-6623 Fax
www.auburnmaine.gov




*hkkkkhkhkkikikikkik

Type of merchandise to be sold Memberships & Maine Blues Society Tee Shirts

*kkkhkkkkikkikkikk

THE OMISSION OF FACTS OR ANY MISPRESENTATION OF ANY OF THE
INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION SHALL BE SUFFICIENT GROUNDS
FOR THE REFUSAL OF SUCH LICENSE.

Chapter 14-Business Licenses & Permits-Article 11 Sec.14-34 Certification from City Officials Before a
license is issued the City Clerk shall submit the application for certification to the Code Enforcement Officer,
Fire Chief, Chief of Police and City Treasurer. Please allow at least 3 weeks for this process.

CERTIFICATE OF APPLICANT AND WAIVER OF CONFIDENTIALITY
***READ CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING***
I hereby authorize the release of any criminal history record information to the City Clerk's Office or Licensing

Authority. | understand that this information shall become public record, and | hereby waive any rights of
privacy with respect hereto.

Wary Crace 8/8/22

Sign&fure of Applicant

Date

[Type text] Page 2
60 Court Street e Suite 150 ¢ Auburn, ME 04210
(207) 333-6600 Voice o (207) 333-6601 Automated e (207) 333-6623 Fax
www.auburnmaine.gov




Y
i ] L
MAIRE BLUED SOCHTY
P.0. BOX 4703, PORTLAND, ME 04112
WWW.MAINEBLUESSOCIETY.ORG

August 8, 2022
RE: Fee Waiver Request
Dear City Council Members,

We, the Maine Blues Society (a 501C3 organization) are writing to request that
our “Vendor Fee” be waived for the upcoming Riverwalk Blues & Brews Festival
on September 10, 2022.

We will be promoting our organization to visitors, educating them about
upcoming events and workshops as well as opportunities for involvement in
helping to grow the Blues Music genre in our great State of Maine. In addition to
memberships, we will also be selling our Maine Blues Society tee shirts at our
space.

We are honored to be included in this festival and look forward to representing
our organization to all of your guests (fellow Blues lovers) throughout the event.

Thank you for your consideration,

MU Crace

MJ Crace

Marketing Director
Maine Blues Association
207.351.5707


http://www.mainebluessociety.org/

ORDER 123-08152022

City Council Order

IN CITY COUNCIL

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Clerk to waive the $75 business
license fee (Peddler License) as requested by Maine Blues Society for the Riverwalk Blues and
Brews Festival that is scheduled for September 10, 2022.

Richard Whiting, Ward One Ryan Hawes, Ward Two Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three
Joseph Morin, Ward Four Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five Dana Staples, At Large
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large Jason J. Levesque, Mayor Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager



	0  Agenda 8-15-2022
	1  Info Sheet 8-9-2022
	2  Information Sheet 180Station
	2a  2_Auburn MNRCP memo
	2b  1_180 StationMap - Copy
	3  Info Sheet Transportation Safety UPDATED
	4  Minutes 8-1-2022
	5  1_FBE_Memo_LakeAuburnModel_1Aug2022
	5  1_Staff Report_Lake Auburn Watershed Protection Updates RR to LDCR
	Sec. 60-202. Dimensional requirements.

	6  Info Sheet City Owned Properties 8.1.22
	6a  City-Owned Properties 8.1.22
	6b  Order 115-08012022 City Owned Properties 115 Newbury
	7  Order 116-08012022 City Owned Properties 103 Newbury
	8  Info Sheet Charter Amendments
	8a  Proposed Charter Amendments
	Sec. 4.7. Voting.
	Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.
	Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.
	Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

	8a  title30-Asec2105 (2)
	8b  Sample Ballot Design - Charter Amendments
	Sec. 4.7. Voting.
	Sec. 4.9. Superintendent of schools.
	Sec. 6.4. Powers and duties.
	Sec. 8.7. Amendments after adoption.

	8c  Charter Amendment Public Notice Draft
	8d  Order 49-04042022 CHARTER AMENDMENTS TO VOTERS
	9  Info Sheet Blues & Brews Liquor License
	9a  Application Blues & Brews Fest
	9b  Incorporated Civic Organization Statute
	9c  Order 122-08152022 Blues & Brews Festival
	10  Info sheet License fee waiver Maine Blues Association
	10a  Maine Blues Peddler Application
	10b  MBS Fee Waiver REquest
	10c  Order 123-08152022 License fee waiver Maine Blues



